ALMA MATER STUDIORUM - UNIVERSITÀ DI BOLOGNA

DIPARTIMENTO DI MEDICINA SPECIALISTICA, DIAGNOSTICA E SPERIMENTALE

Dottorato di Ricerca in Oncologia, Ematologia e Patologia Sperimentale

Curriculum Ematologia clinica e sperimentale

Ciclo XXX

Settore concorsuale: 06/D3

Settore scientifico disciplinare: MED/15

Characterization of Philadelphia-negative Chronic Myeloproliferative Neoplasms: identification of novel biomarkers by Next Generation Sequencing and study of interactions between hematopoietic stem cell and the inflammatory cell micro-environment

Dottorando: Margherita Perricone

Coordinatore: Prof. Pier-Luigi Lollini

Tutor: Prof. Giovanni Martinelli

Esame finale anno 2018

ABSTRACT

Myeloproliferative Neoplasms (MPN) are a biologically and clinically heterogeneous group of hematological malignancies, consisting in clonal disorders of the hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell (HSC/PC). Molecular alterations and inflammatory microenvironment represent the two main etiopathogenic factors of MPN.

The overall aim of this study was the molecular characterization of patients diagnosed with Phnegative Chronic MPN and the study of interactions between HSC/PC and the inflammatory cell microenvironment.

We investigated young (< 40 years at diagnosis) patients with ET and early-PMF, and patients with a low (0,1-3%) *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden (AB), demonstrating that the determination of *JAK2*^{V617F} AB is relevant both at diagnosis and during follow up. Indeed, it allows to prove the presence of a clonal hematopoiesis and, also, to predict clinical outcome. Of note, an AB \ge 0,8% always corresponds to an overt MPN phenotype. In this context, coordinating a network of 19 Italian laboratories, we identified the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit as the most sensitive and efficient assay for the quantification of samples with different mutation loads (in particular those with AB \le 1%). With regard to the role of inflammatory microenvironment in the pathogenesis of MF, IL-1 β and TIMP-1 seemed to confer a survival advantage to MF-derived HSPCs, enhancing their proliferation and *in vitro* migration, as well as their clonogenic ability. Finally, in this study we tested three different gene panels for mutations detection, obtaining promising results in terms of coverage analysis (more than 95% of target regions with depth greater than 500X) and identifying gene variants with very low mutation load (<1%) in all patients.

In conclusion, this study set the basis for the standardization of molecular techniques for the determination of $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB, and for the validation of a robust NGS approach to be translated into a diagnostic setting. Moreover, IL-1 β and TIMP-1 emerged as novel promoting factors of the *in vitro* maintenance of MF-derived HSPC, which may be exploited as potential targets of therapy.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	4
Myeloproliferative Neoplasms	5
Molecular pathogenesis of MPNs	8
JAK2 mutations	8
MPL mutations	16
The additional mutations	21
Myelofibrosis: the "malignant" inflammatory microenvironment	26
REFERENCES	28
AIMS	43
RESULT I	45
RESULT II	62
RESULT III	86
RESULT IV	107
RESULT V	143
CONCLUSIONS	157

INTRODUCTION

Myeloproliferative Neoplasms

The first formal classification of chronic myeloid neoplasms is credited to William Dameshek, who in 1951 described the concept of "myeloproliferative disorders (MPD)" by grouping together Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia (CML), Polycythemia Vera (PV), Essential Thrombocythemia (ET), and Primary Myelofibrosis (PMF). In 2001, the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms included the Dameshek-defined MPDs under the broader category of chronic myeloproliferative diseases (CMPDs). Finally, in the revised 2008 WHO classification system, the word "disease" was replaced by "neoplasm" (MPNs). MPNs represent a biologically and clinically heterogeneous group of hematological malignancies. To date, we refer to PV, ET and MF [both primary (PMF) and secondary (post-PV/ET-MF)] with the term "classical" MPNs, which differ from CML for the absence of the transcript *BCR-ABL* (Philadelphia chromosome)¹⁻⁶.

The estimated incidence of PMF ranges from 0.8–2.1 per 100.000/year with a comparable overall incidence between men and women; PV has an incidence ranged from 0.4–2.8 per 100.000/year with a prevalence higher in male than in female (male-to-female ratio, 1.8:1), whereas ET is more prevalent in women than men (male-to-female ratio, 1:2) with an incidence ranged from 0.4–3.4 per 100.000/year. Most patients are diagnosed with MPNs after age 60; however, the diseases can occur at any age. Median age of diagnosis of PMF, ET and PV is 65, 56 and 61 years, respectively⁷⁻¹².

Classical MPNs are clonal disorders of the hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell (HSC/PC) characterized by abnormal proliferation of one or more myeloid lineages, because of hypersensitivity or independence from normal cytokine regulation. This proliferation results in increased numbers of mature erythrocytes (for PV), megakaryocytes (MK)/platelets (for ET), and MK/granulocytes (for PMF) in the peripheral blood. MPNs are associated with a normal maturation but increased numbers of mature blood cells, except in PMF, in which abnormalities in MK differentiation might be responsible for the bone marrow (BM) fibrosis. The BM fibrosis is the hallmark of this disease and is associated with extramedullary hematopoiesis with resultant enlargement of liver and spleen, dysregulated hematopoiesis, and overexpression of inflammatory cytokines accounting for many of the symptoms. They all carry an increased risk of vascular thrombosis and a potential to evolve into life-threatening

marrow dysfunction resembling myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) or acute myeloblastic leukemia (AML)¹³.

The etiopathogenesis of MPNs is multifactorial, and genetic mutations are among crucial factors to be studied. Indeed, their phenotypic diversity is attributed to differences in the specific genetic rearrangements or mutation(s) that underlie the clonal myeloproliferation^{2,14-15}. The molecular pathogenesis of classical MPNs has been enigmatic until 2005, when William Vainchenker et al. described a Janus kinase 2 mutation (JAK2^{V617F}) in MPN. This discovery was followed by a series of additional descriptions of mutations that directly or indirectly activate JAK-STAT signaling: JAK2 exon 12, myeloproliferative leukemia virus oncogene (MPL) and calreticulin (CALR) mutations. The discovery of these, mostly mutually exclusive, "driver" mutations has contributed to revisions of the WHO diagnostic criteria and risk stratification in MPN. However, the panorama of mutations in MPN has become more complex as a result of the emergence of several other mutations, which are usually expressed in a subclone of hematopoietic compartment and affect genes involved in DNA regulation and transcription, as well as some oncogenes; these mutations, which are present both in MDS and in some case of acute leukemia, suggest a hierarchy of mutational events that should be considered for a more complete definition of disease mechanism and, more importantly, in view of a personalized therapeutic approach¹⁶⁻²⁹. MPNs are not thought to be inherited; however, some evidence suggests a genetic predisposition to developing MPN in general. The JAK2 46/1 haplotype has been shown to predispose patients to developing JAK2^{V617F}-positive MPN, and an association has been reported between a single nucleotide polymorphism in the TERT gene and risk of developing an MPN³⁰.

In addition to molecular abnormalities, the inflammatory microenvironment has emerged in the last few years as a key-player in MPNs pathogenesis³¹⁻³². Up-regulated production of proinflammatory cytokines by HSPCs and surrounding stromal cells generates a microenvironment that selects for the malignant clone³³⁻³⁸. This correlates with more severe marrow fibrosis^{39,40}, worsening systemic symptoms⁴¹ and decreased survival⁴². However, the key players linking inflammation and cancer in MF are still to be defined.

Current drug therapy in PV, ET, or MF is neither curative nor capable of prolonging life or preventing disease progression^{43,44}. Accordingly, treatment indications in PV and ET are, primarily, directed at prevention of thrombohemorrhagic complications and, secondarily,

towards alleviation of symptoms, and in PMF mostly at alleviation of symptoms with the possibility of cure limited to patients undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplant (ASCT)⁴⁵. This is, perhaps, because of the clonal complexity of these disorders and the increasing molecular evidence of the need for $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation to cooperate with other genetic aberrations in the initiation and progression of the disease. This clonal complexity needs to be elucidated further in order to recognize clinically relevant candidate therapeutic targets⁴⁶.

Ruxolitinib is a JAK1/2 inhibitor that represents the first and only targeted therapy in MF, in the context of an otherwise orphan disease. Ruxolitinib suppresses clonal myeloproliferation and also the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. It is effective in reducing splenomegaly and constitutional symptoms, but is burdened by on-target haematological toxicity and by increased susceptibility to potentially severe infections. In Phase 3 studies, most patients discontinued therapy due to adverse events or disease progression. Optimal use of the drug is of utmost concern in younger patients suitable for allogeneic stem cell transplantation, in which a delay of transplant in favour of targeted therapy may be detrimental^{47,48}.

The perspectives of chronic inflammation as the driver of mutagenesis in MPNs intend to be a new target for therapy. Indeed, early intervention with interferon-alpha2 and potent anti-inflammatory agents (e.g. JAK1-2 inhibitors, histone deacetylase inhibitors, DNAhypomethylators and statins) may disrupt the self-perpetuating chronic inflammation state and accordingly eliminate a potential trigger of clonal evolution and disease progression⁴⁹.

Molecular pathogenesis of MPNs

The molecular landscape of the chronic MPN is much more complex than was initially assumed on the basis of a relatively large number of studies. Indeed, it encompassed defined *driver* or *phenotypic* mutations (i.e., mutations that are sufficient *per se* to determine the clinic phenotype of these disease), such as mutations in *JAK2, CALR* and *MPL*, which constitute major diagnostic criteria in the 2016 revision of the WHO classification of myeloid neoplasms; and additional mutations, which are usually acquired in variably sized sub-clones of hematopoietic progenitors and which can occur most commonly concurrently with one of the phenotypic mutations.

Overall, most mutant genes in MPN fall in three functional classes: JAK/STAT signaling (mutations in *JAK2*, *CALR*, *MPL*, *CBL*, *LNK*, and rare mutations in *SOCS*), epigenetic gene regulation (*TET2*, *EZH2*, *ASXL1*, *DNMT3A*, *IDH1*) and spliceosome factors (*SF3B1*, *U2AF1* and *SRSF2*)²⁷. Patients with MPN who transform to acute myeloid leukemia (AML) often acquire additional mutations, such as *TP53*, *NPM1*, *FLT3*, *RUNX-1* and several others^{50,51}.

JAK2 mutations

Frequency and distribution in MPN

Although by 1951, William Dameshek had highlighted the common pathogenic and clinical characteristics of PV, ET and PMF, the molecular pathogenesis of these disease remains unknown until 2005. In that year, four different groups described a mutation (c.1849 G>T) in exon 14 of the *Janus kinase 2* (*JAK2*) gene resulting in a valine to phenylalanine amino acid substitution at codon 617 (V617F) of the corresponding protein.

The *JAK2* gene maps to 9p24 and codes for a member of the tyrosine kinase proteins family. With JAK2, three other members of this family (JAK1, JAK3 and TYK2) form functional complexes with the intracellular domain of cytokine receptors of hematopoietic cells to whom are associated, thus allowing to transduce the specific ligand signal. Indeed, binding of the cytokine to the receptor causes receptor dimerization or modifies the three-dimensional structure with the juxtaposition and transactivation of the receptor-associated JAK molecules. Once activated, these phosphorylate tyrosine residues of the receptor, creating "anchor sites" for adapter or effector proteins containing Src-homology-2 (SH2) domains, including one or

more proteins of the seven-membered STAT family (STAT-1, -2, -3, -4, -5a, -5b, and 6). Thus, the JAK/STAT pathway, through the four JAK members and seven STAT members, is the main system of intracellular signaling. The type of STAT dimers that are recruited by activated receptors, as well as the kinetics and the extent of STAT activation, and the possible parallel activation of other signaling pathway (e.g. the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway and phosphatydilinositol-3'-kinase (PI3K) pathway) ensure transduction specificity for individual cytokines. JAK1, JAK2 and TYK2 proteins are expressed ubiquitously, while JAK3 is exclusive to hematopoietic cells. JAK2 has an important role in maintaining stem cell viability and function through transmission of the thrombopoietin (TPO) receptor signal, and is also crucial for the various stage of myeloid differentiation through binding to erythropoietin (EPO), TPO, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), granulocyte-macrofage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukine-3 (IL-3) and interleukine-5 (IL-5) receptors (Figure 1).

The *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation represents the most common molecular feature of the three main types of MPN, being found in 95% of PV, and between 50 and 60% of ET and PMF. Therefore, *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation can be used as a unique molecular marker for distinguishing PV, ET, and MF from reactive hematopoietic disorders. It leads to a "gain of function" of the JAK2 protein, hence, the constitutive tyrosine kinase activation of molecular signaling pathway, providing hematopoietic precursors with their proliferative characteristic.

Figure 2A shows the structure of JAK2 protein. Starting from the N terminus, JAK protein contains four main domains: the FERM domain, through which JAK interacts with the intracellular part of the cytokine receptor, the SH2 domain, through which it interacts with effector proteins, a pseudo-kinase domain (JH2), and a JAK homology 1 carboxy-terminal domain (JH1), with tyrosine-kinase activity. The pseudo-kinase domain, which is most likely inactive, plays a crucial role in regulating JAK2 protein function, as it interacts with JH1 inhibiting its catalytic activity. The majority of *JAK2* mutations described in MPN (Table 1), including V617F, falls within the JH2 domain, activating the enzymatic function of JAK2 by decreasing the capacity of this domain to interact with the tyrosine-kinase domain, resulting in a dysregulation of self-inhibitory capacity⁵² (Figure 2B) and in the cytokine-independent activation of the various membrane receptors in the corresponding hematopoietic MPN clone. This concept was further strengthened by the subsequent identification of various other

mutations (amino acid substitutions, deletions and duplications, predominantly affect exon 12 of the gene), described in PV patients (but not in ET and PMF) V617F- wild type, as well as in congenital forms of MPN. The most frequent of these, present in about 40% of *JAK2*^{V617F} - negative patients with PV, causes an in-frame deletion of six nucleotides between codons 542 and 543 (N542_E543del)⁵³. Finally, mutations causing exon 14 splicing variants are much rare and lead to the production of a truncated JAK2 protein⁵⁴.

The *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation is also infrequently present (3–5 %) in refractory anemia with ringed sideroblasts associated with thrombocytosis (RARS-T), CMML, and other atypical chronic myeloid disorders. Additionally, this mutation is occasionally detected even in patients with primary AML, MDS and CML^{55,56}.

The *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation can be present in a heterozygous state or can progress to homozygosity most frequently by a mitotic recombination event resulting in uniparental disomy (UPD). Given the acquired growth advantage with respect to the rest of MPN clone, the homozygous cells quickly constitute a large portion of the bone marrow neoplastic clone, bringing the allele burden (AB), i.e. the number of mutant alleles, over the 50% threshold. Homozygous *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation is present in about 30% of PV and PMF patients, and in only 2-4% of ET patients. Interestingly, homozygosity leads to greater activation of JAK/STAT pathway by increasing the amount of intracellular mutated JAK2 protein, contributing to the different phenotypes (clinical features) of the three forms of MPN⁵⁷.



Figure 1. JAK2 plays an important role in maintaining stem cell viability and function and myeloid differentiation (Springuel L., Haematologica. 2015 Oct;100(10):1240-53)



Figure 2. (A) Structural domain of the Jak2 protein. *Numbers* indicate amino acid positions within the Jak2 protein. *Arrows* indicate the positions of the most frequently mutated regions. The auto-inhibitory effect of the JH2 domain is indicated in *yellow*. FERM = N-terminal domain; JH1 (Kinase (K) domain) and JH2 = Jak homology 1 and 2 domains; SH2 = Src homology 2 domain. **(B) Example of the interactions JAK2 protein with the erythropoietin receptor (EpoR).** The V617F mutation in JH2 domain causes constitutive activation of JAK2.

Table 1. Principal JAK2 mutations in MPNs

	Amino acid substitution	Exon	Protein Domain	Frequency (%)	Ref
PV	V617F	14	JH2	97	17, 19
PV with	V617F, C618R	14	JH2	<1	59
concurrent	V617F, D620E	14	JH2	<1	60
V617F mutation	V617F, L611V	14	JH2	<1	61
	N542_E543del	12	SH2-JH2	40	58
	E543_D544del	12	SH2-JH2	10	62
	F537_K539delinsL	12	SH2-JH2	10	58
	R541_E543delinsK	12	SH2-JH2	10	63
	K539L	12	SH2-JH2	10	64
	H538_K539delinsL	12	SH2-JH2	5	63,64
	I540_E543delinsMK	12	SH2-JH2	5	63
	V536_I546dup	12	SH2-JH2	<1	65
	F537I, K539I	12	SH2-JH2	<1	67
	F537_I546dup10, F547L	12	SH2-JH2	<1	65
V617F NEGATIVE	F537_F547dup	12	SH2-JH2	<1	68
	H538_K539delinsF	12	SH2-JH2	<1	67
	H538_K539delinsl	12	SH2-JH2	<1	69
	K539, L545V	12	SH2-JH2	<1	66
	I540T	12	SH2-JH2	<1	67
	I540_E543delinsKK	12	SH2-JH2	<1	70
	R541K, A542_G543del	12	SH2-JH2	<1	71
	R541_E543delinsK	12	SH2-JH2	<1	72
	D544G	12	SH2-JH2	<1	73
	D544_L545del	12	SH2-JH2	<1	66
	547insL, I540_F547dup8	12	SH2-JH2	<1	74
ET	V617F	14	JH2	50-60	17
ET with	V617F, C618F	14	JH2	<1	59
V617F mutation	V617F, C616C	14	JH2	<1	75
DME	V617F	14	JH2	50-60	17, 19
1 1911	D620E	14	JH2	<1	76
MDS-RARS-T	V617F	14	JH2	50-80	55
CMML	V617F	14	JH2	8	56
AML	V617F	14	JH2	<1	56

Clinical features of JAK2 mutations carriers

In all cases of primary erythrocytosis, i.e., cases that cannot be identified as secondary to acquired diseases (most frequently pulmonary or renal conditions) or, more rarely, congenital diseases (hemoglobinopathies, or alteration of tissue oxygenation protein sensors), the search for mutations in the *JAK2* gene is of fundamental importance for the diagnosis of PV. In fact, virtually 100% of PV patients have the V617F mutation (96%) or one of the more rarely described mutations in *JAK2* exon 12 (3-4%) or exon 14 (really rare) and, consequently, the finding of a clonal *JAK2* mutation has been one of the major criteria for the diagnosis of this pathology since 2008. Mutational analysis of *JAK2* exon 14 (both V617F and more rarely one mutations) is also requiring in the diagnostic process of confirming ET, in patients with thrombocytosis not secondary to other pathological conditions such as inflammatory processes, acute hemorrhage (or, more rarely, chronic blood loss) and iron deficiencies, as well as in the diagnostic confirmation of PMF in cases of leukocytosis (or leukopenia) and/or splenomegaly not attributable to other causes.

Compared to the V617F mutation, mutations of exon 12 (found in no more than 1-2% of all patients with PV), like the even rare ones of exon 14 (1-2% of the total), cause greater ligand-independent activation of the JAK/STAT pathway. Consequently, compared to patients $JAK2^{V617F}$ - mutated, those with exon 12 mutations have significantly higher levels of hemoglobin and lower platelets and leukocytes count at diagnosis⁵⁸. However, there are some evidences that the incidence of thrombotic events, leukemic transformation and survival do not differ significantly between the two subgroup of patients⁷⁷.

The presence of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation in ET and PMF not only has a diagnostic significance, but also appears to have clinical and prognostic relevance. Indeed, ET patients with a *JAK2* mutation are older than those with wild-type *JAK2*, have higher levels of hemoglobin but lower platelet counts and a higher risk of venous thromboembolic events, and also a higher degree of leukocytosis^{78,79}. Finally, although the probability of transformation to MF is similar in ET patients with or without any *JAK2* mutations, the likelihood of progression to PV is 29% in those with the mutation, while it is negligible in the remaining⁸⁰. As in ET patients, PMF patients with the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation tend to be older and have higher white blood cell counts at diagnosis than patients with mutations of *CALR* and *MPL*. Moreover, the overall survival of the latter is significantly better than that of patients

with JAK2^{V617F} mutation. Finally, the probability of thromboembolic events is higher in PMF patients with the JAK2^{V617F} mutation than in PMF patients harboring mutations in CALR or MPL^{79,81}.

The determination of *JAK2*^{V617F} AB might be useful for prognostic evaluation of the disease itself, as demonstrated in a prospective study of 338 patients with PV. Indeed, the AB at diagnosis was found to be correlated with hemoglobin concentration, degree of leukocytosis, spleen size and bone marrow cellularity, while it was inversely correlated with platelet count. Moreover, *JAK2*^{V617F} AB seems to be correlated with risk of progression to PPV-MF, but not with the probability of thrombotic events, evolution to acute leukemia or with reduced overall survival⁸². On the contrary, it appears to be of poor prognostic significance in ET, probably because of the small number of patients with high AB, whereas it is more relevant in PMF. In fact, patients with a lower AB have a higher probability to leukemic progression and a lower probability of survival⁸³.

Finally, *JAK2* mutation might represent a potential target to monitor the effect of therapy. However, the lack of real methodological standardization and the possibility that the mutation is present in a subclone rather than in the whole neoplastic mass and that, therefore, reduction of the AB in response to therapy does not necessarily imply a reduction in tumor mass, have limited the application of this strategy in clinical practice. Two different studies aim to investigate if the mutation burden varies in response to therapy with interferon- α 2a and both showed little encouraging results^{84,85}. On the opposite, in a recent study the role of quantitative analysis of AB in patients treated with Ruxolitinib has been evaluated, registering a significant reduction of it in the context of clinical response, as well as a correlation with the reduction of spleen volume in individual patients⁸⁶.

Nevertheless, to date, the only curative treatment for MF is allogenic stem cell transplantation (ASCT). Determination of *JAK2*^{V617F} AB has been demonstrated to be a useful tool for monitoring effectiveness of the transplant. Studies reported that *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation disappears after ASCT and reappears in the case of ensuring relapse, and the value of this mutation as a minimal residual disease marker to guide donor lymphocyte infusion is well established⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰.

MPL mutations

Frequency and distribution in MPN

The MPL mutation were discovered in 2006 in patients with a diagnosis of Ph negative MPN who were negative for *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation. These studies showed that 1-10% of patients with ET and PMF have a *MPL* mutation. *MPL*-mutated PV patients have been occasionally reported^{91,92}.

The *MPL* gene maps to 1p34 and codes for the TPO receptor, the cytokine that regulates megakaryocytopoiesis and the formation of platelets. The majority of identified *MPL* mutations affect exon 10 of the gene and cause a substitution of the amino acid tryptophan in position 515 (W515L, W515K, W515A, W515R). This amino acidic residue belongs to the RWQFP domain, a group of five amino acid of the juxtamembrane portion of the TPO receptor (MPL), which prevents its spontaneous activation in the absence of ligand. The substitution of tryptophan W515 by another amino acid causes the loss of this inhibitory control mechanism and leads to spontaneous activation of the MPL receptor⁹³. This mutation has been found also in rare cases of RARS-T⁹⁴⁻⁹⁵.

Other *MPL* mutations (e.g., L510P, A506T, W519T, S204P) have been found, but they do not appear to have a pathogenic role^{63,96}. The S505N mutation, initially identified as a germline mutation in hereditary thrombocytosis⁹⁷, has been described some years later as an acquired mutation in rare cases of ET⁹⁸.

Clinical features of mutation carriers

The *MPL* mutation load differs between ET and PMF, with the median AB being lower in ET than in PMF (32,8% vs 59,4%, respectively) or post-ET myelofibrosis (58,2%), while there does not seem to be any differences in AB between PMF and post-ET myelofibrosis. W515L mutations are typically associated with lower AB than W515K and W515A mutations⁹⁹. Patients with a high AB acquire a loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 1p in granulocytes, with transition to homozygosity, which seems to underlie fibrotic evolution in patients with *MPL*-mutated MPN.

The *MPL* mutations are the third most frequent in Ph-negative MPN, after *JAK2*^{V617F} and *CALR* mutations. Screening for *MPL* mutations is therefore indicated in patients with a

suspicion of ET or MF, especially if *JAK2* and *CALR* mutations have already been excluded. MPL mutations are among diagnostic criteria for ET and PMF in the 2016 revision of the WHO classification^{24,29}.

Compared to ET patients with wild-type *MPL*, those with *MPL* mutations have higher platelet counts, lower hemoglobin levels, and less total bone marrow and erythroid cellularity¹⁰⁰. PMF patients with *MPL* mutations are more often female, older, more anemic and have greater transfusion needs compared to patients with wild-type *MPL*. Moreover, they do not show different overall survival and leukemia-free survival compared to patients with *JAK2*-mutated MF¹⁰¹, but they have a shorter survival than *CALR*-mutated patients⁸⁰.

CALR mutations

Frequency and distribution in MPN

Until 2013 approximately one third of cases of ET and PMF did not have a known molecular basis. In 2013 two different research groups, using whole-exome sequencing technique, identified recurrent somatic mutations in *CALR* gene in 20-35% of patients with ET and PMF who were negative for *JAK2* and *MPL* mutations^{21,22}. *CALR* mutations are therefore the second most frequent mutations, after the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation, in Ph-negative MPN. With rare exception, *CALR* and *JAK2* mutations are mutually exclusive^{81,102}. *CALR* mutations do not seem to be present in PV; to date, only two isolated cases of *JAK2*^{V617F}-negative PV with *CALR* mutation have been reported in the whole literature¹⁰³. Additionally, *CALR* mutations have been reported rarely in some forms of MDS, CMML, RARS-T and atypical CML^{21,22}, while no *CALR* mutation have been described in other myeloid/lymphoid malignancies, solid tumors or in healthy controls, indicating a specificity for ET and PMF.

The *CALR* gene maps to 19p13.3-p13.2 and encodes a protein, calreticulin, that is highly conserved from an evolutionary point of view, multi- compartmental and multifunctional protein best known for its role as a Ca²⁺ binding chaperone in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) lumen. Mature CALR protein consists of three structurally and functionally distinct domains: the globular N-terminal domain (residues 1-180) is lectin binding and consists of a signal sequence for targeting to the ER; the middle proline-rich or P-domain (residues 181–290) contains high affinity, low capacity, binding sites for Ca²⁺; the C-terminal domain (residues 291–400) is rich in negatively charged residues and contains a number of high capacity, low-

affinity Ca²⁺ binding sites. The acidic C-terminal domain terminates with the KDEL sequence, maybe involved in in the retrieval of CALR protein from the cis-Golgi back to ER (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Calreticulin structure and exposure. Linear representation of calreticulin domains is shown. The protein contains an N-terminal amino-acid signal sequence (in grey), N-domain, P-domain, C-domain, and a C-terminal KDEL ER retrieval signal. The N- and P-domains of calreticulin are responsible for the chaperone function of the protein. The C-terminal C-domain contains a large number of negatively charged amino acids and is involved in high-capacity Ca²⁺ storage.

From the functional point of view, calreticulin is involved in a large number of intraand extra-cellular processes. Within the lumen of ER, and in concert with other chaperone proteins, CALR plays an essential role in ensuring proper protein and glycoprotein folding. Moreover, calreticulin regulates calcium homeostasis, by acting as a binding and deposit protein. In addition to canonical ER related functions, CALR is reported to be found in the cytosol, nucleus, at the cell surface as well as extracellularly, where it accomplishes multiple functions as a critical mediator of physiological and pathological processes, such as the immune response, proliferation and apoptosis, cell phagocytosis, wound healing, and fibrosis¹⁰⁴.

CALR mutations consist of a wide variety of deletions or insertions in exon 9. To date, more than 60 different *CALR* mutations have been identified and classified according to their effect on DNA sequence: deletions have been designated as type 1 or type 1–like, of which c.1092_1143del, L367fs*46 (a 52-bp deletion) is the most common, and insertions as type 2 or type 2– like, of which c.1154_1155insTTGTC, K385fs*47 (a 5-bp insertion), is the most common. Together, these account for 85% of the *CALR* mutations; type 1 mutations are more common in PMF, whereas type 1 and type 2 occur with similar frequency in ET. Various other infrequent insertions and deletions in exon 9 account for up to 15% of *CALR* mutations.

All CALR mutations have the same consequence: a 1-bp frame- shift, which removes KDEL motif, and leads to the synthesis of a novel C-terminal peptide sequence, characterized by the acquisition of a minimal 36 amino acid stretch in place of 27 amino acids that are lost from the normal sequence. Remarkably, the C-terminus of the mutant protein contains several positively or neutrally charged amino acids whilst the equivalent region of the wildtype protein is largely negatively charged (Figure 4). This causes reduced capacity of calcium binding and subcellular relocation resulting in abnormal proliferation of cell harboring the mutant protein. There is evidence that mutant CALR binds to the TPO receptor inducing phosphorylation of JAK2 and activating downstream signaling, but the mechanism by which it happens is still to be clarify. Through clonal analysis, CALR mutations were shown to occur in a multipotent progenitor capable of both erythroid and myeloid differentiation as well as in hematopoietic stem cells²². Finally, by using hierarchical analysis of individual hematopoietic clones the early acquisition of CALR mutations was demonstrated, consistent with it being an initiating event in the cases characterized^{21,22}. Single nucleotide variants have been reported in rare patients (e.g. E379D and RE398D)²¹, however, whether they are true somatically acquired mutations and what significance they carry remain unclear at present.

Mutation	aa change	Protein	
Type 5	E364G+L367fs*46	AAEKOMKOK DEGGRURRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRUSCREACLOGWTEA-	1
Type 37	E364fs*55	AAEKOMKOK DEDAKRRRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSFARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 6	Q365fs*50	AAEKOMKDKODEERRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 1	L367fs*46	AAEKOMKOK DEEGRTRRMMRTKMRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 3	L367fs*48	AAEKOMKOKODEEGRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 13	L367fs*52	AAEKOMKDKODEEGRORRRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	Type 1-like mutations
Type 38	K368fs*45	AAEKOMKDKODEEORI.RRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACI.QGWTEA-	(stretch II and III
Type 16	K368fs*51	AAEKOMKDKODEECRLORRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	deleted)
Type 4	K368fs*51	AAEKOMKDK DEECRLRRRORTRRMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	and the second se
Type 18	E369fs*44	AAEKOMKDK DEEGRLKRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 8	E369fs*50	AAEKOMKDK DEEGRUKKRORTRRMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 17	E369fs*50	AAEKOMKDKODEECRLKRROWTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 15	K368fs*51	AAEKOMKDKIDEEGRIRRRERTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRFARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-]
Type 39	E371fs*47	AAEKOMKDKIDEEORLKEERTRAMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	1
Type 57	E372fs*48	AAEKOMKOKOBODEEORIKEEEOR TRAMATKMARMARTARKMARKMASPARPATSCREACLOGWTEA~	
Type 54	D373fs*47	AAEKOMKOKODEEORIKEEEERTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 42	D373fs*47	AAEKOMKOKODEEORLKEEEEKTRRMARTKMARMARTRARAKMARAKMASPARPATSCREACLOGWTEA-	Other types
Type 21	D373fs*50	AAEKOMKOKIDEEORIKEEEEA FKRTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	(stretch III deleted)
Type 20	D373fs*51	AAEKOMKOKODEEORLKEEEEGROOTTRAMMATKMARARARARARARARARAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	(aneich in deleted)
Type 22	K374fs*55	AAEKOMKOKODEEORLKEEEEDEAKRRRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 55	K375fs*55	AAEKOMKDKODEEORLKEEEEDKONAKRRRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 40	E371D+K375fs*49	AABKOMKDKODEEORLKEEDEDKRORTRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRMRRMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 28	E378fs*45	AAEKOMKDKODEEORI.KEEEEDKKRKRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	1
Type 9	E381fs*49	AAEKONKOKIDEEORIKEEEEEDKKRKEEEERORIRRAMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	1
Type 51	E383fs*48	AAEKOMKDKODEEORLKEEEEDKKRKEEEEADFCRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRMRRKMRPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 32	K385fs*46	AAEKOMKDKODEEORLKEEEEBDKKRKEEEEAEDORRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 2	K385fs*47	AAEKOMKDKODEEORLKEEEEEDKKRKEEEEAEDNCRRMMRTKMRMRRRRRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	Type 2-like mutations
Type 10	K385fs*47	AAEKOMKDKODEEORIKEEEEEDKKRKEEEEAECMCRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	(stretch I, II and III
Type 33	E386fs*46	AABKOMKDKODEEORLKEEBEDKKRKEEBEAEDKCRRMMRTKMRMRRRRRRRRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	maintained)
Type 34	K385Es*47	AAEKOMKDKUDEEORLKEEEEEDKKRKEEEEAEDTCRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 35	K385fs*47	AAEKOMKDKODEEORIKEEEEEDKKRKEEEEAEDICRRMMRTKMRMRRMRRTRRKMRRKMSPARPRTSCREACLOGWTEA-	
Type 36	E386fs*46	AAEKOMKDKIDEEORI.KEEEEEDKKRKEEEEAED	J
Wild	type sequence	AABKQMKDKQDEEQRLKEEEEEDKKRKEEEEEAEDKEEDEEDKDEDEEDEEDKEEDEEEDVPGQAKDEL-	
		Negatively charged amino acid stretches	

Figure 4. Altered protein reading frame with novel C-terminal associated with CALR mutations.

Clinical features of mutation carriers

The impact of *CALR* mutation burden on clinical features and prognosis is still to be elucidated. The median AB of the two most frequent *CALR* mutations was 32% in ET and 50% in post-ET MF, suggesting that disease evolution could be associated with an increased mutation burden¹⁰⁵. Homozygosity for the *CALR* mutation is a rare event in MPNs, unlike the *JAK2* UPD that is associated with distinct phenotypic traits and more frequent evolution to post-PV/ET-MF. However, similar frequencies of homozygous CALR mutated patients due to acquired 19p UPD were found²¹. Since *CALR* mutations are the second most frequent mutation in MPN after *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation, they have been included among the major diagnostic criteria for ET and PMF in the 2016 revision of WHO classification^{24,29}.

CALR-mutated ET patients are more often male, are younger, have higher platelet counts, lower white blood cell counts and hemoglobin concentrations, and higher level of serum EPO, compared to those with *JAK2* mutations^{80,81}. Despite their marked thrombocytosis, ET patients with *CALR* mutations have a lower risk of thrombotic complications than *JAK2*-mutated ET patients. This may depend on the presence of lower hemoglobin and white blood cells levels but also on reduced leukocyte activation. No differences in terms of risk of disease evolution (both to MF and to leukemia) or overall survival have been found. ET patients with CALR Type 2 mutation or Type 2- like mutations (i.e., CALR mutations that cause a change in amino acid chain similar to that of the type 2 mutation) have a more marked thrombocytosis but a lower risk of thrombosis during follow up, compared to CALR Type 1-mutated ET patients carried CALR Type 1-like mutations are associated with an increased risk of evolution to MF¹⁰⁷.

Patients with CALR-mutated PMF are younger, have higher platelet counts, lower transfusion requirements, and tend to have a more indolent course with anemia, thrombocytopenia and leukocytosis appearing later in the follow-up. The median survival (about 17 years) is longer than that patients with JAK2- and MPL-mutated MF (about 9 years) and patients with triple-negative (TN) PMF (about 2-3 years)^{24,105}. The benefits of CALR mutations in terms of survival are greater for CALR Type 1 and Type 1-like mutations¹⁰⁸.

The additional mutations

Table 2 show the genes most commonly involved in additional mutations in chronic MPN. Approximately 5-30% of patients with chronic MPN have mutations in genes coding epigenetic regulation (*TET2*, *ASXL1*, *IDH1/2*, *EZH2*, *DNMT3A*), in spliceosome genes (*SRSF2*, SF3B1, U2AF1), or in oncogene or tumor suppressor genes (*TP53*, *RUNX1*, *IKZF1*, *NRAS*, *KRAS*)^{28,109}. The order of their acquisition contributes to the clinical phenotype of the disease^{14,110,111} (Figure 5), but, since these mutations are also commonly present in MDS and other myeloid malignancies, including acute leukemia, they do not have a specific diagnostic value. However, they are particularly associated with patients with PMF, characterized by reduced survival or increased risk of leukemic transformation, thereby acquiring a very specific prognostic significance¹¹².

897 patients with PMF have been sequenced in a recent study¹¹², and it was found that the most frequently mutated genes were ASXL1, EZH2, TET2, SRSF2 and IDH1/2. No correlation was found between these genes and a specific clinical phenotype. On the contrary, they correlated with reduced overall survival and increased risk of evolution to acute leukemia. Indeed, the presence of at least one mutated gene among these identifies patients at high molecular risk (HMR). This molecular status is associated with a very poor survival (HR = 2.29, 95%CI, 1.6-3.2) and a high probability of leukemic transformation (HR = 2.96, 95%CI, 1.8-4.7) (Figure 6). Interestingly, mutation burden did not change during follow-up, suggesting that most of the mutations defining HMR status are already present at diagnosis of the disease. For this reason, deep molecular characterization of PMF patients at diagnosis could be of utmost importance to define the prognosis. On the other hand, it could not be excluded the acquisition of additional mutations during follow-up in a subset of patients. Similar results on the impact of the number of mutated genes, including but not limited to the genes that define HMR category, were obtained in a larger study conducted in patients with MPN¹¹³. In PMF, mutations in ASXL1 are those with greatest diagnostic impact. Interestingly, it was found that PMF patients with mutations in ASXL1 without a concurrent CALR mutation had a median survival of 2.3 years compared to 10.4 years for those with a CALR mutation without any additional ASXL1 mutations¹¹⁴ (Figure 7). On the contrary, mutations in splicing genes, such as U2AF1, SRSF2, SF3B1, are rarely associated with CALR mutations, leading to think that it may contribute to better survival of these latter mutations¹¹⁵.

Gene	Function	Mutations site	Mutational frequency (%)			Type of mutation	Clinical correlation	Ref
		Since	PV	ET	PMF			
Signaling								
CBL	JAK2 Signaling	EX 8-9	rare	rare	5-10	LoF	sAML	116
SH2B3		EX 2-4	1-2	-	rare	LoF	sAML	117
Epigenetic								
TET2	DNA methylation	CDS	10-20	5	10-20	LoF	sAML (26%)	116
ASXL1		EX 12	2-5	2-5	15-30	LoF	<os, (19%)<="" <lfs,="" saml="" td=""><td>112</td></os,>	112
EZH2		CDS	1-3	rare	5-10	LoF	<os, <lfs<="" td=""><td>112</td></os,>	112
Splicing								
SRSF2	Spliceosome	EX 1	rare	rare	10-20	LoF	<os, <lfs,<br="">sAML</os,>	112
SF3B1		EX 12-16	rare	rare	5-10	LoF	>OS	118
U2AF1		EX 2-8	rare	rare	5-15	LoF	<os< td=""><td>119</td></os<>	119
Leukemic evolution								
IDH1	Metabolic regulation	EX 4	rare	rare	2-5	Neo- Enzyme	<os, <lfs,<br="">sAML (8%)</os,>	112
IDH2		EX 4	rare	rare	2-5		<os, <lfs,<br="">sAML (18%)</os,>	112
ТР53	Apoptosis, Cell cycling	CDS	rare	rare	rare	LoF	<os, <lfs,<br="">sAML (20%)</os,>	14
DNMT3A	Chromatin modification	EX 7-23	5-10	1-5	5-10	LoF	<os, saml<="" td=""><td>120</td></os,>	120
IKZF1	Transcriptional factors	CDS	-	-	rare	Del	sAML (21%)	121
RUNX1		CDS	-	-	rare	LoF	sAML (37%)	121
NRAS	GTPase, Signaling	CDS	rare	rare	rare	GoF	sAML (7-13%)	121
KRAS		CDS	rare	rare	rare	GoF	sAML (5-10%)	121

Table 2. Genes most commonly involved in addition mutations in chronic MPN.

PV: Polycythemia vera; ET:essential thrombocytemia; PMF:primary myelofibrosis; CDS: complete coding sequence; EX: exon; LoF: Loss of Function; GoF: Gain of Function; >: increase; <: decrease; OS: overall survival; LFS: leukemia free survival; sAML: secondary AML.



Figure 5. Clonal evolution in MPN patients carrying somatic mutations in epigenetic modifier genes. Single erythroid or granulocytic colonies (BFU-Es and CFU-G) grown in methylcellulose were individually picked and analyzed for the presence or absence of JAK2^{V617F} and other somatic mutations. (A) Examples of 3 patients who acquired an ASXL1 mutation before JAK2^{V617F} (left panel), after JAK2^{V617F} (middle panel), or in a clone separate from JAK2^{V617F} (right panel) are shown. Each dot represents a single colony that was genotyped and placed into the corresponding quadrant. (B) Summary of the temporal order of acquisition of mutations in relation to JAK2^{V617F}. Each dot represents 1 patient analyzed as shown in panel A and placed into the corresponding quadrant. Events in ET patients are depicted in yellow, PV patients in red, and PMF patients in brown. (C) Patterns of clonal evolution in 8 MPN patients carrying multiple somatic mutations. Dotted lines denote the time of analysis and the y-axis indicates the percentage of the colonies with or without the corresponding somatic mutations. %VF, JAK2^{V617F} mutant allele burden in purified granulocytes from peripheral blood. Al- though the order of events depicted can be de- duced from the single-clone analysis (dotted line), the exact timing of the acquisition of the individual mutations and the time needed for the clonal expansion remains unknown and is shown only schematically. GRA, granulocytes (Lundberg P. et al, Blood. 2014;123(14):2220-2228).



Figure 6. Overall survival and risk of transformation to leukemia of patients with PMF, stratified according to mutational status for EZH2, ASXL1, SRSF2, IDH1/2 (mutations belonging to HMR category) (*Vannucchi et al, Leukemia 2013*).



Figure 7. Overall survival of patients with PMF, stratified by the presence or absence of *CALR* and *ASXL1* mutations (*Tefferi A et al., Leukemia 2014*).

Clinical features of mutations carriers

A modern and efficient prognostic model (MIPSS, Molecular International Prognostic Score System) has been recently proposed and validated: it integrates mutational information with clinical data, proving to be more efficient in risk prediction and prognostication than "classical" models, based on clinical variables alone (IPSS and Dinamic IPSS, DIPSS). It remains to clarify whether therapeutic choices based on a prognostic stratification achieved by defining the HMR status might actually result in an improvement of patients' management and overall survival Patients currently classified in the low-risk or intermediate-1 category, according to IPSS or DIPSS, but who have one or more mutations in the genes of HMR category, might particularly take advantages from modern MIPSS. Indeed, since the predicted overall survival for these patients would be comparable to that of higher risk IPSS categories, a more aggressive therapeutic approach, such as stem cell transplantation, could be used. Finally, as regards the impact of additional mutations on response to therapy, no differences have been observed in terms of reduction in splenic volume and improvements of symptoms between high- and low-HMR. Additionally, patients belonging to both risk categories and treated with Ruxolitinib have reached longer survival. Similar results were registered in patients with two or fewer mutated genes (including either driver mutations or additional ones) who showed a nine-fold higher probability of a clinical response, in term of reduction of splenomegaly, than in patients with three or more mutations^{122,123}. So that, an extensive molecular profiling of PMF patients may be useful in planning the treatment of patients receiving Ruxolitinib or other JAK inhibitors.

Mutations in most of the genes shown in Table 2, such as *TET2*, *ASXL1*, *IDH1/2*, *TP53*, *SRSF2*, *U2AF1*, *SF3B1*, are present during both the accelerated and the blastic phase of the disease. However the mechanisms through which these mutations contribute to leukemic transformation have to be clarify. More information has been obtained recently about *TP53* mutations¹⁴. In a study conducted in 22 subjects with secondary AML, it was found that *TP53* mutations were already present during the chronic phase in heterozygous state. After loss of the wild-type allele (loss of heterozygosity, LOH), through mitotic recombination or deletion, the hemi- or homozygous *TP53* clone expanded rapidly and patients transformed to AML. Therefore, *TP53* mutations evaluation could be useful in those cases of suspected evolution to AML, while the predictive role of mutations in chronic phase is still unclear.

Myelofibrosis: the "malignant" inflammatory microenvironment

Besides molecular abnormalities, also the inflammatory microenvironment plays a key-role in MF pathogenesis. Chronic inflammation (CI) is mediated by increased proinflammatory cytokines production by both stromal and malignant hematopoietic cells (activated leukocytes and platelets/megakaryocytes) and is an important driver of clonal initiation/evolution³³⁻³⁷ (Figure 8). Consistently, increased serum levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines significantly correlate with worse survival in MF patients.

Experimental evidences suggest that MF stromal cells are primed by the malignant hematopoietic clone, which, in turn, conditions the stroma to create a favourable microenvironment that nurtures and protect the malignant cells. As a consequence, both pathogenic hypothesis and therapeutic attempts should take into account not just the malignant clone but also the activity of the stromal cell microenvironment. Interestingly, chronic inflammation is an important driver of genomic instability and cancer development/progression^{124,125}.

Recent findings showed that the HSC/PC actively sense pro-inflammatory factors¹²⁶. However, the role of crucial factors of the inflammatory microenvironment such as extracellular nucleotides (eNTPs)^{126,127}, selected cytokines (Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)alpha¹²⁸ and Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinases (TIMP)-1¹²⁹⁻¹³¹; or circulating microparticles (MP)¹³²⁻¹³³ in the phenotype/function of the malignant hematopoietic clone of MF has been poorly (TNF-alpha) or never (eNTPs, TIMP-1, and MP) investigated.

Specifically:

- ✓ eNTPs act through specific receptors (P2YR and P2XR) regulating proliferation and migration of malignant CD34+ stem/progenitor cells.
- ✓ TNF-alpha facilitate clonal expansion of $JAK2^{V617F}$ -positive cells.
- ✓ TIMP1, through receptor (CD63) binding, has a role in multiple biological processes, including cell proliferation, survival, inflammation and immune regulation.
- MP are a membrane- derived vesicles derived from various cells, most notably platelets, but also leukocytes, lymphocytes, erythrocytes, and endothelial cells. MP have a role in intercellular communications and systemic inflammation.

The concept of chronic inflammation as a major driver of disease progression in MPNs opens the avenue for clinical trials in which the two most promising agents within MPNs - IFN and Ruxolitinib - are combined and instituted in the early disease stage according to the early intervention concept¹³⁴. The proof of concept and the rationales for this combination therapy have most recently been published¹³⁵: the ability of IFN to induce deep molecular responses with normalization of the bone marrow, even years after cessation of IFN, and the role of inflammation in the initiation and progression of MPNs make the combination of IFN and ruxolitinib one of the most promising new treatment strategies for patients with MPNs^{33,35,36}.



Figure 8. Vicious cycle of inflammation in the biological continuum of ET, PV, and MF. Chronic inflammation is proposed as the trigger and driver of clonal evolution in the biologic continuum from early disease state (ET and PV) to a more progressive disease state (MF). It is possible that combination therapy, using low doses of therapies such as interferon-a, Janus kinase inhibitors, and statins at the early disease state will positively influence the vicious cycle of disease progression. HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; IL, interleukin; MPN, myeloproliferative neoplasms; TNF, tumor necrosis factor (*Hasselbalch HC, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2013; 24: 133–45*).

REFERENCES

- Wadleigh M, Tefferi A. Classification and diagnosis of myeloproliferative neoplasms according to the 2008 World Health Organization criteria. Int J Hematol. 2010 Mar;91(2):174-9.
- 2. Tefferi A, Thiele J, Vardiman JW. The 2008 World Health Organization classification system for myeloproliferative neoplasms: order out of chaos. Cancer. 2009 Sep 1;115(17):3842-7.
- Tefferi A, Vardiman JW. Classification and diagnosis of myeloproliferative neoplasms: the 2008 World Health Organization criteria and point-of-care diagnostic algorithms. Leukemia. 2008; 22:14-22.3.
- Tefferi A. The history of myeloproliferative disorders: before and after Dameshek. Leukemia. 2008; 22:3-13
- 5. Vardiman JW, Harris NL, Brunning RD. The World Health Organization (WHO) classification of the myeloid neoplasms. Blood. 2002 Oct 1;100(7):2292-302. Review.
- Dameshek W. Some speculations on the myeloproliferative syndromes. Blood. 1951 Apr;6(4):372-5.
- Mehta J, Wang H, Iqbal SU, Mesa R. Epidemiology of myeloproliferative neoplasms in the United States. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014 Mar;55(3):595-600.
- 8. Johansson P, Kutti J, Andréasson B, Safai-Kutti S, Vilén L, Wedel H, Ridell B. Trends in the incidence of chronic Philadelphia chromosome negative (Ph-) myeloproliferative disorders in the city of Göteborg, Sweden, during 1983-99. J Intern Med. 2004 Aug;256(2):161-5.
- Mesa RA, Silverstein MN, Jacobsen SJ, Wollan PC, Tefferi A. Population-based incidence and survival figures in essential thrombocythemia and agnogenic myeloid metaplasia: an Olmsted County Study, 1976-1995. Am J Hematol. 1999 May;61(1):10-5.
- 10. Phekoo KJ, Richards MA, Møller H, Schey SA; South Thames Haematology Specialist Committee. The incidence and outcome of myeloid malignancies in 2,112 adult patients in southeast England. Haematologica. 2006 Oct;91(10):1400-4.
- 11. Girodon F, Bonicelli G, Schaeffer C, Mounier M, Carillo S, Lafon I, Carli PM, Janoray I, Ferrant E, Maynadié M. Significant increase in the apparent incidence of essential thrombocythemia related to new WHO diagnostic criteria: a population-based study. Haematologica. 2009 Jun;94(6):865-9.
- 12. Rollison DE, Howlader N, Smith MT, Strom SS, Merritt WD, Ries LA, Edwards BK, List AF. Epidemiology of myelodysplastic syndromes and chronic myeloproliferative disorders in

the United States, 2001-2004, using data from the NAACCR and SEER programs. Blood. 2008 Jul 1;112(1):45-52.

- Mesa RA, Li CY, Ketterling RP, Schroeder GS, Knudson RA, Tefferi A. Leukemic transformation in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia: a single-institution experience with 91 cases. Blood. 2005 Feb 1;105(3):973-7.
- Lundberg P, Karow A, Nienhold R, Looser R, Hao-Shen H, Nissen I, Girsberger S, Lehmann T, Passweg J, Stern M, Beisel C, Kralovics R, Skoda RC. Clonal evolution and clinical correlates of somatic mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2014 Apr 3;123(14):2220-8.
- Mills KI, McMullin MF. Mutational spectrum defines primary and secondary myelofibrosis.
 Haematologica. 2014 Jan;99(1):2-3.
- 16. Kralovics R, Passamonti F, Buser AS, et al. A gain-of-function mutation of JAK2 in myeloproliferative disorders. *N Engl J Med*. 2005;352(17):1779-1790.
- 17. Levine RL, Wadleigh M, Cools J, et al. Activating mutation in the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, and myeloid metaplasia with myelofibrosis. *Cancer Cell*. 2005;7(4):387-397.
- 18. James C, Ugo V, Le Couedic JP, et al. A unique clonal JAK2 mutation leading to constitutive signalling causes polycythaemia vera. *Nature*. 2005;434(7037):1144-1148.
- 19. Baxter EJ, Scott LM, Campbell PJ, et al. Acquired mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. *Lancet*. 2005;365(9464):1054-1061.
- Kralovics R, Teo SS, Li S, et al. Acquisition of the V617F mutation of JAK2 is a late genetic event in a subset of patients with myeloproliferative disorders. *Blood*. 2006;108(4):1377-1380.
- 21. Klampfl T, Gisslinger H, Harutyunyan AS, et al. Somatic Mutations of Calreticulin in Myeloproliferative Neoplasms. *N Engl J Med*. 2013. Dec 19;369(25):2379-90.
- 22. Nangalia J, Massie CE, Baxter EJ, et al. Somatic CALR Mutations in Myeloproliferative Neoplasms with Nonmutated JAK2. *N Engl J Med*. 2013; 369:2391-2405.
- 23. Skoda RC, Duek A, Grisouard J. Pathogenesis of myeloproliferative neoplasms. Exp Hematol. 2015 Aug;43(8):599-608.
- Tefferi A, Thiele J, Vannucchi AM, Barbui T. An overview on CALR and CSF3R mutations and a proposal for revision of WHO diagnostic criteria for myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leukemia 2014; 28:1407–13.

- 25. Pardanani AD, Levine RL, Lasho T, Pikman Y, Mesa RA, Wadleigh M, Steensma DP, Elliott MA, Wolanskyj AP, Hogan WJ, McClure RF, Litzow MR, Gilliland DG, Tefferi A. MPL515 mutations in myeloproliferative and other myeloid disorders: a study of 1182 patients. Blood. 2006 Nov 15;108(10):3472-6.
- 26. Pikman Y, Lee BH, Mercher T, McDowell E, Ebert BL, Gozo M, Cuker A, Wernig G, Moore S, Galinsky I, DeAngelo DJ, Clark JJ, Lee SJ, Golub TR, Wadleigh M, Gilliland DG, Levine RL. MPLW515L is a novel somatic activating mutation in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. PLoS Med. 2006 Jul;3(7):e270.
- 27. Vainchenker W, Delhommeau F, Constantinescu SN, Bernard OA. New mutations and pathogenesis of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood*. 2011;118(7):1723-1735.
- 28. Tenedini E, Bernardis I, Artusi V, et al. Targeted cancer exome sequencing reveals recurrent mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leukemia. 2014 May;28(5):1052-9.
- Barbui T, Thiele J, Gisslinger H, Finazzi G, Vannucchi AM, Tefferi A. The 2016 revision of WHO classification of myeloproliferative neoplasms: Clinical and molecular advances. Blood Rev. 2016 Nov;30(6):453-459.
- 30. Hinds DA, Barnholt KE, Mesa RA, Kiefer AK, Do CB, Eriksson N, Mountain JL, Francke U, Tung JY, Nguyen HM, Zhang H, Gojenola L, Zehnder JL, Gotlib J. Germline variants predispose to both JAK2 V617F clonal hematopoiesis and myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2016 Aug 25;128(8):1121-8.
- 31. Sollazzo D, Forte D, Polverelli N, Romano M, Perricone M, Rossi L, Ottaviani E, Luatti S, Martinelli G, Vianelli N, Cavo M, Palandri F, Catani L. Crucial factors of the inflammatory microenvironment (IL-1β/TNF-α/TIMP-1) promote the maintenance of the malignant hemopoietic clone of myelofibrosis: an in vitro study. Oncotarget. 2016 Jul 12;7(28):43974-43988.
- 32. Geyer HL, Dueck AC, Scherber RM, Mesa RA. Impact of In ammation on Myeloproliferative Neoplasm Symptom Development. Mediators Inflamm. 2015; 2015:284706.
- Hasselbalch HC. The role of cytokines in the initiation and progression of myelofibrosis.
 Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2013; 24: 133–45.
- 34. Migliaccio AR, Martelli F, Verrucci M, Migliaccio G, Vannucchi AM, Ni H, Xu M, Jiang Y, Nakamoto B, Papayannopoulou T, Hoffman R. Altered SDF-1/CXCR4 axis in patients with primary myelofibrosis and in the Gata1 low mouse model of the disease. Exp Hematol. 2008; 36:158–71.

- 35. Hasselbalch HC. Perspectives on chronic inflammation in essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and myelofibrosis: is chronic inflammation a trigger and driver of clonal evolution and development of accelerated atherosclerosis and second cancer? Blood. 2012; 119: 3219–25.
- 36. Hasselbalch HC. Chronic Inflammation as a Promoter of Mutagenesis in Essential Thrombocythemia, Polycythemia Vera and Myelofibrosis. A Human Inflammation Model for Cancer Development. Leuk Res. 2013; 37:214–20.
- 37. Lataillade JJ, Pierre-Louis O, Hasselbalch HC, Uzan G, Jasmin C, Martyré MC, Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC; French INSERM and the European EUMNET Networks on Myelofibrosis. Does primary myelofibrosis involve a defective stem cell niche? From concept to evidence. Blood. 2008; 112:3026–35.
- 38. Fleischman AG. Inflammation as a driver of clonal evolution in Myeloproliferative Neoplasm. Mediators Inflamm. 2015; 2015:606819.
- 39. Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC, Martyré MC. Dual implication of fibrogenic cytokines in the pathogenesis of fibrosis and myeloproliferation in myeloid metaplasia with myelofibrosis. Ann Hematol. 1999; 78:437–44.
- 40. Tefferi A. Myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. N Engl J Med. 2000; 342:1255–65.
- 41. Squires M, Harrison CN, Barosi G, Vannucchi AM, Barbui T, Gisslinger H, Passamonti F, Al-Ali HK, Kiladjian J, Marker MT, Mendelson ET, Stalbovskaya V, Cervantes F et al. The Relationship Between Cytokine Levels and Symptoms in Patients (Pts) With Myelofibrosis (MF) From COMFORT-II, a Phase 3 Study of Ruxolitinib (RUX) Vs Best Available Therapy (BAT). Blood. 2013 122:4070.
- Tefferi A, Vaidya R, Caramazza D, Finke C, Lasho T, Pardanani A. Circulating interleukin (IL) 8, IL-2R, IL-12, and IL-15 levels are independently prognostic in primary myelofibrosis: a comprehensive cytokine pro ling study. J Clin Oncol. 2011; 29:1356–63.
- 43. Tefferi A. Myeloproliferative neoplasms: A decade of discoveries and treatment advances.Am J Hematol. 2016 Jan;91(1):50-8.
- 44. Tefferi A, Pardanani A. Myeloproliferative Neoplasms: A Contemporary Review. JAMA Oncol. 2015 Apr;1(1):97-105.
- 45. Kröger NM, Deeg JH, Olavarria E, Niederwieser D, Bacigalupo A, Barbui T, Rambaldi A, Mesa R, Tefferi A, Griesshammer M, Gupta V, Harrison C, Alchalby H, Vannucchi AM, Cervantes F, Robin M, Ditschkowski M, Fauble V, McLornan D, Ballen K, Popat UR,

Passamonti F, Rondelli D, Barosi G. Indication and management of allogeneic stem cell transplantation in primary myelofibrosis: a consensus process by an EBMT/ELN international working group. Leukemia. 2015 Nov;29(11):2126-33.

- 46. Mughal TI, Vannucchi AM, Soverini S, Bazeos A, Tibes R, Saglio G, Abdel-Wahab O, Pardanani A, Hehlmann R, Barbui T, Van Etten R, Tefferi A, Goldman JM. Current preclinical and clinical advances in the BCR-ABL1-positive and -negative chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms. Haematologica. 2014 May;99(5):797-801.
- 47. Geyer HL, Mesa RA. Therapy for myeloproliferative neoplasms: when, which agent, and how? Blood. 2014 Dec 4;124(24):3529-37.
- 48. Bose P, Verstovsek S. Developmental Therapeutics in Myeloproliferative Neoplasms. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2017 Jul;17S:S43-S52.
- 49. Hasselbalch HC. Chronic inflammation as a promotor of mutagenesis in essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera and myelofibrosis. A human inflammation model for cancer development? Leuk Res. 2013 Feb;37(2):214-20.
- 50. McPherson S, McMullin MF, Mills K. Epigenetics in Myeloproliferative Neoplasms. J Cell Mol Med. 2017 Sep;21(9):1660-1667.
- 51. Abdel-Wahab O, Levine RL. Mutations in epigenetic modifiers in the pathogenesis and therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013 May 2;121(18):3563-72.
- 52. McLornan D, Percy M, McMullin MF. JAK2 V617F: a single mutation in the myeloproliferative group of disorders. Ulster Med J. 2006 May;75(2):112-9.
- 53. Bench AJ, White HE, Foroni L, Godfrey AL, Gerrard G, Akiki S, Awan A, Carter I, Goday-Fernandez A, Langabeer SE, Clench T, Clark J, Evans PA, Grimwade D, Schuh A, McMullin MF, Green AR, Harrison CN, Cross NC; British Committee for Standards in Haematology. Molecular diagnosis of the myeloproliferative neoplasms: UK guidelines for the detection of JAK2 V617F and other relevant mutations. Br J Haematol. 2013 Jan;160(1):25-34.
- Ma W, Kantarjian H, Zhang X, Wang X, Zhang Z, Yeh CH, O'Brien S, Giles F, Bruey JM, Albitar
 M. JAK2 exon 14 deletion in patients with chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms. PLoS
 One. 2010 Aug 13;5(8):e12165.
- 55. Kiladjian JJ. The spectrum of JAK2-positive myeloproliferative neoplasms. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2012;2012:561-6.
- 56. Levine RL, Loriaux M, Huntly BJ, Loh ML, Beran M, Stoffregen E, Berger R, Clark JJ, Willis SG, Nguyen KT, Flores NJ, Estey E, Gattermann N, Armstrong S, Look AT, Griffin JD, Bernard

OA, Heinrich MC, Gilliland DG, Druker B, Deininger MW. The JAK2V617F activating mutation occurs in chronic myelomonocytic leukemia and acute myeloid leukemia, but not in acute lymphoblastic leukemia or chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2005 Nov 15;106(10):3377-9.

- 57. Li S, Kralovics R, De Libero G, Theocharides A, Gisslinger H, Skoda RC. Clonal heterogeneity in polycythemia vera patients with JAK2 exon12 and JAK2-V617F mutations. Blood. 2008 Apr 1;111(7):3863-6.
- 58. Scott LM, Tong W, Levine RL, Scott MA, Beer PA, Stratton MR, Futreal PA, Erber WN, McMullin MF, Harrison CN, Warren AJ, Gilliland DG, Lodish HF, Green AR. JAK2 exon 12 mutations in polycythemia vera and idiopathic erythrocytosis. N Engl J Med. 2007 Feb 1;356(5):459-68.
- 59. Warshawsky I, Mularo F, Hren C, Jakubowski M. Failure of the Ipsogen MutaScreen kit to detect the JAK2 617V>F mutation in samples with additional rare exon 14 mutations: implications for clinical testing and report of a novel 618C>F mutation in addition to 617V>F. Blood. 2010 Apr 15;115(15):3175-6.
- 60. Grünebach F, Bross-Bach U, Kanz L, Brossart P. Detection of a new JAK2 D620E mutation in addition to V617F in a patient with polycythemia vera. Leukemia. 2006 Dec;20(12):2210-1.
- 61. Cleyrat C, Jelinek J, Girodon F, Boissinot M, Ponge T, Harousseau JL, Issa JP, Hermouet S. JAK2 mutation and disease phenotype: a double L611V/V617F in cis mutation of JAK2 is associated with isolated erythrocytosis and increased activation of AKT and ERK1/2 rather than STAT5. Leukemia. 2010 May;24(5):1069-73.
- 62. Percy MJ, Scott LM, Erber WN, Harrison CN, Reilly JT, Jones FG, Green AR, McMullin MF. The frequency of JAK2 exon 12 mutations in idiopathic erythrocytosis patients with low serum erythropoietin levels. Haematologica. 2007 Dec;92(12):1607-14.
- 63. Williams DM, Kim AH, Rogers O, Spivak JL, Moliterno AR. Phenotypic variations and new mutations in JAK2 V617F-negative polycythemia vera, erythrocytosis, and idiopathic myelofibrosis. Exp Hematol. 2007 Nov;35(11):1641-6.
- 64. Martínez-Avilés L, Besses C, Alvarez-Larrán A, Cervantes F, Hernández-Boluda JC, Bellosillo
 B. JAK2 exon 12 mutations in polycythemia vera or idiopathic erythrocytosis.
 Haematologica. 2007 Dec;92(12):1717-8.

- 65. Pietra D, Li S, Brisci A, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Theocharides A, Ferrari M, Gisslinger H, Kralovics R, Cremonesi L, Skoda R, Cazzola M. Somatic mutations of JAK2 exon 12 in patients with JAK2 (V617F)-negative myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2008 Feb 1;111(3):1686-9.
- 66. Schnittger S, Bacher U, Haferlach C, Geer T, Müller P, Mittermüller J, Petrides P, Schlag R, Sandner R, Selbach J, Slawik HR, Tessen HW, Wehmeyer J, Kern W, Haferlach T. Detection of JAK2 exon 12 mutations in 15 patients with JAK2V617F negative polycythemia vera. Haematologica. 2009 Mar;94(3):414-8.
- 67. Carillo S, Henry L, Lippert E, Girodon F, Guiraud I, Richard C, Dubois Galopin F, Cleyrat C, Jourdan E, Kralovics R, Hermouet S, Lavabre-Bertrand T. Nested high-resolution melting curve analysis a highly sensitive, reliable, and simple method for detection of JAK2 exon 12 mutations--clinical relevance in the monitoring of polycythemia. J Mol Diagn. 2011 May;13(3):263-70.
- 68. Siemiatkowska A, Bieniaszewska M, Hellmann A, Limon J. JAK2 and MPL gene mutations in V617F-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leuk Res. 2010 Mar;34(3):387-9.
- 69. Cario H, Schwarz K, Herter JM, Komrska V, McMullin MF, Minkov M, Niemeyer C, Pospisilova D, Reinhard H, Debatin KM, Pahl HL. Clinical and molecular characterisation of a prospectively collected cohort of children and adolescents with polycythemia vera. Br J Haematol. 2008 Aug;142(4):622-6.
- 70. Yeh YM, Chen YL, Cheng HY, Su WC, Chow NH, Chen TY, Ho CL. High percentage of JAK2 exon 12 mutation in Asian patients with polycythemia vera. Am J Clin Pathol. 2010 Aug;134(2):266-70.
- 71. Colaizzo D, Amitrano L, Tiscia GL, Grandone E, Guardascione MA, Margaglione M. A new JAK2 gene mutation in patients with polycythemia vera and splanchnic vein thrombosis. Blood. 2007 Oct 1;110(7):2768-9.
- 72. Burjanivova T, Marcinek J, Lasabova Z, Minarik G, Szepe P, Balharek T, Vanochova A, Polacek H, Plank L. A novel JAK2 exon 12 mutation identified in the retrospective analysis of paraffin-embedded tissues of polycythemia vera patients. Diagn Mol Pathol. 2009 Jun;18(2):108-11.
- 73. Ohyashiki JH, Hisatomi H, Shimizu S, Sugaya M, Ohyashiki K. Detection of low allele burden of JAK2 exon 12 mutations using TA-cloning in patients with erythrocytosis. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2009 Aug;39(8):509-13.

- 74. Albiero E, Madeo D, Ruggeri M, Bernardi M, Giorgetti A, Rodeghiero F. Loss of the JAK2 intramolecular auto-inhibition mechanism is predicted by structural modelling of a novel exon 12 insertion mutation in a case of idiopathic erythrocytosis. Br J Haematol. 2008 Sep;142(6):986-90.
- 75. Wong CL, Ma ES, Wang CL, Lam HY, Ma SY. JAK2 V617F due to a novel TG --> CT mutation at nucleotides 1848-1849: diagnostic implication. Leukemia. 2007 Jun;21(6):1344-6.
- 76. Schnittger S, Bacher U, Kern W, Schröder M, Haferlach T, Schoch C. Report on two novel nucleotide exchanges in the JAK2 pseudokinase domain: D620E and E627E. Leukemia. 2006 Dec;20(12):2195-7.
- 77. Passamonti F, Elena C, Schnittger S, Skoda RC, Green AR, Girodon F, Kiladjian JJ, McMullin MF, Ruggeri M, Besses C, Vannucchi AM, Lippert E, Gisslinger H, Rumi E, Lehmann T, Ortmann CA, Pietra D, Pascutto C, Haferlach T, Cazzola M. Molecular and clinical features of the myeloproliferative neoplasm associated with JAK2 exon 12 mutations. Blood. 2011 Mar 10;117(10):2813-6.
- 78. Barbui T, Finazzi G, Carobbio A, Thiele J, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Ruggeri M, Rodeghiero F, Randi ML, Bertozzi I, Gisslinger H, Buxhofer-Ausch V, De Stefano V, Betti S, Rambaldi A, Vannucchi AM, Tefferi A. Development and validation of an International Prognostic Score of thrombosis in World Health Organization-essential thrombocythemia (IPSETthrombosis). Blood. 2012 Dec 20;120(26):5128-33; quiz 5252.
- 79. Tefferi A, Guglielmelli P, Larson DR, Finke C, Wassie EA, Pieri L, Gangat N, Fjerza R, Belachew AA, Lasho TL, Ketterling RP, Hanson CA, Rambaldi A, Finazzi G, Thiele J, Barbui T, Pardanani A, Vannucchi AM. Long-term survival and blast transformation in molecularly annotated essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and myelofibrosis. Blood. 2014 Oct 16;124(16):2507-13; quiz 2615.
- 80. Rumi E, Pietra D, Ferretti V, Klampfl T, Harutyunyan AS, Milosevic JD, Them NC, Berg T, Elena C, Casetti IC, Milanesi C, Sant'antonio E, Bellini M, Fugazza E, Renna MC, Boveri E, Astori C, Pascutto C, Kralovics R, Cazzola M; Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro Gruppo Italiano Malattie Mieloproliferative Investigators. JAK2 or CALR mutation status defines subtypes of essential thrombocythemia with substantially different clinical course and outcomes. Blood. 2014 Mar 6;123(10):1544-51.
- Tefferi A, Lasho TL, Finke CM, Knudson RA, Ketterling R, Hanson CH, Maffioli M, Caramazza
 D, Passamonti F, Pardanani A. CALR vs JAK2 vs MPL-mutated or triple-negative

myelofibrosis: clinical, cytogenetic and molecular comparisons. Leukemia. 2014 Jul;28(7):1472-7.

- 82. Passamonti F, Rumi E, Pietra D, Elena C, Boveri E, Arcaini L, Roncoroni E, Astori C, Merli M, Boggi S, Pascutto C, Lazzarino M, Cazzola M. A prospective study of 338 patients with polycythemia vera: the impact of JAK2 (V617F) allele burden and leukocytosis on fibrotic or leukemic disease transformation and vascular complications. Leukemia. 2010 Sep;24(9):1574-9.
- 83. Guglielmelli P, Barosi G, Specchia G, Rambaldi A, Lo Coco F, Antonioli E, Pieri L, Pancrazzi A, Ponziani V, Delaini F, Longo G, Ammatuna E, Liso V, Bosi A, Barbui T, Vannucchi AM. Identification of patients with poorer survival in primary myelofibrosis based on the burden of JAK2V617F mutated allele. Blood. 2009 Aug 20;114(8):1477-83.
- 84. Kiladjian JJ, Cervantes F, Leebeek FW, Marzac C, Cassinat B, Chevret S, Cazals-Hatem D, Plessier A, Garcia-Pagan JC, Darwish Murad S, Raffa S, Janssen HL, Gardin C, Cereja S, Tonetti C, Giraudier S, Condat B, Casadevall N, Fenaux P, Valla DC. The impact of JAK2 and MPL mutations on diagnosis and prognosis of splanchnic vein thrombosis: a report on 241 cases. Blood. 2008 May 15;111(10):4922-9.
- 85. Quintás-Cardama A, Kantarjian H, Manshouri T, Luthra R, Estrov Z, Pierce S, Richie MA, Borthakur G, Konopleva M, Cortes J, Verstovsek S. Pegylated interferon alfa-2a yields high rates of hematologic and molecular response in patients with advanced essential thrombocythemia and polycythemia vera. J Clin Oncol. 2009 Nov 10;27(32):5418-24.
- 86. Pieri L, Pancrazzi A, Pacilli A, Rabuzzi C, Rotunno G, Fanelli T, Guglielmelli P, Fjerza R, Paoli C, Verstovsek S, Vannucchi AM. JAK2V617F complete molecular remission in polycythemia vera/essential thrombocythemia patients treated with ruxolitinib. Blood. 2015 May 21;125(21):3352-3.
- 87. Kröger N, Alchalby H, Klyuchnikov E, Badbaran A, Hildebrandt Y, Ayuk F, Bacher U, Bock O, Kvasnicka M, Fehse B, Zander A. JAK2-V617F-triggered preemptive and salvage adoptive immunotherapy with donor-lymphocyte infusion in patients with myelofibrosis after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2009 Feb 19;113(8):1866-8.
- 88. Lange T, Edelmann A, Siebolts U, Krahl R, Nehring C, Jäkel N, Cross M, Maier J, Niederwieser D, Wickenhauser C. JAK2 p.V617F allele burden in myeloproliferative neoplasms one month after allogeneic stem cell transplantation significantly predicts outcome and risk of relapse. Haematologica. 2013 May;98(5):722-8.
- 89. Denys B, El Housni H, Nollet F, Verhasselt B, Philippé J. A real-time polymerase chain reaction assay for rapid, sensitive, and specific quantification of the JAK2V617F mutation using a locked nucleic acid-modified oligonucleotide. J Mol Diagn. 2010 Jul;12(4):512-9.
- 90. Huijsmans CJ, Poodt J, Savelkoul PH, Hermans MH. Sensitive detection and quantification of the JAK2V617F allele by real-time PCR blocking wild-type amplification by using a peptide nucleic acid oligonucleotide. J Mol Diagn. 2011 Sep;13(5):558-64.
- 91. Pikman Y, Lee BH, Mercher T, McDowell E, Ebert BL, Gozo M, Cuker A, Wernig G, Moore S, Galinsky I, DeAngelo DJ, Clark JJ, Lee SJ, Golub TR, Wadleigh M, Gilliland DG, Levine RL. MPLW515L is a novel somatic activating mutation in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. PLoS Med. 2006 Jul;3(7):e270. PubMed PMID:16834459; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1502153.
- 92. Pardanani AD, Levine RL, Lasho T, Pikman Y, Mesa RA, Wadleigh M, Steensma DP, Elliott MA, Wolanskyj AP, Hogan WJ, McClure RF, Litzow MR, Gilliland DG, Tefferi A. MPL515 mutations in myeloproliferative and other myeloid disorders: a study of 1182 patients. Blood. 2006 Nov 15;108(10):3472-6.
- 93. Staerk J, Defour JP, Pecquet C, Leroy E, Antoine-Poirel H, Brett I, Itaya M, Smith SO, Vainchenker W, Constantinescu SN. Orientation-specific signalling by thrombopoietin receptor dimers. EMBO J. 2011 Sep 2;30(21):4398-413.
- 94. Malcovati L, Della Porta MG, Pietra D, Boveri E, Pellagatti A, Gallì A, Travaglino E, Brisci A, Rumi E, Passamonti F, Invernizzi R, Cremonesi L, Boultwood J, Wainscoat JS, Hellström-Lindberg E, Cazzola M. Molecular and clinical features of refractory anemia with ringed sideroblasts associated with marked thrombocytosis. Blood. 2009 Oct 22;114(17):3538-45.
- 95. Szpurka H, Gondek LP, Mohan SR, Hsi ED, Theil KS, Maciejewski JP. UPD1p indicates the presence of MPL W515L mutation in RARS-T, a mechanism analogous to UPD9p and JAK2 V617F mutation. Leukemia. 2009 Mar;23(3):610-4.
- 96. Chaligné R, Tonetti C, Besancenot R, Roy L, Marty C, Mossuz P, Kiladjian JJ, Socié G, Bordessoule D, Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC, Vainchenker W, Giraudier S. New mutations of MPL in primitive myelofibrosis: only the MPL W515 mutations promote a G1/S-phase transition. Leukemia. 2008 Aug;22(8):1557-66.
- 97. Ding J, Komatsu H, Wakita A, Kato-Uranishi M, Ito M, Satoh A, Tsuboi K, Nitta M, Miyazaki H, Iida S, Ueda R. Familial essential thrombocythemia associated with a dominant-positive

activating mutation of the c-MPL gene, which encodes for the receptor for thrombopoietin. Blood. 2004 Jun 1;103(11):4198-200.

- 98. Boyd EM, Bench AJ, Goday-Fernández A, Anand S, Vaghela KJ, Beer P, Scott MA, Bareford D, Green AR, Huntly B, Erber WN. Clinical utility of routine MPL exon 10 analysis in the diagnosis of essential thrombocythaemia and primary myelofibrosis. Br J Haematol. 2010 Apr;149(2):250-7.
- 99. Rumi E, Pietra D, Guglielmelli P, Bordoni R, Casetti I, Milanesi C, Sant'Antonio E, Ferretti V, Pancrazzi A, Rotunno G, Severgnini M, Pietrelli A, Astori C, Fugazza E, Pascutto C, Boveri E, Passamonti F, De Bellis G, Vannucchi A, Cazzola M; Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro Gruppo Italiano Malattie Mieloproliferative. Acquired copy-neutral loss of heterozygosity of chromosome 1p as a molecular event associated with marrow fibrosis in MPL-mutated myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2013 May 23;121(21):4388-95.
- 100. Vannucchi AM, Antonioli E, Guglielmelli P, Pancrazzi A, Guerini V, Barosi G, Ruggeri M, Specchia G, Lo-Coco F, Delaini F, Villani L, Finotto S, Ammatuna E, Alterini R, Carrai V, Capaccioli G, Di Lollo S, Liso V, Rambaldi A, Bosi A, Barbui T. Characteristics and clinical correlates of MPL 515W>L/K mutation in essential thrombocythemia. Blood. 2008 Aug 1;112(3):844-7.
- 101. Pardanani A, Guglielmelli P, Lasho TL, Pancrazzi A, Finke CM, Vannucchi AM, Tefferi A. Primary myelofibrosis with or without mutant MPL: comparison of survival and clinical features involving 603 patients. Leukemia. 2011 Dec;25(12):1834-9.
- 102. McGaffin G, Harper K, Stirling D, McLintock L. JAK2 V617F and CALR mutations are not mutually exclusive; findings from retrospective analysis of a small patient cohort. Br J Haematol. 2014 Oct;167(2):276-8.
- 103. Broséus J, Park JH, Carillo S, Hermouet S, Girodon F. Presence of calreticulin mutations in JAK2-negative polycythemia vera. Blood. 2014 Dec 18;124(26):3964-6.
- 104. Gold LI, Eggleton P, Sweetwyne MT, et al. Calreti- culin: non-endoplasmic reticulum functions in physiology and disease. FASEB J 2010; 24:665–683.
- 105. Rumi E, Pietra D, Pascutto C, Guglielmelli P, Martínez-Trillos A, Casetti I, Colomer D, Pieri L, Pratcorona M, Rotunno G, Sant'Antonio E, Bellini M, Cavalloni C, Mannarelli C, Milanesi C, Boveri E, Ferretti V, Astori C, Rosti V, Cervantes F, Barosi G, Vannucchi AM, Cazzola M; Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro Gruppo Italiano Malattie

Mieloproliferative Investigators. Clinical effect of driver mutations of JAK2, CALR, or MPL in primary myelofibrosis. Blood. 2014 Aug 14;124(7):1062-9.

- 106. Tefferi A, Wassie EA, Guglielmelli P, Gangat N, Belachew AA, Lasho TL, Finke C, Ketterling RP, Hanson CA, Pardanani A, Wolanskyj AP, Maffioli M, Casalone R, Pacilli A, Vannucchi AM, Passamonti F. Type 1 versus Type 2 calreticulin mutations in essential thrombocythemia: a collaborative study of 1027 patients. Am J Hematol. 2014 Aug;89(8):E121-4.
- 107. Pietra D, Rumi E, Ferretti VV, Di Buduo CA, Milanesi C, Cavalloni C, Sant'Antonio E, Abbonante V, Moccia F, Casetti IC, Bellini M, Renna MC, Roncoroni E, Fugazza E, Astori C, Boveri E, Rosti V, Barosi G, Balduini A, Cazzola M.Differential clinical effects of different mutation subtypes in CALR-mutant myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leukemia. 2016 Feb;30(2):431-8.
- Tefferi A, Lasho TL, Tischer A, Wassie EA, Finke CM, Belachew AA, Ketterling RP, Hanson CA, Pardanani AD. The prognostic advantage of calreticulin mutations in myelofibrosis might be confined to type 1 or type 1-like CALR variants. Blood. 2014 Oct 9;124(15):2465-6
- 109. Vainchenker W, Delhommeau F, Constantinescu SN, Bernard OA. New mutations and pathogenesis of myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2011 Aug 18;118(7):1723-35.
- 110. Ortmann CA, Kent DG, Nangalia J, Silber Y, Wedge DC, Grinfeld J, Baxter EJ, Massie CE, Papaemmanuil E, Menon S, Godfrey AL, Dimitropoulou D, Guglielmelli P, Bellosillo B, Besses C, Döhner K, Harrison CN, Vassiliou GS, Vannucchi A, Campbell PJ, Green AR. Effect of mutation order on myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 2015 Feb 12;372(7):601-612.
- 111. Nangalia J, Nice FL, Wedge DC, Godfrey AL, Grinfeld J, Thakker C, Massie CE, Baxter J, Sewell D, Silber Y, Campbell PJ, Green AR. DNMT3A mutations occur early or late in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms and mutation order influences phenotype. Haematologica. 2015 Nov;100(11):e438-42.
- 112. Vannucchi AM, Lasho TL, Guglielmelli P, Biamonte F, Pardanani A, Pereira A, Finke C, Score J, Gangat N, Mannarelli C, Ketterling RP, Rotunno G, Knudson RA, Susini MC, Laborde RR, Spolverini A, Pancrazzi A, Pieri L, Manfredini R, Tagliafico E, Zini R, Jones A, Zoi K, Reiter A, Duncombe A, Pietra D, Rumi E, Cervantes F, Barosi G, Cazzola M, Cross NC, Tefferi A. Mutations and prognosis in primary myelofibrosis. Leukemia. 2013 Sep;27(9):1861-9.

- 113. Guglielmelli P, Lasho TL, Rotunno G, Score J, Mannarelli C, Pancrazzi A, Biamonte F, Pardanani A, Zoi K, Reiter A, Duncombe A, Fanelli T, Pietra D, Rumi E, Finke C, Gangat N, Ketterling RP, Knudson RA, Hanson CA, Bosi A, Pereira A, Manfredini R, Cervantes F, Barosi G, Cazzola M, Cross NC, Vannucchi AM, Tefferi A. The number of prognostically detrimental mutations and prognosis in primary myelofibrosis: an international study of 797 patients. Leukemia. 2014 Sep;28(9):1804-10.
- 114. Tefferi A, Guglielmelli P, Lasho TL, Rotunno G, Finke C, Mannarelli C, Belachew AA, Pancrazzi A, Wassie EA, Ketterling RP, Hanson CA, Pardanani A, Vannucchi AM. CALR and ASXL1 mutations-based molecular prognostication in primary myelofibrosis: an international study of 570 patients. Leukemia. 2014 Jul;28(7):1494-500.
- 115. Bartels S, Lehmann U, Büsche G, Schlue J, Mozer M, Stadler J, Triviai I, Alchalby H, Kröger N, Kreipe H. SRSF2 and U2AF1 mutations in primary myelofibrosis are associated with JAK2 and MPL but not calreticulin mutation and may independently reoccur after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Leukemia. 2015 Jan;29(1):253-5.
- 116. Brecqueville M, Rey J, Bertucci F, Coppin E, Finetti P, Carbuccia N, Cervera N, Gelsi-Boyer V, Arnoulet C, Gisserot O, Verrot D, Slama B, Vey N, Mozziconacci MJ, Birnbaum D, Murati A. Mutation analysis of ASXL1, CBL, DNMT3A, IDH1, IDH2, JAK2, MPL, NF1, SF3B1, SUZ12, and TET2 in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2012 Aug;51(8):743-55.
- 117. Pardanani A, Lasho T, Finke C, Oh ST, Gotlib J, Tefferi A. LNK mutation studies in blastphase myeloproliferative neoplasms, and in chronic-phase disease with TET2, IDH, JAK2 or MPL mutations. Leukemia. 2010 Oct;24(10):1713-8.
- 118. Visconte V, Rogers HJ, Singh J, Barnard J, Bupathi M, Traina F, McMahon J, Makishima H, Szpurka H, Jankowska A, Jerez A, Sekeres MA, Saunthararajah Y, Advani AS, Copelan E, Koseki H, Isono K, Padgett RA, Osman S, Koide K, O'Keefe C, Maciejewski JP, Tiu RV. SF3B1 haploinsufficiency leads to formation of ring sideroblasts in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2012 Oct 18;120(16):3173-86.
- 119. Tefferi A, Finke CM, Lasho TL, Wassie EA, Knudson R, Ketterling RP, Hanson CA, Pardanani A. U2AF1 mutations in primary myelofibrosis are strongly associated with anemia and thrombocytopenia despite clustering with JAK2V617F and normal karyotype. Leukemia. 2014 Feb;28(2):431-3.

- Stegelmann F, Bullinger L, Schlenk RF, Paschka P, Griesshammer M, Blersch C, Kuhn S, Schauer S, Döhner H, Döhner K. DNMT3A mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leukemia. 2011 Jul;25(7):1217-9.
- 121. Milosevic JD, Puda A, Malcovati L, Berg T, Hofbauer M, Stukalov A, Klampfl T, Harutyunyan AS, Gisslinger H, Gisslinger B, Burjanivova T, Rumi E, Pietra D, Elena C, Vannucchi AM, Doubek M, Dvorakova D, Robesova B, Wieser R, Koller E, Suvajdzic N, Tomin D, Tosic N, Colinge J, Racil Z, Steurer M, Pavlovic S, Cazzola M, Kralovics R. Clinical significance of genetic aberrations in secondary acute myeloid leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2012 Nov;87(11):1010-6.
- 122. Guglielmelli P, Biamonte F, Rotunno G, Artusi V, Artuso L, Bernardis I, Tenedini E, Pieri L, Paoli C, Mannarelli C, Fjerza R, Rumi E, Stalbovskaya V, Squires M, Cazzola M, Manfredini R, Harrison C, Tagliafico E, Vannucchi AM; COMFORT-II Investigators; Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro Gruppo Italiano Malattie Mieloproliferative (AGIMM) Investigators. Impact of mutational status on outcomes in myelofibrosis patients treated with ruxolitinib in the COMFORT-II study. Blood. 2014 Apr 3;123(14):2157-60.
- 123. Patel KP, Newberry KJ, Luthra R, Jabbour E, Pierce S, Cortes J, Singh R, Mehrotra M, Routbort MJ, Luthra M, Manshouri T, Santos FP, Kantarjian H, Verstovsek S. Correlation of mutation profile and response in patients with myelofibrosis treated with ruxolitinib. Blood. 2015 Aug 6;126(6):790-7.
- Rossi L, Salvestrini V, Ferrari D, Di Virgilio F, Lemoli RM. The sixth sense: hematopoietic stem cells detect danger through purinergic signaling. Blood. 2012 Sep 20;120(12):2365-75. Epub 2012 Jul 11. Review. PubMed PMID: 22786880.
- Eltzschig HK, Sitkovsky MV, Robson SC. Purinergic signaling during inflammation. N Engl J Med. 2012 Dec 13;367(24):2322-33.
- 126. Salvestrini V, Zini R, Rossi L, Gulinelli S, Manfredini R, Bianchi E, Piacibello W, Caione L, Migliardi G, Ricciardi MR, Tafuri A, Romano M, Salati S, Di Virgilio F, Ferrari S, Baccarani M, Ferrari D, Lemoli RM. Purinergic signaling inhibits human acute myeloblastic leukemia cell proliferation, migration, and engraftment in immunodeficient mice. Blood. 2012 Jan 5;119(1):217-26.
- 127. Fleischman AG, Aichberger KJ, Luty SB, Bumm TG, Petersen CL, Doratotaj S, Vasudevan KB, LaTocha DH, Yang F, Press RD, Loriaux MM, Pahl HL, Silver RT, Agarwal A, O'Hare T,

Druker BJ, Bagby GC, Deininger MW. TNF α facilitates clonal expansion of JAK2V617F positive cells in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2011 Dec 8;118(24):6392-8.

- 128. Ries C. Cytokine functions of TIMP-1. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014 Feb;71(4):659-72.
- 129. Wilk CM, Schildberg FA, Lauterbach MA, Cadeddu RP, Fröbel J, Westphal V, Tolba RH, Hell SW, Czibere A, Bruns I, Haas R. The tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 improves migration and adhesion of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Exp Hematol. 2013 Sep;41(9):823-831.e2
- 130. Rossi L, Ergen AV, Goodell MA. TIMP-1 deficiency subverts cell-cycle dynamics in murine long-term HSCs. Blood. 2011 Jun 16;117(24):6479-88.
- Puddu P, Puddu GM, Cravero E, Muscari S, Muscari A. The involvement of circulating microparticles in inflammation, coagulation and cardiovascular diseases. Can J Cardiol. 2010 Apr;26(4):140-5. Review. PubMed PMID: 20386775; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2886541.
- Herring JM, McMichael MA, Smith SA. Microparticles in health and disease. J Vet Intern Med. 2013 Sep-Oct;27(5):1020-33.
- 133. Katsuda T, Kosaka N, Takeshita F, Ochiya T. The therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles. Proteomics. 2013 May;13(10-11):1637-53.
- 134. Hasselbalch HC, Bjørn ME. MPNs as Inflammatory Diseases: The Evidence, Consequences, and Perspectives. Mediators Inflamm. 2015;2015:102476.
- 135. M. E. Bjørn, K. de Stricker, L. Kjær, K. Ellemann, and H. C. Hasselbalch. Combination therapy with interferon and JAK1- 2 inhibitor is feasible: proof of concept with rapid reduction in JAK2V617F-allele burden in polycythemia vera. Leukemia Research Reports, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 73–75, 2014.

AIMS

The overall aim of this study was the molecular characterization of patients diagnosed with Ph- negative Chronic Mieloproliferative Neoplasms and the study of interactions between malignant hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell (HSC/PC) and the inflammatory cell micro-environment.

The specific aims were the followings:

- I. Mutational status and outcome of young (≤ 40 years old) ET and early-PMF patients have never been investigated. To address this issue, we report on a relatively large number of WHO-defined ET and early-PMF patients who were younger than 40 years of age at the time of diagnosis.
- II. The use of highly sensitive allele-specific assays has significantly increased our ability to detect small $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutated clones, with AB below 1%. As a small clonal hematopoiesis has been found also in otherwise healthy subjects, the clinical significance of a low AB has to be clarify. To address this issue, we analyzed clinical and laboratory data of patients with a suspected MPN that presented a low ($\leq 3\%$) $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation burden.
- III. JAK2^{V617F} AB monitoring is of utmost importance both during follow-up and posttransplant. In this context, the standardization of molecular techniques is urgently needed. To identify the most robust assay for the standardization of the molecular test and to allow consistent interpretation of individual patient analysis results, we established a network of 19 Italian laboratories and evaluated the analytic performances of 5 different molecular approaches.
- IV. The key players linking inflammation and cancer in MF as well as the underlying pathogenetic mechanism are still to be elucidated. Therefore, we aimed to address the functional effects of several pro-inflammatory factors on the in vitro behaviour of HSPCs derived from MF patients.
- V. Finally, we evaluated three different Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) gene panels in order to identify the most suitable approach for the molecular characterization of MF patients for both diagnostic and research purpose.

RESULT I

Mutations and long-term outcome of 217 young patients with essential thrombocythemia or early primary myelofibrosis.

F. Palandri¹, R. Latagliata², N. Polverelli¹, A. Tieghi³, M. Crugnola⁴, B. Martino⁵, M. Perricone¹,
M. Breccia², E. Ottaviani¹, N. Testoni¹, F. Merli³, F. Aversa⁴, G. Alimena², M. Cavo¹, G. Martinelli¹, L. Catani¹, M. Baccarani¹ and N. Vianelli¹

¹Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine, Institute of Hematology 'L. and A. Seràgnoli', University of Bologna, S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, Bologna, Italy

²Department of Cellular Biotechnologies and Hematology, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy

³Division of Hematology, Azienda Ospedaliera Arcispedale Santa Maria Nuova, Reggio Emilia, Italy

⁴Section of Hematology and BMT Unit, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Parma, Parma, Italy

⁵Division of Hematology, Azienda Ospedaliera 'Bianchi Melacrino Morelli', Reggio Calabria, Italy.

Correspondence to: francesca.palandri@unibo.it

ABSTRACT

We investigated the influence of molecular status on disease characteristics and clinical outcome in young patients (\leq 40 years) with World Health Organization (WHO)-defined essential thrombocythemia (ET) or early/prefibrotic primary myelofibrosis (early-PMF). Overall, 217 patients with ET (number 197) and early-PMF (number 20) were included in the analysis. Median follow-up time was 10.2 years. The cumulative incidence of thrombosis, hemorrhages and disease evolution into myelofibrosis/acute leukemia were 16.6%, 8.6% and 3% at 15 years, respectively. No differences were detectable between ET and early-PMF patients, although the latter cohort showed a trend for worse combined-event free survival (EFS). Mutation frequency were 61% for $JAK2^{V617F}$, 25% for *CALR* and 1% for *MPL*W515K, and were comparable across WHO diagnosis; however, $JAK2^{V617F}$ allele burden was higher in the early-PMF group. Compared with $JAK2^{V617F}$ -positive patients, *CALR*-mutated patients displayed higher platelet count and lower hemoglobin level. *CALR* mutations significantly correlated with lower thrombotic risk (9.1% versus 21.7%, P = 0.04), longer survival (100% vs 96%, P = 0.05) and better combined-EFS (86% vs 71%, P = 0.02).

However, non-type 1/type 2 *CALR* mutations ('minor' mutations) and abnormal karyotype were found to correlate with increased risk of disease evolution. At last contact, six patients had died; in five cases, the causes of death were related to the hematological disease and occurred at a median age of 64 years (range: 53–68 years). Twenty-eight patients (13%) were unmutated for *JAK2*, *CALR* and *MPL*: no event was registered in these 'triple-negative' patients.

INTRODUCTION

Diagnosis of essential thrombocythemia (ET) or early primary myelofibrosis (early-PMF) in subjects younger than 40 years is relatively uncommon.¹⁻⁴ Nonetheless, young patients with ET or early-PMF represent a category of substantial clinical interest, as they are projected to a prolonged survival and also to an extended utilization of medical resources. In addition, uncertainties remain about their best management and long-term outcome, due to the paucity of studies with long follow-up and the absence of specific risk scores.⁵ In 2012, Barbui et al.⁶ reported on a large series of young patients with ET (n=178) or early-PMF (n=35), with the latter cohort showing higher platelet count and worse combined event free survival (EFS). JAK2^{V617F} mutation emerged as a significant predictor for vascular events and disease evolution into MF; however, at that time molecular analysis was limited to the JAK2^{V617F} mutation and no data were available on mutation load. In the last 2 years, a plethora of studies have reported the impact of mutations, including those in the CALR gene, on main clinical features and outcome in patients with Philadelphia-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms.⁷⁻ ¹⁴ However, no data are yet available on mutational status and outcome in cohorts of young patients with ET or early-PMF. To address this issue, we report on a relatively large number of World Health Organization (WHO)-defined ET and early-PMF patients who were younger than 40 years of age at the time of diagnosis, with particular focus on the impact of molecular alterations on main clinical features and long-term outcome.

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Study population and definitions

A clinico-pathological database of ET patients was created. A total of 217 WHOdiagnosed^{15–17} ET or early-PMF patients \leq 40 years at diagnosis followed in five Italian Hematology Centers were included in the study. Inclusion criteria required the availability of demographic, clinical, histological and hematological data at diagnosis and at least one DNA sample to assess mutation status of the three driver genes: *JAK2*, *MPL* and *CALR*. Patients with unmutated *JAK2*, *MPL* and *CALR* were defined as 'triple negative'. All bone marrow biopsies were performed at diagnosis or before treatment start. Histological diagnosis was assessed at a local institution, which also reviewed bone marrow biopsies performed before 2008, for diagnostic accuracy according to WHO criteria. Baseline clinical characteristics and outcome measures (thrombosis, hemorrhages, secondary MF and acute leukemia (AL), second neoplasia, death, overall survival (OS) and EFS) were evaluated. Thrombotic and hemorrhagic events were defined as previously described.¹⁸

Diagnosis of post ET-MF (PET-MF) was made in accordance with the International Working Group on Myelofibrosis Research and Treatment criteria.¹⁹ Diagnosis of AL was made according to WHO criteria, with a 20% bone marrow blast threshold for diagnosis.²⁰ The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of each Institution and was conducted according to the Helsinki declaration.

JAK2, CALR and MPL mutation analysis

JAK2^{V617F} allele burden was assessed in granulocyte DNA by quantitative PCR-based allelic discrimination assay (ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant Kit, QIAGEN, Marseille, France) on 7900 HT Fast Real Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA).²¹ *CALR* exon 9 sequencing was performed by next-generation sequencing approach with GS Junior (Roche-454 platform, 454 Life Sciences, a Roche company, Branford, CT, USA); analysis was carried out with AVA Software (GRCh38 as reference, 454 Life Sciences, a Roche company).²² Rare *CALR* mutations identified by next-generation sequencing were confirmed by Sanger sequencing. *MPL* exon 10 mutations were evaluated using the Ipsogen *MPL*W515L/K MutaScreen Kit (QIAGEN). *MPL* exon 10 S505N mutations were evaluated by Sanger sequencing.²³

Cytogenetic analysis

Chromosome banding analysis was performed on bone marrow cells by standard banding techniques according to the International System for Human Cytogenetic Nomenclature.²⁴ At least 20 metaphases were required.

Statistical analysis

Numerical variables have been summarized by their median and range, and categorical variables by count and relative frequency (%) of each category. Comparisons of quantitative variables between groups of patients were carried out by the non-parametric Wilcoxon rank-sum test.

Association between categorical variables (two-way tables) was tested by the Fisher's exact test.

All survival curves were calculated by the Kaplan–Meier method from the date of ET/early-PMF diagnosis to the date of first appearance of the event. Specifically, OS was estimated from the date of ET/early-PMF diagnosis to the date of death or last contact, whichever came first. Evolution-free survival was calculated to the first documentation of PET-MF or AL. Combined EFS included all events, explicitly: thrombosis, hemorrhages, disease evolution into PET-MF/AL or death, whichever came first. Survival curves of different subgroups were compared by the log-rank test.

Multivariate analysis of survivals were carried out by Cox regression. All P-values were considered statistically significant when \leq 0.05 (two-tailed). Statistical analyses were performed using Graphpad (Graphpad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA) and SPSS software (PASW Statistics for Windows, Version 18.0., Chicago, IL, USA).

RESULTS

Disease phenotype, type of treatment and outcome measures according to WHO diagnosis

Overall, 197 WHO-defined ET and 20 early-PMF (age range: 16–40, median 34 years) were included in the study. Table 1 provides a comparative illustration of presenting clinical/laboratory features and outcome measures according to WHO diagnosis. No significant differences were seen in hematological and clinical data at presentation, except for higher frequency of elevated serum lactate dehydrogenase levels in early-PMF patients. A total of 6 out of 161 (3.7%) evaluable patients had an abnormal karyotype, specifically:

46,XY,inv(9)(p11q13); 46,XX,inv(16) (q21q23); 46,XX,t(2;3)(q13;p25); 47,XY,+9 (2 patients); 45,XX,-9. Median follow-up was 10.2 years (range: 0.5–37.5). Cytoreductive therapy was required in 132 patients (61%), 122 patients with ET (61%) and 10 with early-PMF (50%) (P = 0.34). The use of cytoreductive and antiplatelet therapy was based on physician's decision, according to local standard clinical practice. Reasons for treatment start were as follows: extreme thrombocytosis (94 patients, 71%), thrombotic or hemorrhagic event (18 patients, 14%) or persistence of microvessel disturbances despite antiplatelet therapy (20 patients, 15%). The use of cytoreductive and anti- platelet therapy was comparable in the ET and early-PMF cohorts. During follow-up, ET and early-PMF patients showed comparable incidences of thrombosis, hemorrhages, disease evolution into PET-MF or AL and death. However, a trend for a worse combined EFS at 15 years was noted in early-PMF patients (65.6% versus 80.9% in ET patients, P = 0.27).

	<i>ET</i> (n = 197)	Early-PMF ($n = 20$)	P-value
Male/female, no (male %)	64/133 (32%)	7/13 (35%)	0.80
Median age, years (range)	34 (16–40)	35 (22-40)	0.12
Median leukocyte, x10 ⁹ /l (range)	8.6 (4-19.6)	9.1 (3.2-31.4)	0.87
Median platelets, x10 ⁹ /l (range)	850 (467–2741)	876 (451–2513)	0.29
Median hemoglobin, g/dl (range)	14.2 (10.3-17.5)	14 (11–16.1)	0.60
Palpable splenomegaly, no. of patients (%)	33 (17%)	6 (30%)	0.06
Previous hemorrhages, no. of patients (%)	4 (2%)	0	1.00
Previous thrombosis, no. of patients (%)	16 (8%)	2 (10%)	0.67
Elevated lactate dehydrogenase, no. of patients (% on evaluable patients)	9/137 (6.5%)	9/16 (56%)	< 0.001
Cytogenetic abnormalities, no. of patients (% on evaluable patients)	5/143 (3.5%)	1/18 (5.5%)	0.51
Cardiovascular comorbidities, no. of patients (%)	105 (53%)	8 (40%)	0.34
JAK2V617F, no. of mutated patients (%)	124 (63%)	8 (40%)	0.055
CALR, no. of mutated patients (%)			
All mutations	47 (24%)	7 (35%)	0.28
Type 1 mutation	16 (34%)	5 (71%)	0.09
Type 2 mutation	23 (49%)	2 (29%)	0.43
'Minor' mutations	8 (17%)	0	0.57
MPL, no. of mutated patients (%)	3 (2%)	0	1.00
Triple negative, no. of mutated patients (%)	23 (12%)	5 (25%)	0.09
Cytoreductive therapy, no. of pts (%)	122 (61%)	10 (50%)	0.34
IPSET thrombosis, ³⁵ no. of patients (%)			
High	8 (4%)	0	1.00
Intermediate	68 (31%)	4 (20%)	0.31
Low	121 (61.5%)	16 (80%)	0.14
Thrombosis-free survival, % at 15 years (95% CI)	86.1% (80.7%–94.5%)	65.6% (43%-88.1%)	0.12
Hemorrhage-free survival, % at 15 years (95% CI)	93.6% (86.5%–97.8%)	88.9% (45%–98%)	0.69
Evolution-free survival, % at 15 years (95% Cl)	94.7% (87.5%–98%)	100%	0.46
OS, % at 15 years (95% CI)	99.3% (92.8%-100%)	100%	0.67
CombinedEFS, % at 15 years (95% CI)	80.9% (72%-87%)	65.6% (28%-88.5%)	0.27
Median follow-up, years (range)	10.3 (0.5–37.3)	7 (0.5–27.4)	0.06

survival; PMF, prefibrotic primary myelofibrosis; WHO, World Health Organization.

Disease phenotype according to mutational status

Among the 217 patients included in the analysis, mutational frequencies were 61% for $JAK2^{V617F}$, 25% for *CALR*, 1% for *MPL*W515K and 13% for triple negative.

Within the 54 *CALR*-mutant patients, 21 (39%) had the 52-bp deletion (c.1099_1150del52, L367fs*46, type 1 mutation), 25 (46%) had the 5-bp insertion (c.1154_1155insTTGTC, K385fs*47, type 2 mutation) and 8 (15%) carried other anomalies ('minor' mutations). Two (25%) of these 'minor' mutations were 46-bp deletions (p.L367fs*48: c.1100_1145del46; c.10944T,c.1100_1145del46), whereas one was a 48-bp deletion (c.1113_1160del48); in one patient, a non-type one 52-bp deletion was detected (c.1092_1142del52, p. E364fs*46).

The last four patients showed various substitution, deletions or insertions of few base pairs (c.1147_11544TGTC; c.1151_11544 TTTGTC; c.1129_11394CTCTGCCTCT; c.1129_11394CTCTGTC). 'Minor' mutations were detected only in ET patients. Table 2 provides the details of baseline clinical and laboratory features according to mutational status and WHO diagnosis. Given the low number of *MPL*-mutated patients, these three cases were omitted from the analysis. Compared with the $JAK2^{V617F}$ -mutant population, *CALR*-mutant patients had higher platelet count that was probably responsible for higher administration of cytoreductive therapy over the follow-up. In addition, *CALR*-mutant patients had lower baseline hemoglobin and hematocrit levels, and presented with a lower incidence of thrombosis before ET/early-PMF diagnosis.

	JAK2V617F-mutant (n = 132)	CALR-mutant (n-54)	P-value
Male/female, no. (male %)	45/87 (34%)	19/35 (35%)	1.00
Median age, years (range)	34 (16-40)	34 (16–40)	0.94
Median leukocyte, x10 ⁹ /l (range)	9.1 (3.2–19.6)	8.2 (4.8-17.7)	0.10
Median platelets (range)	812 (467-1540)	1105 (451-2741)	< 0.001
Platelets $> 1000 \times 10^9$ /l, no. of patients (%)	28 (21%)	29 (54%)	< 0.001
Median hematocrit, % (range)	44 (32–51)	41.8 (31.7–52)	0.001
Median hemoglobin, g/dl (range)	14.6 (10.3–17.5)	13.6 (11.4–15.8)	< 0.001
Palpable splenomegaly, no. of patients (%)	22 (17%)	12 (22%)	0.41
Elevated Lactate dehydrogenase, no. of patients (% on evaluable patients)	7/112 (6%)	11/41 (27%)	0.001
Previous hemorrhages, no. of patients (%)	2 (2%)	1 (2%)	0.58
Previous thrombosis, no. of patients (%)	15 (11%)	1 (2%)	0.04
Cardiovascular comorbidities, no. of patients (%)	73 (55%)	25 (46%)	0.33
Cytoreductive therapy, no. (%)	71 (54%)	43 (80%)	0.001
Antiplatelet therapies, no. (%)	106 (80%)	44 (81%)	1.00
IPSET thrombosis. ³⁵ no. (%)			
High	8 (6%)	0	0.10
Intermediate	72 (55%)	0	< 0.001
Low	52 (39%)	54 (100%)	< 0.001
Median follow-up, years (range)	10.9 (0.7–33.5)	9.8 (0.5–37.3)	0.91

Impact of mutation load on disease phenotype

A systematic comparison was performed between ET and early- PMF cohorts in relation to the allele burden of driver mutation (*CALR* or *JAK2*^{V617F}). Overall, median *JAK2*^{V617F} and *CALR* mutations allele burden were 21.5% (range: 0.5–97.1%) and 45% (range: 10–63%), respectively, (P < 0.001). Twenty out of 54 (37%) *CALR*-mutated patients and 13 out of 132 (10%) *JAK2*^{V617F}-mutated patients had an allele burden \geq 50% (P = 0.68). Notably, early-PMF patients showed a *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation load significantly higher than ET patients, with a median allele burden of 44.5% (versus 21% in ET patients, P<0.001), while *CALR* allele burden was comparable in the two cohorts (P = 0.19).

Consequently, no significant differences in allele burden of *CALR* and *JAK2* was detected in early-PMF patients (P = 0.74) (Figure 1). In addition, *CALR* mutation load was comparable across the different types of CALR mutations. Patients with a *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden \geq 50% showed significantly higher hemoglobin levels compared with patients with lower mutation load (P<0.001), while platelet and leukocyte count were comparable in the two cohorts. On the contrary, *CALR* mutation load did not influence hematological features at diagnosis.



Figure 1. Mutation load in WHO-defined ET and early-PMF patients. The box plot depicts the 10% and the 90% percentiles with median value; dots represent outside values. *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden was significantly higher in the early-PMF cohort compared with ET cohort. Median *CALR* allele burden was 40% for type 1 mutations, 47% for type 2 mutations and 48.5% for 'minor' mutations (P>0.05).

Cumulative risk of thrombosis and hemorrhages according to mutational status and allele burden

Overall, 22 patients (10%) experienced a total of 31 thrombotic events (arterial: 32%), with an incidence rate of 0.91% patients per year. Details concerning thrombotic events are reported in Table 3. The 10-year and 15-year cumulative incidence of thrombosis were respectively 11% and 21.7% in patients carrying $JAK2^{V617F}$, and 3.5% and 9.1% in those with *CALR* mutation (P = 0.042; Figure 2a). Moreover, patients with a $JAK2^{V617F}$ allele burden higher than 50% had a higher thrombotic risk compared with all other patients (the thrombosis-free survival at 15 years was 64.2% versus 97.3% in the other patients, P=0.009). No impact of *CALR* mutations allele burden on thrombotic risk was observed. In multivariate Cox analysis, previous thrombosis, male sex and $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation remained significant (P = 0.039, 0.025 and 0.05, respectively).

Twelve hemorrhagic events occurred in 11 patients (1 patient with early-PMF, 5%, and 10 patients with ET, 5%) with an incidence rate of 0.39% patients per year. The 10-year cumulative incidence of hemorrhages was 7.8% in patients carrying $JAK2^{V617F}$ and 5.2% in those with *CALR* mutations. No correlation was detectable.

Table 3. Thrombotic events occurred during follow	v-up			
	Thrombotic events			
No. of patients with events (%)	22 (10%)			
No. of events	31			
Site of thrombosis				
Arterial	10 (32%)			
lctus/transient ischemic attack	4 (13%)			
Acute myocardial infarction	4 (13%)			
Arterial peripheral	2 (7%)			
Venous	21 (68%)			
Deep vein thrombosis	10 (32%)			
Thrombophlebitis	6 (19%)			
Splanchnic vein thrombosis	5 (16%)			
Median leukocyte count at event, x10 ⁹ /l (range)	7.4 (3.5–20.2)			
Median platelet count at event, x10 ⁹ /l (range)	525 (360-1000)			
Cytoreductive therapy at the time of the event,	12 (55%)			
Antiplatelet therapy at the time of the event, p_0 of patients (%)	20 (91%)			
Median time from diagnosis to first thrombosis, years (range)	8.8 (0.2–16.2)			
Median time from first to second thrombosis, years (range)	3.5 (1–16)			
Six patients had more than one thrombotic event recurrent thrombosis were positive for the <i>JAK2</i> V617F first thrombosis, the 10 previously untreated patients tive treatment. In one case, the thrombosis was fata infarction).	:. All patients wit mutation. After th started a cytoreduc I (acute myocardia			

Disease evolution and second neoplasia according to mutational status and allele burden

After a median follow-up of 10.2 years, an evolution to MF was observed in 11 patients (5.5%) and to AL in 1 patient (0 5%). No progressions were observed in early-PMF patients. The overall cumulative incidence of disease progression into MF/AL was 3% and 13% at 15 and 20 years, respectively. The incidence rate was 0.43% patients per year. A relationship with the type of mutation, JAK2 or CALR, and with allele burden was not detectable. The 15-year cumulative incidence of disease evolution was 6.4% and 5.8% in JAK2^{V617F} and CALR-mutated, respectively (P=0.68). Interestingly, four of the eight patients carrying 'minor' CALR mutations, evolved to PET-MF/AL, while disease transformation was not observed in the 46 patients with type 1 or type 2 CALR mutations. In addition, 2 out of 6 patients with abnormal karyotype developed a PET-MF, while among the 155 patients with normal karyotype disease evolution was observed in 9 cases (P=0.04). Ten patients (4.6%) developed a second neoplasia, after a median time of 13 years from ET/early-PMF diagnosis, specifically: breast cancer (2), prostate cancer, colon-rectal cancer, tymoma, thyroid cancer (2), lung cancer, glioblastoma, nonmelanoma skin cancer. Considering the type of neoplasia, no increase of the risk was detectable. Moreover, all the patients survived the second neoplasia, that was not a cause of death.

OS and combined EFS according to mutation status

At last contact, six (2.7%) patients had died, at a median age of 61 years (range: 20– 71), for an OS of 98% at 15 years (Figure 2b). Causes of death were related to the myeloproliferative neoplasia in all patients but one (four patients died because of disease evolution into MF/AL, one patient because of acute myocardial infarction and one patient with uneventful and untreated ET died in a car accident). In multivariate analysis, only $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation was found as a negative predictor of survival.

The 15-year cumulative incidence of composite outcomes (thrombosis, bleeding, evolution to PET-MF/AL and death) were respectively 33% in patients carrying *JAK2*^{V617F} and 15.1% in those with *CALR* mutation (Figure 2c). *JAK2* and *CALR* mutations allele burden did not significantly influence OS or combined-EFS (P>0.05).

Characteristics and outcome of 'triple-negative' patients

A total of 28 patients were negative for *JAK2*^{V617F}, *MPL* and *CALR* mutations ('triple negative'). WHO diagnosis was early-PMF in 5 out of 28 patients (18%) and ET in 23 patients. Presenting clinical and hematological characteristics were fully comparable to those of *CALR*-mutated patients. With respect to the *JAK2*^{V617F}-positive patients, triple-negative patients displayed higher platelet count and lower hemoglobin levels at presentation. During a median follow-up of 9.7 years (range: 12–32.9), no cases of thrombosis, hemorrhages, disease evolution or death occurred in this cohort, for a combined EFS of 100%. In addition, no second solid neoplasia was registered.



Figure 2. Outcome measures according to mutational status of JAK2 and CALR. (a) At 15 years, thrombosis-free survival was 91.3% (95% confidence interval (CI): 76–96%) and 77.9% (95% CI: 66–84%) in *CALR*- and *JAK2*^{V617F}-mutated patients, respectively (P = 0.042)). (b) Overall survival at 20 years was 96% in *JAK2*^{V617F}-mutated patients and 100% in *CALR*-positive patients (P = 0.05). (c) Combined event-free survival (Combined-EFS) at 15 years was 86.3% (95% CI: 78–94%) for *CALR*-mutated patients and 69% (95% CI: 65–80%) for *JAK2*^{V617F}-positive patients (P = 0.02). *CALR*-mutated patients (n = 54): continuous line. *JAK2*^{V617F}-mutated patients (n = 132): dotted line.

DISCUSSION

It is recognized that an accurate distinction between ET and early- PMF according to WHO criteria carries significant prognostic implications; it is also acknowledged that an extended molecular evaluation provides further information.^{6,25–27} However, little data are available on selected cohorts of young individuals with an ET/early-PMF diagnosis.

We hereby report the molecular features, clinical findings and long-term outcome of a large series of patients with WHO-defined ET (n=197) or early-PMF (n=20), followed for a median time longer than 10 years and quantitatively evaluated for $JAK2^{V617F}$, *MPL* and *CALR* mutations. Presenting characteristics and frequency of mutations were comparable between ET and early-PMF cohort; however, the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation load was significantly higher in early-PMF patients. In addition, despite the relatively small number of early-PMF patients, which limits the statistical potency of the comparison, a clear trend for significance in combined-EFS was observed between ET and early-PMF (80.9% versus 65.6%, respectively).

CALR-mutated patients were significantly different from *JAK2*^{V617F}-mutated patients in terms of hematologic and clinical features. At presentation, *CALR*-positive patients were characterized by higher platelet count and lower hemoglobin levels, while no significant differences in hematological parameters were noted between ET and early-PMF carrying the same mutation. Despite the higher platelet count, the incidence of thrombosis was significantly lower in *CALR*-mutated compared with *JAK2*-positive patients. Although these data might reinforce the opinion that platelets have an ancillary role in the pathogenesis of thrombotic complications,^{28,29} the more frequent use of cytoreductive therapy in *CALR*-mutated patients may provide a contributory explanation.

In addition, mutation load was found to influence disease phenotype and outcome, as *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden higher than 50% identified patients with a more myeloproliferative disorder and significantly predicted higher risk of major thrombotic events. Notably, allele burden was higher for *CALR* mutations compared with *JAK2*^{V617F}. However, none of the *CALR*-positive patients had mutant allele burden higher than 75%. This observation confirms prior reports and underpins the hypothesis that *CALR*-positive diseases are characterized by the gradual growth of a heterozygous clone rather than by progressive acquisition of homozygosis,^{8,10} as demonstrated in the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation.³⁰

Despite the young age of the study cohort, 20 patients (9%) presented disease evolution or a second solid neoplasia (12 patients had overt MF/AL and 10 patients had a second solid neoplasia, with 2 patients experiencing both events). Although the time interval between ET/early-PMF diagnosis and these events was relatively long (median: 15.8 years; range: 3–35), in most cases patients were younger than 55 years at the time of the disease evolution/second cancer. The association of abnormal karyotype with disease evolution may reflect an underlying genome instability that favors the accumulation of genetic lesions and the development of additional neoplastic events.

Notably, *CALR* mutations other than type 1 and type 2 ('minor' mutations) seemed to correlate with higher probability of disease progression into overt MF/AL. Calreticulin has multiple physiological functions, mainly control of calcium homeostasis and glycoprotein folding, but also involving immune response, cellular adhesion and proliferation, phagocytosis and apoptosis.^{31,32} *CALR* mutants seem to result in enhanced JAK-STAT signaling so that a shared mechanism of pathogenesis of *JAK2* and *CALR* mutations seems plausible. However, the exact role of *CALR* mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms has still to be fully elucidated; to this regard, the present data point out the possibility that certain subtypes of *CALR* mutations could have an unfavorable prognostic role.^{33,34}

Despite presenting characteristics were comparable to *CALR*- mutated patients, in our study the outcome of triple-negative patients was remarkably favorable, with no registered event after a median follow-up of 10 years. Ongoing studies are aimed at identifying the molecular basis of ET/early-PMF with unmutated *JAK2, CALR* or *MPL*; however, the possibility that some of these patients may not have a clonal thrombocytosis cannot be excluded.

With the limitations due to the relatively low number of early- PMF patients, the present analysis shows that mutational frequencies are comparable in the two groups, although *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden is higher in early-PMF. The assessment of the molecular status is of utmost importance in these cohorts of patients, as both thrombosis and survival were significantly influenced by mutation type and burden. Finally, despite a low number of events throughout the follow-up, causes of death were mostly related to the hematological malignancy, pointing out the substantial impact that this generally indolent disease may acquire in young adults.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by BolognAIL, ELN, AIRC, progetto Regione-Università 2010-2012, FP7 and NGS-PTL Project.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FP designed the research, analyzed data and wrote the paper. RL, NP, AT, MC and BM collected the data and gave the final approval. MP and EO performed molecular analysis. NT performed cytogenetic analysis. FM, FA, GA, MC, GM, LC, MB and NV reviewed the paper and gave the final approval.

REFERENCES

1. Palandri F, Polverelli N, Ottaviani E, Castagnetti F, Baccarani M, Vianelli N. Long-term followup of essential thrombocythemia in young adults: treatment strategies, major thrombotic complications and pregnancy outcomes. A study of 76 patients. Haematologica 2010; 95: 1038–1040.

2. Millard FE, Hunter CS, Anderson M, Edelman MJ, Kosty MP, Luiken GA et al. Clinical manifestations of essential thrombocythemia in young adults. Am J Hematol 1990; 33: 27–31.

3. Giona F, Teofili L, Capodimonti S, Laurino M, Martini M, Marzella D et al. CALR mutations in patients with essential thrombocythemia diagnosed in child- hood and adolescence. Blood 2014; 123: 3677–3679.

4. Randi ML, Bertozzi I, Rumi E, Elena C, Finazzi G, Vianelli N et al. Pregnancy complications predict thrombotic events in young women with essential thrombocythemia. Am J Hematol 2014; 89: 306–309.

5. Harrison CN, Bareford D, Butt N, Campbell P, Conneally E, Drummond M et al. Guideline for investigation and management of adults and children presenting with a thrombocytosis. Br J Haematol 2010; 149: 352–375.

6. Barbui T, Thiele J, Carobbio A, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Randi ML et al. Disease characteristics and clinical outcome in young adults with essential thrombocythemia versus early/prefibrotic primary myelofibrosis. Blood 2012; 120: 569–571.

7. Nangalia J, Massie CE, Baxter EJ, Nice FL, Gundem G, Wedge DC et al. Somatic CALR mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms with nonmutated JAK2. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 2391–2405.

8. Klampfl T, Gisslinger H, Harutyunyan AS, Nivarthi H, Rumi E, Milosevic JD et al. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 2379–2390.

9. Chen CC, Gau JP, Chou HJ, You JY, Huang CE, Chen YY et al. Frequencies, clinical characteristics, and outcome of somatic CALR mutations in JAK2-unmutated essential thrombocythemia. Ann Hematol 2014; 93: 2029–2036.

10. Rumi E, Pietra D, Ferretti V, Klampfl T, Harutyunyan AS, Milosevic JD et al. JAK2 or CALR mutation status defines subtypes of essential thrombocythemia with substantially different clinical course and outcomes. Blood 2014; 123: 1544–1551.

11. Rotunno G, Mannarelli C, Guglielmelli P, Pacilli A, Pancrazzi A, Pieri L et al. Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro Gruppo Italiano Malattie Mielo- proliferative Investigators. Impact of calreticulin mutations on clinical and hematological phenotype and outcome in essential thrombocythemia. Blood 2014; 123: 1552–1555.

12. Andrikovics H, Krahling T, Balassa K, Halm G, Bors A, Koszarska M et al. Distinct clinical characteristics of myeloproliferative neoplasms with calreticulin mutations. Haematologica 2014; 99: 1184–1190.

13. Qiao C, Sun C, Ouyang Y, Wang JJ, Qian SX, Li JY et al. Clinical importance of different calreticulin gene mutation types in wild-type JAK2 essential thrombocythemia and myelofibrosis patients. Haematologica 2014; 99: e182–e184.

14. Tefferi A, Wassie EA, Lasho TL, Finke C, Belachew AA, Ketterling RP et al. Calreticulin mutations and long-term survival in essential thrombocythemia. Leukemia 2014; 28: 2300–2303.

15. Vardiman JW, Thiele J, Arber DA, Brunning RD, Borowitz MJ, Porwit A et al. The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. Blood 2009; 114: 937–951.

16. Tefferi A, Vardiman JW. Classification and diagnosis of myeloproliferative neoplasms: the 2008 World Health Organization criteria and point-of care diagnostic algorithms. Leukemia 2008; 22: 14–22.

17. Kvasnicka HM, Thiele J. Prodromal myeloproliferative neoplasms: the 2008 WHO classification. Am J Hematol 2010; 85: 62–69.

18. Marchioli R, Finazzi G, Specchia G, Cacciola R, Cavazzina R, Cilloni D et al. Cardiovascular events and intensity of treatment in polycythemia vera. N Engl J Med 2013; 368: 22–33.

19. Barosi G, Mesa RA, Thiele J, Cervantes F, Campbell PJ, Verstovsek S et al. Proposed criteria for the diagnosis of post-polycythemia vera and post-essential thrombocythemia myelofibrosis: a consensus statement from the International Working Group for Myelofibrosis Research and Treatment. Leukemia 2008; 22: 437–438.

20. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris L, Jaffe ES, Pileri SA, Stein H et al. WHO Classification of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues4th ednIARC: Lyon, 2008, 127–129.

21. Jovanovic JV, Ivey A, Vannucchi AM, Lippert E, Oppliger Leibundgut E, Cassinat B et al. Establishing optimal quantitative-polymerase chain reaction assays for routine diagnosis and tracking of minimal residual disease in JAK2-V617F- associated myeloproliferative neoplasms: a joint European LeukemiaNet/ MPN&MPNr-EuroNet (COST action BM0902) study. Leukemia 2013; 27: 2032–2039.

22. dos Santos MT, Mitne-Neto M, Miyashiro K, Chauffaille Mde L, Rizzatti EG. Molecular genetic tests for JAK2V617F, Exon12_JAK2 and MPLW515K/L are highly informative in the evaluation of patients suspected to have BCR-ABL1-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms. J Clin Pathol 2014; 67: 176–178.

23. Kohlmann A, Klein HU, Weissmann S, Bresolin S, Chaplin T, Cuppens H et al. The Interlaboratory RObustness of Next-generation sequencing (IRON) study: a deep sequencing investigation of TET2, CBL and KRAS mutations by an inter- national consortium involving 10 laboratories. Leukemia 2011; 25: 1840–1848.

24. Shaffer LG, Slovak ML, Campbell LJ. ISCN 2009: International System of Human Cytogenetic Nomenclature. Karger AG: Basel, Switzerland, 2009.

25. Barbui T, Thiele J, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Boveri E, Ruggeri M et al. Survival and disease progression in essential thrombocythemia are significantly influenced by accurate morphologic diagnosis: an international study. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 3179–3184.

26. Thiele J, Kvasnicka HM, Müllauer L, Buxhofer-Ausch V, Gisslinger B, Gisslinger H. Essential thrombocythemia versus early primary myelofibrosis: a multicenter study to validate the WHO classification. Blood 2011; 117: 5710–5718.

27. Carobbio A, Finazzi G, Thiele J, Kvasnicka HM, Passamonti F, Rumi E et al. Blood tests may predict early primary myelofibrosis in patients presenting with essential thrombocythemia. Am J Hematol 2012; 87: 203–204.

28. Carobbio A, Thiele J, Passamonti F, Rumi E, Ruggeri M, Rodeghiero F et al. Risk factors for arterial and venous thrombosis in WHO-defined essential thrombocythemia: an international study of 891 patients. Blood 2011; 117: 5857–5859.

29. Palandri F, Polverelli N, Catani L, Ottaviani E, Baccarani M, Vianelli N. Impact of leukocytosis on thrombotic risk and survival in 532 patients with essential thrombocythemia: a retrospective study. Ann Hematol 2011; 90: 933–938.

30. Godfrey AL, Chen E, Pagano F, Ortmann CA, Silber Y, Bellosillo B et al. JAK2V617F homozygosity arises commonly and recurrently in PV and ET, but PV is characterized by expansion of a dominant homozygous subclone. Blood 2012; 120: 2704–2707.

31. Gold LI, Eggleton P, Sweetwyne MT, Van Duyn LB, Greives MR, Naylor SM et al. Calreticulin: non-endoplasmic reticulum functions in physiology and disease. FASEB J 2010; 24: 665–683.

32. Caramelo JJ, Parodi AJ. Getting in and out from calnexin/calreticulin cycles. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 10221–10225.

33. Cabagnols X, Defour JP, Ugo V, Ianotto JC, Mossuz P, Mondet J et al. Differential association of calreticulin type 1 and type 2 mutations with myelofibrosis and essential thrombocytemia: relevance for disease evolution. Leukemia 2014; 29: 249–252.

34. Tefferi A, Wassie EA, Guglielmelli P, Gangat N, Belachew AA, Lasho TL et al. Type 1 versus type 2 calreticulin mutations in essential thrombocythemia: a collaborative study of 1027 patients. Am J Hematol 2014; 89: e121–e124.

35. Barbui T, Finazzi G, Carobbio A, Thiele J, Passamonti F, Rumi E et al. Development and validation of an International Prognostic Score of thrombosis in World Health Organization-essential thrombocythemia (IPSET-thrombosis). Blood 2012; 120: 5128–5133.

RESULT II

Published in Oncotarget

The relevance of a low *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden in clinical practice: a monocentric study

Margherita Perricone^{1,*}, Nicola Polverelli^{1,*}, Giovanni Martinelli¹, Lucia Catani¹, Emanuela Ottaviani¹, Elisa Zuffa¹, Eugenia Franchini¹, Arbana Dizdari¹, Dorian Forte¹, Elena Sabattini², Michele Cavo¹, Nicola Vianelli¹, Francesca Palandri¹

¹Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine, Institute of Hematology 'L. and A. Seràgnoli', University of Bologna, S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, Bologna, Italy

²Haematopathology Unit, Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine, S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, University of Bologna, Bologna

^{*}These authors contributed equally to this work

Correspondence to: francesca.palandri@unibo.it, margherita.perricon2@unibo.it

Keywords: JAK2, V617F mutation, allele burden, myeloproliferative neoplasms, MPN

ABSTRACT

Since low $JAK2^{V617F}$ allele burden (AB) has been detected also in healthy subjects, its clinical interpretation may be challenging in patients with chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs). We tested 1087 subjects for $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation on suspicion of hematological malignancy. Only 497 (45.7%) patients were positive. Here we present clinical and laboratory parameters of a cohort of 35/497 patients with an AB \leq 3%.

Overall, 22/35 (62.9%) received a WHO-defined diagnosis of MPN and in 14/35 cases (40%) diagnosis was supported by bone marrow (BM) histology ("Histology- based" diagnosis). In patients that were unable or refused to perform BM evaluation, diagnosis relied on prospective clinical observation (12 cases, 34.3%) and molecular monitoring (6 cases, 17.1%) ("Clinical-based" or "Molecular-based" diagnosis, respectively). In 11/35 (31.4%) patients, a low $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB was not conclusive of MPN. The probability to have a final hematological diagnosis (ET/PV/MF) was higher in patients with thrombocytosis than in patients with polyglobulia (73.7% vs 57.1%, respectively). The detection of AB \geq 0.8% always corresponded to an overt MPN phenotype. The repetition of $JAK2^{V617F}$ evaluation over time timely detected the spontaneous expansion (11 cases) or reduction (4 cases) of $JAK2^{V617F}$ -positive clones and significantly oriented the diagnostic process.

Our study confirms that histology is relevant to discriminate small foci of clonal hematopoiesis with uncertain clinical significance from a full blown disease. Remarkably, our data suggest that a cut-off of AB \geq 0.8% is very indicative for the presence of a MPN. Monitoring of the AB over time emerged as a convenient and non-invasive method to assess clonal hematopoiesis expansion.

INTRODUCTION

In 2008, the World Health Organization (WHO) classification indicated the positivity of the JAK2^{v617F} mutation as a major criterion for the diagnosis of chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs), specifically Essential Thrombocytemia (ET), Polycythemia Vera (PV) and Myelofibrosis (MF) [1-7]. The JAK2^{V617F} mutation is detected in around 50-60% of ET and MF patients and in most (95%) patients with PV [8,9]. Also, the JAK2V617F mutation may be found in other hematological malignancies. Infrequent occurrence of this unique JAK2 mutation has been reported in chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML), atypical or unclassified myeloproliferative disorder (MPD), myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), systemic mastocytosis (SM), and chronic neutrophilic leukemia (CNL) [10-16]. A JAK2^{V617F} allele burden (AB) above 50% identifies patients with a higher thrombotic risk, both in ET and in PV [17-22]. Conversely, a low AB seems to correlate with significantly shortened survival and leukemia-free survival in MF [23-25]. As a result, the determination of the mutation load is becoming a standard diagnostic procedure in most molecular laboratories, though WHO criteria do not specify a cut-off value for the diagnosis of a MPN. In the last years, the extensive and generalized use of molecular techniques with high sensitivity, specifically allele-specific Real-Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (RQ-PCR), has significantly increased our ability to detect small mutated clones, with AB below 1% [26-32]. Many recent studies have shown that a small clonal hematopoiesis may be present also in otherwise healthy subjects at low level (0.03-1%) [33-38]. Accordingly, a study of the Myeloproliferative Neoplasms and Related Disorders European Network (MPN&MPNr-EuroNet) on 36 subjects carrying low JAK2^{V617F} AB has further suggested that the detection of a small JAK2^{V617F}-mutated clone cannot represent a sufficient evidence to establish malignant myeloproliferation [39]. As a result, the clinical interpretation of a low AB of the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation may be challenging.

Here, we analyzed the results of $JAK2^{V_{617F}}$ molecular tests performed at our Hematology Department in subjects with a suspected hematological disease over a 2-year period.

Specifically, we analyzed clinical and laboratory data of patients with a suspected MPN that presented a low (\leq 3%) *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation burden, with the aim to define the frequency and the significance of a low AB in the everyday clinical management.

RESULTS

Study plan

We tested 1087 subjects for *JAK2*^{v617F} mutation due to clinical suspicion of hematological malignancy. A total of 716 (65.9%) out of 1087 tests were performed due to a suspect of classical MPN, including ET (299 cases, 41.8%), PV (272 cases, 38%), MF (133 cases, 18.6%) and MPN underling atypical splanchnic vein thrombosis (12 cases, 1.6%). The remaining 371 (34.1%) out of 1087 tests were performed on suspicion of Myeloproliferative Disease (MPDs; 23 cases) or other causes/not specified (348 cases) (data not shown).

Figure 1 depicts the study population and the study plan. Overall, 497 (45.7%) of the 1087 subjects that were tested for the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation resulted positive for the mutation.

A total of 455/497 (91.5%) patients had an AB >3% (IC 95%: 88.75-93.71, p =0.05): 52 (11.4%) were tested because of erythrocytosis, 186 (40.9%) because of thrombocytosis and 217 (47.7%) for other causes (specifically 94 suspicion of MF, 3 MPN underling atypical thrombosis and 120 others/not specified). Overall, the final diagnosis of these patients was: WHO-defined ET (91/186, 48.9%), probable ET (95/186, 51.1%), PV (26/52, 50%), probable PV (50%).

The remaining 42/497 (8.5%) patients had a low (0.1-3%, median 0.59%) AB (IC 95%; 0.62-1.15, p =0.05). In most cases (30 patients, 71.4%), AB was below 1%, while only 8 (28.6%) patients had an AB above 2%. Overall, the final diagnosis of these patients was: WHO-defined MPDs (7 cases), WHO-defined ET/PMF-0 (11/19, 57.9%), probable ET (3/19, 15.8%), reactive thrombocytosis (5/19, 26.3%), PV (8/14, 57.1%), secondary erythrocytosis (6/14, 42.9%).

Here we present clinical and laboratory parameters of this cohort of 42 patients with an AB \leq 3%.

Low AB patients suspected of MPD

By bone marrow (BM) histology, 7/42 (16.7%) patients had a confirmed diagnosis of a hematological disease that not included classical MPNs, specifically: refractory cytopenia with unilineage dysplasia (RCUD, 2 cases); refractory cytopenia with multilineage dysplasia (RCMD, 1 case); refractory anemia with excess blasts-1 (RAEB-1, 1 case); MDS with isolated del(5q) (1 case); chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML, 2 cases). Median AB of these patients was 0.46% (range, 0.12-2.79%). No additional mutations in *JAK2* exon 14, *CALR* and *MPL* genes were detected in these 7 patients.



Figure 1: Schematic representation of the study population and the study plan. ET: Essential Thrombocythemia; PV: Polycythemia Vera; MF: primary Myelofibrosis; MPN NOS: Myeloproliferative Neoplasm Not Otherwise Specified; MPDs: Myeloproliferative Diseases.

Low AB patients suspected of MPN

Diagnostic workflow of the 35/42 patients with low AB and referred to our Institutions with a suspicion of classical MPNs is shown in Figure 2. Specifically, 19 patients were evaluated for suspected ET, 14 for probable PV, 1 for probable MF and 1 for MPN underling atypical thrombosis. Consequently, they were prospectively followed over time with clinical/laboratory data. In 2/35 cases, BM biopsy confirmed the suspect of a primary MF or MPN not otherwise specified (NOS) in one subject tested after a splanchnic vein thrombosis.

Prospective molecular monitoring was performed in 15/35 low AB patients at a 12month follow-up A significant increase of $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB over time was observed in 11 cases (p <0.05). Indeed, the median value of $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB at diagnosis and during follow-up was 0.49% (range, 0.12-2.98) and 1.3% (range, 0.28-9.2), respectively. In the remaining 4 cases, a slight decrease of $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB over time was registered (Figure 3).



Figure 2: Diagnostic work ow of patients with suspected MPN and low *JAK2*^{V617F} **allele burden.** *Main hematological abnormality motivating the *JAK2*^{V617F} evaluation. "Histology-based" diagnosis was made when BM histology was available. In patients that were unable or refused to perform BM evaluation, prospective clinical observation and prospective molecular monitoring were crucial to direct diagnostic uncertainty, allowing to define a "Clinical based" or "Molecular based" diagnosis, respectively.



Figure 3: *JAK2*^{V617F} **allele burden over time in patients with suspected Essential Thrombocytemia and Polycythemia Vera.** Fifteen patients received the second evaluation of *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden after a period of 12 months from the first mutational test. Dark red line: final diagnosis of PV. Light red line: final diagnosis of secondary polyglobulia. Dark blue line: final diagnosis of ET. Light blue line: final diagnosis of secondary thrombocytosis.

Among the 19/35 (54.3%) subjects with low AB that received *JAK2*^{V617F} evaluation for thrombocytosis, 14 (73.7%) patients finally had a clinical diagnosis of MPN (Table 1). In 10 cases, the diagnosis was confirmed by BM histology (patients T1-T8, T10 and T12). In one case, an additional Type 1 *CALR* mutation was detected with an AB of 42% (patient T9). Conversely, three additional patients refused or were unable to perform BM biopsy, therefore were classified as "Probable ET" because presented a persistent thrombocytosis in absence of other causes (patients T11,T13-T14). In two of these patients (T11 and T14), *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation load was reassessed after a 12-month follow-up and an increased AB was observed, corroborating the diagnosis of MPN (Table 1 and Figure 3); in the remaining case (T13), prospective molecular evaluation was not performed because cytoreductive therapy was already ongoing. Indeed, despite the absence of BM biopsy, cytoreductive therapy was administered according

to standard criteria for treatment start (e.g.: age>60 years and/or previous thrombosis and/or massive thrombocytosis). In the remaining 5 patients (patients T15-T19), thrombocytosis was transitory and was finally considered as secondary to an inflammatory disease (erysipelas, 1 case; rheumatoid arthritis, 2 cases) or to iron deficiency (2 cases). In two of these cases, BM biopsy excluded a hematological disease (patients T18 and T19). Accordingly, a decrease of AB was observed at second evaluation in patients T17 and T18.

The 14 patients with a final diagnosis of MPN (including WHO-defined ET and "probable ET") showed higher hemoglobin level (median (range): 13.6 (10.9-16.2) vs 10.3 (7.2-12.1) g/dl) and lower leukocyte count (median (range): 7.4 (4.2-13.3) vs 11.3 (8.2-21) x109/l) compared to the 5 patients with reactive thrombocytosis (p <0.001 and p =0.05, respectively). Conversely, platelet count was similar in the two groups (median (range): 650 (161-1000) vs 587 (490-701) x109/l; p =N.S.) (data not shown). The mutation load was significantly higher in MPN patients than in subjects finally diagnosed with reactive thrombocytosis (median (range): 1.18 (0.15-2.98) vs 0.34 (0.12-0.61) %; p =0.02). Overall, no patient with reactive thrombocytosis showed an AB \ge 0.64% (Table 1).

Among the 14/35 (40.0%) patients with low AB that performed mutational analysis due to erythrocytosis, 8 (57.1%) had a final diagnosis of MPN (Table 2). PV diagnosis was sustained by absence of other causes of polyglobulia, $JAK2^{V617F}$ positivity and reduced baseline erythropoietin (EPO) levels (patients E1-E8). In patients E1-E3 and E6-E8, the diagnosis was also confirmed by the detection of an increased $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB at a 12-month molecular follow-up. In the remaining 6 cases, the hematological abnormality was finally classified as secondary erythrocytosis (patients E9-E14) due to kidney cancer with increased endogenous EPO levels (patient E9) and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD, 5 patients: E10-E14). In two of these patients, the diagnosis was supported by a decrease in the $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB over time (patients E13 and E14) (Table 2 and Figure 3). In the majority of these patients with diagnosis of secondary erythrocytosis, phlebotomy and/or aspirin were administered after consideration of the causes of polyglobulia and the overall thrombotic risk of the patients [40-42]. No additional mutations were found in none of the patients investigated for erythrocytosis.

The 8 patients with a diagnosis of PV showed higher hemoglobin level compared to the 6 patients with secondary polyglobulia (median (range): 18.8 (17.4-20.1) vs 16.9 (16.2-19.7) g/dl; p =0.04), but presented comparable leucocyte (median (range): 7.3 (5.4-10.9) vs 6.2 (4.5-

9.4) x109/l; p =N.S.) and platelet counts (median (range): 250 (186-703) vs 235 (166-283) x109/l; p =N.S.) (data not shown). Median $JAK2^{v617F}$ AB was also similar in the two groups (median (range): 0.42 (0.16-2.25) vs 0.49 (0.12-0.74) %; p =N.S.). Nonetheless, 75% of PV patients carried a mutation load above the median value of 0.44% (vs 16.7% in patients with secondary erythrocytosis, p =0.03) (Table 2).

As expected, low AB patients investigated for a suspected PV showed significantly higher median hemoglobin levels (median (range): 18.2 (16.2-20.1) *vs* 12.9 (7.2-16.2) g/dl; p <0.001) and lower median platelet count (median (range): 238 (166-703) *vs* 638 (161-1000) x109/l; p <0.001) compared to patients with suspected ET (data not shown). Conversely, median *JAK2*^{v617F} burden was similar in the two cohorts both considering all evaluated patients (median (range): 0.44 (0.12-2.25) *vs* 0.64 (0.12-2.98) %; p =N.S.) and only patients with final diagnosis of PV and ET/early-PMF/MPN NOS/probable ET (median (range): 1.18 (0.16-2.25) *vs* 0.42 (0.15-2.98) %; p =N.S.) (Table 1 and 2).

Overall, in 11 out of 35 (31.4%) patients the detection of a low JAK2^{V617F} AB was considered insufficient to make a diagnosis of MPN (Figure 2). In 6 cases, the exclusion of MPN relied only on clinical monitoring over time, with the observation that the hematological abnormalities were transient and dependent on other contributing factors. In 2 cases BM histology revealed no signs of MPNs (patients T18 and T19), and in 3 additional patients the JAK2^{V617F} mutation load spontaneously decreased over time (patients T17, E13 and E14). The probability to have a final hematological diagnosis was higher in patients tested for thrombocytosis who received a diagnosis of ET/early-PMF in 73.7% of the cases (vs 57.1% of patients with polyglobulia finally diagnosed with PV). In the former cohort, BM biopsy was fundamental for diagnosis in 62.9% of the cases; also, the detection of a concomitant CALR mutation was decisive in confirming ET diagnosis in one patient. Conversely, in patients tested for polyglobulia BM biopsy was never performed, thus limiting the diagnostic accuracy. However, in 15 cases the repetition of the JAK2^{V617F} mutation load over time was of remarkable help in the diagnostic process. Nonetheless, in the low AB cohort, the probability to carry a hematological disease directly correlated with a higher mutation load, since all patients with a JAK2^{V617F} AB >0.8% were finally diagnosed with a MPN. In order to exclude under-estimation of the JAK2^{V617F} AB caused by hampering correct primer or probe annealing, additional mutations in JAK2 exon 14 were investigated; however, they were not detected in any patient.

Finally, regarding clinical outcome, the frequency of thrombosis was not significantly different according to $JAK2^{v_{617F}}$ AB, in both ET and PV. In addition, when we analyzed the distribution of low and high AB patients according to risk categories, we did not find any significant correlation between the two parameters (data not shown).

Patient	Age, gender	Prior Thrombosis (Y/N)	Pit count II III IIIII)	BM histology	JAK2 ^{V&17F} AB, % 1st evaluation	JAK2 ^{V617F} AB, % 2nd evaluation	CALR	Fulfiled 2008 WHO diagnostic criteria (Y/N)	Final diagnosis	Therapy	Status at last follow- up
T1	20, F	Ν	Y	Y	0.12	0.36	WT	Y	ET	IFN	PLT < 400
T2	46, M	Y	Y	Y	0.79	-	WT	Y	ET	IFN	PLT < 400
T3	33, F	Ν	Y	Y	0.20	1.46	WT	Y	ET	-	PLT < 1000
T4	25, F	Ν	Y	Y	2.37	-	WT	Y	ET	ASA	PLT <1000
T5	62, M	Y	Y	Y	2.98	7.38	WT	Y	ET	HU, ASA	PLT < 600
T6	17, M	Ν	Y	Y	3.00	-	WT	Y	ET	-	PLT <1000
T7	50, F	Ν	Y	Y	0.43	-	WT	Y	Early-PMF	IFN	PLT < 400
Т8	31, M	Ν	Y	Y	2.36	-	WT	Y	Early-PMF	IFN	PLT < 400
Т9	46, M	Ν	Y	N.A.	0.56	-	Type1 (42%)	N (absence of BM biopsy)	ET	HU	PLT < 600
T10	38, F	Ν	Y	Y	0.41	-	WT	Y	ET	HU	PLT < 1000
T11	57, F	Ν	Y	N.A.	0.64	1.63	WT	N (absence of BM biopsy)	Probable ET	ASA	PLT < 1000
T12	66, M	Ν	Y	Y	1.05	-	WT	Y	ET	HU, ASA	PLT < 600
T13	71, F	Ν	Y	N.A.	1.56	-	WT	N (absence of BM biopsy)	Probable ET	ASA	PLT < 400
T14	91, F	Y	Y	N.A.	2.38	9.20	WT	N (absence of BM biopsy)	Probable ET	HU, ASA	PLT <400
T15	72, F	Y	Y	N.A.	0.32	-	WT	N (absence of BM biopsy, evidence of reactive thrombocytosis)	Reactive (reumatoid arthritis)	-	PLT < 600
T16	81, M	Ν	Y	N.A.	0.34	-	WT	N (absence of BM biopsy, evidence of reactive thrombocytosis)	Reactive (reumatoid arthritis)	-	PLT < 600
T17	43, F	Ν	Y	N.A.	0.59	0.50	WT	N (absence of BM biopsy, evidence of reactive thrombocytosis)	Reactive (iron deficency)	IRON THERAPY	PLT < 400
T18	25, F	Ν	Y	Y (normal)	0.12	WT	WT	N (normal BM histology, evidence of reactive thrombocytosis)	Reactive (erysipelas)	-	PLT < 400
T19	35, F	Ν	Y	Y (normal)	0.61	-	WT	N (normal BM histology, evidence of reactive thrombocytosis)	Reactive (iron deficency)		PLT < 600

Table 1. Main baseline characteristics and clinical outcome of patients investigated for thrombocytosis. Patients with persistent thrombocytosis in absence of other causes that did not perform BM biopsy for histological confirmation were classified as "Probable ET". PLT: platelet (x10⁹/l); BM: bone marrow; N.A.: not available; ET: Essential Thrombocythemia; Early-PMF: early-primary myelofibrosis; WT: wild-type; HU: hydroxyurea; IFN: interferon-alpha; ASA: low-dose aspirin. Patient 19 had received splenectomy for a previous diagnosis of immune thrombocytopenia. Only in 5 cases, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was elevated. No patients had splenomegaly.

Patient	Age, gender	Prior Thrombosis (Y/N)	Hb ≥ 18.5 g/dl (males) or Hb ≥ 16.5 g/dl (females) (Y/N)	JAK2 ^{V6177} AB, % Ist evaluation	JAK2 ^{V0177} AB, % 2nd evaluation	Reduced EPO levels	Fulfilled 2008 WHO diagnostic criteria (Y/N)	Final diagnosis	Therapy	Status at last follow-up
E1	54, M	Ν	Υ	0.15	2.25	Y	Y	PV	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 45%
E2	63, M	Ν	Υ	0.16	0.28	Υ	Y	PV	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 45%
E3	58, M	Υ	Υ	0.34	0.50	Υ	Y	PV	NONE	Het control < 45%
E4	50, M	Υ	Y	0.16	-	Y	Υ	PV	HU, ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 45%
E5	70, M	Ν	Y	2.23		Υ	Υ	PV	HU, ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 45%, PLT< 600
E6	81, M	Y	Ν	1.20	1.30	Y	No (Hb ≤ 18.5)	PV	HU, ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 45%
E7	65, M	Ν	Ν	0.86	1.00	Y	$\label{eq:ho} \begin{array}{c} No \\ (Hb \leq 18.5 \mbox{ \& EPO levels not available}) \end{array}$	PV	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Het control < 45%
E8	41, M	Y	Ν	0.49	0.82	Υ	No (Hb ≤ 18.5 & EPO levels not available)	PV	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 45%
E9	59, M	Ν	Υ	0.12	-	Ν	No (increased EPO levels)	Secondary (kidney carcinoma)	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Deceased (kidney carcinoma)
E10	67, M	Υ	Ν	0.16	-	Ν	No (Hb ≤ 18.5 & normal EPO levels)	Secondary (COPD)	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 48%
E11	54, M	Υ	Ν	0.39	-	N.A.	No (Hb ≤ 18.5 & EPO levels not available)	Secondary (COPD)	PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 48%
E12	82, F	Ν	Ν	0.74	-	N.A.	No (Hb ≤ 18.5 & EPO levels not available)	Secondary (COPD)	NONE	Hct control < 48%
E13	77, M	Υ	Ν	0.59	0.30	Ν	No (Hb ≤ 18.5 & normal EPO levels)	Secondary (COPD)	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 48%
E14	72, M	Ν	Ν	0.72	0.40	Ν	$\label{eq:ho} \begin{array}{c} No \\ (Hb \leq 18.5 \mbox{ \& normal EPO levels}) \end{array}$	Secondary (COPD)	ASA, PHLEBOTOMY	Hct control < 48%

Table 2. Main baseline characteristics and clinical outcome of patients investigated for **erythrocytosis.** Hb: hemoglobin (g/dl); Hct: hematocrit; N.A.: not available; HU: hydroxyurea; ASA: low-dose aspirin; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

DISCUSSION

The present study investigated the role of a low *JAK2*^{V617F} AB in a cohort of subjects that received the molecular test in the suspect of MPN. All mutational studies were performed according to international recommendations over a 1-year period and patients were homogeneously followed at a single Institution. BM histology was always decisive to direct diagnosis. When histology was unavailable, molecular monitoring together with clinical observation were utmost importance.

Among the 42 patients with low (0.1-3%) *JAK2*^{v617F} AB, 7 had a confirmed diagnosis of non-classical MPNs by BM histology, 11 were classified as reactive hematological abnormalities due to the presence of additional causes of thrombocytosis (5 cases) or polyglobulia (6 cases) whereas 24 received a diagnosis of classical MPNs. *JAK2*^{v617F} mutation represents a non-driver and subclonal event in non-classical MPNs, occurring most frequently with low mutation burden [11]. As a consequence, the percentage of subjects with an AB \leq 3 that were finally diagnosed as MPDs was higher (7/23, 30.4%) compared to MPNs 24/716 (3.3%).
Also, the present study demonstrates that within low AB patients a higher mutation load is associated with a higher probability to receive a hematological diagnosis, with an AB ≥0.8% always corresponding to an overt MPN phenotype. Moreover, while higher hemoglobin levels significantly correlated with a diagnosis of WHO-defined PV, platelet count was similar in patients with or without a final diagnosis of ET/early-PMF, and was therefore not indicative per se of a hematological disorder. Another interesting observation is that histology, when performed, was diagnostic for a full-blown disease regardless of the JAK2^{V617F} AB. This not only further confirms the central role of histology in MPN diagnosis, distinguishing true MPNs by small foci of clonal hematopoiesis that are not of clinical significance, but also indicate that the morphologic pattern is not strictly driven by the molecular aberrancy. As a result, evaluation of BM histology could be useful especially for patients with a suspicion of PV and an AB below 0.8% to confirm MPNs diagnosis. Accordingly, revised WHO classifications for myeloproliferative neoplasm indicated BM morphology as one of three major diagnostic criteria, also in PV [43]. Nonetheless, BM biopsy is not feasible in all patients, because of older age and/or patients' refusal; also, the material may result inadequate for a correct histology evaluation. In these cases, the repetition of the molecular test over time timely detected the spontaneous expansion (11 cases) or reduction (4 cases) of the JAK2^{V617F} -positive clones and significantly oriented the diagnostic process. Finally, the co-existence of additional CALR/MPL or JAK2 exon 14 and exon 12 mutations was routinely excluded in all cases of thrombocytosis or polyglobulia, respectively, that present with a low JAK2^{V617F} AB [44]. Accordingly, many recent studies have demonstrated that CALR and MPL mutations may co-exist with JAK2 mutations in chronic MPNs/MDS [45,46].

From the biological point of view, our clinical results seem to sustain the hypothesis that a low *JAK2*^{V617F} AB reflects the presence of a small mutated clone within an overall polyclonal hematopoiesis. Indeed, it was recently demonstrated that patients with early stage hematological malignancy may harbor distinct clones, and that such clones may arise independently [47]. Alternatively, we can also draw the assumption that, depending on whether the oncogenic hit marks the stem or the progenitor's compartments, the mutation load might be more or less enlarged. In any case, this mutational event represents an early molecular onset and is probably not sufficient per se to induce the malignant MPN phenotype. Consequently, the detection of low AB in one single occasion is likely not appropriate to determine the diagnosis. Therefore, the molecular monitoring over time may allow knowing

whether this is a temporary clone (a condition which is likely to occur in healthy subjects) or may expand and give origin to the disease.

In conclusion, our results highlight that the detection of a $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation at low levels is difficult to be interpreted in everyday clinical practice, since not all positive patients received a hematological diagnosis. However, all patients with an AB $\geq 0.8\%$ finally received a diagnosis of MPN; therefore, a mutation load above this cut-off may be considered very indicative for the presence of a myeloproliferative disease. Additionally, the study identified the prospective evaluation of $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation load as a convenient and non-invasive method to evaluate patients with small mutated clones in order to timely detect the expansion of clonal hematopoiesis and diagnose a full blown disease. The study should require validation in larger cohorts of patients prospectively examined with standardized molecular methods.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

Between January 2013 and January 2015, 1087 $JAK2^{v617F}$ mutational studies were performed at the Institute of Hematology "L. e A. Seràgnoli", Bologna. The clinical suspicions that motivated the request for $JAK2^{v617F}$ evaluation were: essential thrombocytemia (ET) (299 cases, 27.5%); polycythemia vera (PV) (272 cases, 25.1%); myelodysplasia (MDS) (23 cases, 2.1%); atypical thrombosis (12 cases, 1.1%); myelofibrosis (MF) (133 cases, 12.2%); others/not specified (348 cases, 32.0%) (Figure 1). Clinical and laboratory data of patients with a suspected ET, PV or MF and an allele burden \leq 3% were prospectively monitored for 1 year. All patients provided an informed written consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki for the use of remnant DNA for investigational purposes. The study was approved by the local Ethics Committee.

Patient samples

Polymorphonuclear cells were isolated from peripheral blood samples by density centrifugation with Polymorphoprep (Axis-Shield, Scotland) [48-50]. Genomic DNA was extracted using the QIAamp DNA Blood Mini kit (QIAGEN-Werfen) on QIAcube (QIAGEN GmbH, Hilden, Germany) and was quantified with the NanoDrop spectrophotometer (Wilmington, DE, USA).

Molecular evaluations

Molecular analyses were assessed at diagnosis or before treatment start on DNA obtained from granulocytes. When clinical, laboratory and/or histological data were not decisive for the diagnosis of MPN, mutational status was prospectively evaluated at a 12month interval. A second JAK2^{V617F} molecular test was not performed in patients that had already started cytoreductive therapy due to high thrombotic risk. JAK2^{V617F} mutation was evaluated with ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant Kit, which is based on allele specific real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) technology on 7900 HT Fast Real Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem) [21]. The percentage of mutant JAK2^{V617F} allele was expressed as the ratio of JAK2^{V617F} copies to total copy number (CN) of JAK2 (CN of JAK2^{V617F} + CN of JAK2 wild type). Even if the lower detection limit (LOD) of the assay was 0.01% (See Supplemental File), we identified the 0.1% as cut-off of positivity as also suggested by several studies [23-24, 27-29]. All samples were tested in duplicate with both gPCR and also with digital PCR (ddPCR) to confirm the evaluation [51-52] (See Supplemental File). In addition to JAK2^{V617F} mutation, CALR and MPL mutations were screened for all patients to obtain a comprehensive molecular characterization and to exclude the co-existence of additional mutations [44-46, 53-54]. CALR exon 9 sequencing was performed by Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) approach with GS Junior (Roche 454 platform); analysis was carried out with AVA software (GRCh38 as references). CALR mutations identified by NGS were confirmed by Sanger sequencing. MPL mutations were investigated by ipsogen MPLW515K/L MutaScreen Kit and by Sanger sequencing (for MPLS505N and other secondary exon 10 mutations), as previously described [55]. Additional masking mutations in JAK2 exon 14 were investigated by Sanger sequencing [39]. In case of clinical suspicion of PV, JAK2 exon 12 mutations were also tested by Denaturing High Pressure Liquid Chromatography (DHPLC) and confirmed by Sanger sequencing [55-58]. Diagnoses of all hematological diseases were made according to the WHO2008 criteria [1].

Statistical methods

Numerical variables have been summarized by their median and range, and categorical variables by count and relative frequency (%) of each category. Comparisons of quantitative variables between groups of patients were carried out by the nonparametric Wilcoxon rank-sum test. Association between categorical variables (2-way tables) was tested by the Fisher

exact test or χ^2 , as appropriate. All p values were two-sided and statistical significance was defined as p <0.05. All statistical analyses were computed with SPSS software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

F.P., M.P., N.P., G.M. designed the study and wrote the paper. L.C., D.F., G.S., C.P., M.C., N.V. contributed to the data collection and interpretation. M.P., E.O., E.Z., E.F. performed molecular evaluations. E.S. performed bone marrow analysis. All Authors revised the manuscript critically, and gave final approval to submit for publication.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

There is no conflict of interest.

FUNDING

The research leading to these results has received funding from BolognAIL, from the European Union Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013) under Grant Agreement n° 306242-NGS-PTL and from Progetto Regione–Università 2012-2012 (L. Bolondi). GM is supported by RFO 2015. FP is supported by RFO 2015. MP is supported by Unibo.

REFERENCES

- Tefferi A, Vardiman JW. Classification and diagnosis of myeloproliferative neoplasms: the 2008 World Health Organization criteria and point-of-care diagnostic algorithms. Leukemia. 2008;22:14-22. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404955.
- Wang YL, Vandris K, Jones A, Cross NC, Christos P, Adriano F, Silver RT. JAK2 Mutations are present in all cases of polycythemia vera. Leukemia. 2008 Jun;22(6):1289. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2405047.
- Lippert E, Boissinot M, Kralovics R, Girodon F, Dobo I, Praloran V, Boiret-Dupré N, Skoda RC, Hermouet S. The JAK2-V617F mutation is frequently present at diagnosis in patients with essential thrombocythemia and polycythemia vera. Blood. 2006 Sep 15;108(6):1865-7. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-01-013540.
- Tiedt R, Hao-Shen H, Sobas MA, Looser R, Dirnhofer S, Schwaller J, Skoda RC. Ratio of mutant JAK2-V617F to wild-type Jak2 determines the MPD phenotypes in transgenic mice. Blood. 2008 Apr 15;111(8):3931-40. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-08-107748.
- Levine RL. JAK2V617F: you can't have too much. Blood. 2008 Apr 15;111(8):3913. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-01-133322.
- 6. Scott LM, Campbell PJ, Baxter EJ, Todd T, Stephens P, Edkins S, Wooster R, Stratton MR, Futreal PA, Green AR. The V617F JAK2 mutation is uncommon in cancers and in myeloid malignancies

other than the classic myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2005 Oct 15;106(8):2920-1. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-05-2087.

- Steensma DP, Dewald GW, Lasho TL, Powell HL, McClure RF, Levine RL, Gilliland DG, Tefferi A. The JAK2 V617F activating tyrosine kinase mutation is an infrequent event in both "atypical" myeloproliferative disorders and myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2005 Aug 15;106(4):1207-9. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-03-1183.
- 8. Nangalia J, Massie CE, Baxter EJ, Nice FL, Gundem G, Wedge DC, Avezov E, Li J, Kollmann K, Kent DG, Aziz A, Godfrey AL, Hinton J, Martincorena I, Van Loo P, Jones AV, Guglielmelli P, Tarpey P, Harding HP, Fitzpatrick JD, Goudie CT, Ortmann CA, Loughran SJ, Raine K, Jones DR, Butler AP, Teague JW, O'Meara S, McLaren S, Bianchi M, Silber Y, Dimitropoulou D, Bloxham D, Mudie L, Maddison M, Robinson B, Keohane C, Maclean C, Hill K, Orchard K, Tauro S, Du MQ, Greaves M, Bowen D, Huntly BJ, Harrison CN, Cross NC, Ron D, Vannucchi AM, Papaemmanuil E, Campbell PJ, Green AR. Somatic CALR mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms with nonmutated JAK2. N Engl J Med. 2013 Dec 19;369(25):2391-405. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1312542.
- Klampfl T(1), Gisslinger H, Harutyunyan AS, Nivarthi H, Rumi E, Milosevic JD, Them NC, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Pietra D, Chen D, Vladimer GI, Bagienski K, Milanesi C, Casetti IC, Sant'Antonio E, Ferretti V, Elena C, Schischlik F, Cleary C, Six M, Schalling M, Schönegger A, Bock C, Malcovati L, Pascutto C, Superti-Furga G, Cazzola M, Kralovics R. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 2013 Dec 19;369(25):2379-90. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1311347.
- Jelinek J, Oki Y, Gharibyan V, Bueso-Ramos C, Prchal JT, Verstovsek S, Beran M, Estey E, Kantarjian HM, Issa JP. JAK2 mutation 1849G>T is rare in acute leukemias but can be found in CMML, Philadelphia chromosome-negative CML, and megakaryocytic leukemia. Blood. 2005 Nov 15;106(10):3370-3.
- Steensma DP, Dewald GW, Lasho TL, Powell HL, McClure RF, Levine RL, Gilliland DG, Tefferi A. The JAK2 V617F activating tyrosine kinase mutation is an infrequent event in both "atypical" myeloproliferative disorders and myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2005 Aug 15;106(4):1207-9.
- Jones AV, Kreil S, Zoi K, Waghorn K, Curtis C, Zhang L, Score J, Seear R, Chase AJ, Grand FH, White H, Zoi C, Loukopoulos D, Terpos E, Vervessou EC, Schultheis B, Emig M, Ernst T, Lengfelder E, Hehlmann R, Hochhaus A, Oscier D,Silver RT, Reiter A, Cross NC. Widespread occurrence of the JAK2 V617F mutation in chronic myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2005 Sep 15;106(6):2162-8.

- Boissinot M, Garand R, Hamidou M, Hermouet S. The JAK2-V617F mutation and essential thrombocythemia features in a subset of patients with refractory anemia with ring sideroblasts (RARS). Blood. 2006 Sep 1;108(5):1781-2.
- 14. Ohyashiki K, Aota Y, Akahane D, Gotoh A, Miyazawa K, Kimura Y, Ohyashiki JH. The JAK2 V617F tyrosine kinase mutation in myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) developing myelofibrosis indicates the myeloproliferative nature in a subset of MDS patients. Leukemia. 2005 Dec;19(12):2359-60.
- 15. Boissinot M, Lippert E, Girodon F, Dobo I, Fouassier M, Masliah C, Praloran V, Hermouet S. Latent myeloproliferative disorder revealed by the JAK2-V617F mutation and endogenous megakaryocytic colonies in patients with splanchnic vein thrombosis. Blood. 2006 Nov 1;108(9):3223-4.
- 16. Wang SA, Hasserjian RP, Loew JM, Sechman EV, Jones D, Hao S, Liu Q, Zhao W, Mehdi M, Galili N, Woda B, Raza A. Refractory anemia with ringed sideroblasts associated with marked thrombocytosis harbors JAK2 mutation and shows overlapping myeloproliferative and myelodysplastic features. Leukemia. 2006 Sep;20(9):1641-4.
- Zhao S, Zhang X, Xu Y, Feng Y, Sheng W, Cen J, Wu D, Han Y. Impact of JAK2V617F Mutation Burden on Disease Phenotype in Chinese Patients with JAK2V617F-positive Polycythemia Vera (PV) and Essential thrombocythemia (ET). Int J Med Sci. 2016 Jan 25;13(1):85-91. doi: 10.7150/ijms.10539. PubMed PMID: 26917989; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4747874.
- Vannucchi AM, Antonioli E, Guglielmelli P, Rambaldi A, Barosi G, Marchioli R, Marfisi RM, Finazzi G, Guerini V, Fabris F, Randi ML, De Stefano V, Caberlon S, Tafuri A, Ruggeri M, Specchia G, Liso V, Rossi E, Pogliani E, Gugliotta L, Bosi A, Barbui T. Clinical profile of homozygous JAK2 617V>F mutation in patients with polycythemia vera or essential thrombocythemia. Blood. 2007 Aug 1;110(3):840-6. PubMed PMID: 17379742.
- 19. Antonioli E, Guglielmelli P, Poli G, et al. Influence of JAK2V617F allele burden on phenotype in essential thrombocythemia. Haematologica 2008;93:41-48.
- 20. Lussana F, Caberlon S, Pagani C, et al. Association of V617F Jak2 mutation with the risk of thrombosis among patients with essential thrombocythaemia or idiopathic myelofibrosis: a systematic review. Thrombosis research 2009;124:409-417.
- 21. De Stefano V, Za T, Rossi E, et al. Recurrent thrombosis in patients with polycythemia vera and essential thrombocythemia: incidence, risk factors, and effect of treatments. Haematologica 2008;93:372-380.
- Barbui T, Finazzi G, Carobbio A, et al. Development and validation of an International Prognostic Score of thrombosis in World Health Organization-essential thrombocythemia (IPSETthrombosis). Blood 2012;120:5128-5133;

- 23. Tefferi A, Lasho TL, Huang J, Finke C, Mesa RA, Li CY, Wu W, Hanson CA, Pardanani A. Low JAK2V617F allele burden in primary myelofibrosis, compared to either a higher allele burden or unmutated status, is associated with inferior overall and leukemia-free survival. Leukemia. 2008 Apr;22(4):756-61.
- 24. Guglielmelli P, Barosi G, Specchia G, Rambaldi A, Lo Coco F, Antonioli E, Pieri L, Pancrazzi A, Ponziani V, Delaini F, Longo G, Ammatuna E, Liso V, Bosi A, Barbui T, Vannucchi AM. Identification of patients with poorer survival in primary myelofibrosis based on the burden of JAK2V617F mutated allele. Blood. 2009 Aug 20;114(8):1477-83.
- 25. Campbell PJ, Baxter EJ, Beer PA, Scott LM, Bench AJ, Huntly BJ, Erber WN, Kusec R, Larsen TS, Giraudier S, Le Bousse-KerdilÃ⁻⁻s MC, Griesshammer M, Reilly JT, Cheung BY, Harrison CN, Green AR. Mutation of JAK2 in the myeloproliferative disorders: timing, clonality studies, cytogenetic associations, and role in leukemic transformation. Blood. 2006 Nov 15;108(10):3548-55.
- 26. Bench AJ, White HE, Foroni L, Godfrey AL, Gerrard G, Akiki S, Awan A, Carter I, Goday-Fernandez A, Langabeer SE, Clench T, Clark J, Evans PA, Grimwade D, Schuh A, McMullin MF, Green AR, Harrison CN, Cross NC; British Committee for Standards in Haematology. Molecular diagnosis of the myeloproliferative neoplasms: UK guidelines for the detection of JAK2 V617F and other relevant mutations. Br J Haematol. 2013 Jan;160(1):25-34. doi:10.1111/bjh.12075.
- 27. Jovanovic JV, Ivey A, Vannucchi AM, Lippert E, Oppliger Leibundgut E, Cassinat B, Pallisgaard N, Maroc N, Hermouet S, Nickless G, Guglielmelli P, van der Reijden BA, Jansen JH, Alpermann T, Schnittger S, Bench A, Tobal K, Wilkins B, Cuthill K, McLornan D, Yeoman K, Akiki S, Bryon J, Jeffries S, Jones A, Percy MJ, Schwemmers S, Gruender A, Kelley TW, Reading S, Pancrazzi A, McMullin MF, Pahl HL, Cross NC, Harrison CN, Prchal JT, Chomienne C, Kiladjian JJ, Barbui T, Grimwade D. Establishing optimal quantitative-polymerase chain reaction assays for routine diagnosis and tracking of minimal residual disease in JAK2-V617F-associated myeloproliferative neoplasms: a joint European LeukemiaNet/MPN&MPNr-EuroNet (COST action BM0902) study. Leukemia. 2013 Oct;27(10):2032-9. doi:10.1038/leu.2013.219.
- 28. Lippert E, Girodon F, Hammond E, Jelinek J, Reading NS, Fehse B, Hanlon K, Hermans M, Richard C, Swierczek S, Ugo V, Carillo S, Harrivel V, Marzac C, Pietra D, Sobas M, Mounier M, Migeon M, Ellard S, Kröger N, Herrmann R, Prchal JT, Skoda RC, Hermouet S. Concordance of assays designed for the quantification of JAK2V617F: a multicenter study. Haematologica. 2009 Jan;94(1):38-45. doi:10.3324/haematol.13486.
- Mason J, Akiki S, Griffiths MJ. Pitfalls in molecular diagnosis in haemato-oncology. J Clin Pathol.
 2011 Apr;64(4):275–8. doi:10.1136/jcp.2010.081349.

- McClure R, Mai M, Lasho T. Validation of two clinically useful assays for evaluation of JAK2 V617F mutation in chronic myeloproliferative disorders. Leukemia. 2006 Jan;20(1):168–71. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404007
- Campbell PJ, Scott LM, Baxter EJ, Bench AJ, Green AR, Erber WN. Methods for the detection of the JAK2 V617F mutation in human myeloproliferative disorders. Methods Mol Med. 2006;125:253-64.
- 32. Cankovic M, Whiteley L, Hawley RC, Zarbo RJ, Chitale D. Clinical performance of JAK2 V617F mutation detection assays in a molecular diagnostics laboratory:evaluation of screening and quantitation methods. Am J Clin Pathol. 2009 Nov;132(5):713-21. doi: 10.1309/AJCPFHUQZ9AGUEKA.
- 33. Martinaud C, Brisou P, Mozziconacci M-J. Is the JAK2(V617F) mutation detectable in healthy volunteers? Am J Hematol. 2010 Apr;85(4):287–8. doi: 10.1002/ajh.21627.
- Sidon P, Housni H El, Dessars B, Heimann P. The JAK2V617F mutation is detectable at very low level in peripheral blood of healthy donors. Leukemia. 2006 Sep;20(9):1622. doi:10.1038/sj.leu.2404292.
- Xu X, Zhang Q, Luo J, Xing S, Li Q, Krantz SB, Fu X, Zhao ZJ. JAK2(V617F): Prevalence in a large Chinese hospital population. Blood. 2007 Jan 1;109(1):339-42. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-009472.
- 4Nielsen C, Birgens HS, Nordestgaard BG, Bojesen SE. Diagnostic value of JAK2 V617F somatic mutation for myeloproliferative cancer in 49 488 individuals from the general population. Br J Haematol. 2013 Jan;160(1):70–9. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12099.
- Rapado I, Albizua E, Ayala R, Hernández JA, Garcia-Alonso L, Grande S, Gallardo M, Gilsanz F, Martinez-Lopez J. Validity test study of JAK2 V617F and allele burden quantification in the diagnosis of myeloproliferative diseases. Ann Hematol. 2008 Sep;87(9):741-9. doi: 10.1007/s00277-008-0512-x.
- 38. Passamonti F, Rumi E, Pietra D, Lazzarino M, Cazzola M. JAK2 (V617F) mutation in healthy individuals. Br J Haematol. 2007 Feb;136(4):678–9. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06483.x.
- Lippert E, Mansier O, Migeon M, Denys B, Nilsson A, Rosmond C, Lodé L, Ugo V, Lascaux A, Bellosillo B, Martinez-Lopez J, Naguib D, Gachard N, Maroc N, Hermouet S. Clinical and biological characterization of patients with low (0.1-2%) JAK2V617F allele burden at diagnosis. Haematologica. 2014 Jul;99(7):e98-101. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.107656.
- McMullin MF. Investigation and Management of Erythrocytosis. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2016 Oct;11(5):342-7. doi: 10.1007/s11899-016-0334-1. Review. PubMed PMID: 27423232.

- Assi TB, Baz E. Current applications of therapeutic phlebotomy. Blood Transfus. 2014 Jan;12 Suppl 1:s75-83. doi: 10.2450/2013.0299-12. Review. PubMed PMID: 24120605; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3934278.
- 42. Kim KH, Oh KY. Clinical applications of therapeutic phlebotomy. J Blood Med. 2016 Jul 18;7:13944. doi: 10.2147/JBM.S108479. PubMed PMID: 27486346; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4957680.
- 43. Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Thiele J, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM, Bloomfield CD, Cazzola M, Vardiman JW. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016 May 19;127(20):2391-405
- Malcovati L, Rumi E, Cazzola M. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms and myelodysplastic/myeloproliferative neoplasms. Haematologica. 2014 Nov;99(11):1650-2. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.113944.
- 45. McGaffin G, Harper K, Stirling D, McLintock L. JAK2 V617F and CALR mutations are not mutually exclusive; findings from retrospective analysis of a small patient cohort. Br J Haematol. 2014 Oct;167(2):276-8. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12969.
- Zamora L, Xicoy B, Cabezón M, Fernandez C, Marcé S, Velez P, Xandri M, Gallardo D, Millá F, Feliu
 E, Boqué C. Co-existence of JAK2 V617F and CALR mutations in primary myelofibrosis. Leuk
 Lymphoma. 2015 Oct;56(10):2973-4. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2015.1015124.
- 47. Beer PA, Jones AV, Bench AJ, Goday-Fernandez A, Boyd EM, Vaghela KJ, Erber WN,Odeh B, Wright C, McMullin MF, Cullis J, Huntly BJ, Harrison CN, Cross NC, Green AR. Clonal diversity in the myeloproliferative neoplasms: independent origins of genetically distinct clones. Br J Haematol. 2009 Mar;144(6):904-8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07560.x.
- 48. Takahashi K, Patel KP, Kantarjian H, Luthra R, Pierce S, Cortes J, Verstovsek S. JAK2 p.V617F detection and allele burden measurement in peripheral blood and bone marrow aspirates in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2013 Nov 28;122(23):3784-6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-515676.
- Lange T, Edelmann A, Siebolts U, Krahl R, Nehring C, Jäkel N, Cross M, Maier J, Niederwieser D, Wickenhauser C. JAK2 p.V617F allele burden in myeloproliferative neoplasms one month after allogeneic stem cell transplantation significantly predicts outcome and risk of relapse. Haematologica. 2013 May;98(5):722-8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.076901.
- Larsen TS, Pallisgaard N, Møller MB, Hasselbalch HC. Quantitative assessment of the JAK2 V617F allele burden: equivalent levels in peripheral blood and bone marrow. Leukemia. 2008 Jan;22(1):194-5.

- 51. Waterhouse M, Follo M, Pfeifer D, von Bubnoff N, Duyster J, Bertz H, Finke J. Sensitive and accurate quantification of JAK2 V617F mutation in chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms by droplet digital PCR. Ann Hematol. 2016 Apr;95(5):739-44. doi: 10.1007/s00277-016-2623-0.
- 52. Fontanelli G, Baratè C, Ciabatti E, Guerrini F, Grassi S, Del Re M, Morganti R, Petrini I, Arici R, Barsotti S, Metelli MR, Danesi R, Galimberti S. Real-Time PCR and Droplet Digital PCR: two techniques for detection of the JAK2(V617F)mutation in Philadelphia-negative chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms. Int J Lab Hematol. 2015 Dec;37(6):766-73. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.12404
- 53. Kim SY, Im K, Park SN, Kwon J, Kim JA, Lee DS. CALR, JAK2, and MPL mutation profiles in patients with four different subtypes of myeloproliferative neoplasms: primary myelofibrosis, essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and myeloproliferative neoplasm, unclassifiable. Am J Clin Pathol. 2015 May;143(5):635-44. doi: 10.1309/AJCPUAAC16LIWZMM.
- 54. Broséus J, Park J-H, Carillo S, Hermouet S, Girodon F. Presence of calreticulin mutations in JAK2negative polycythemia vera. Blood. 2014 Dec 18;124(26):3964–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-06-583161.
- 55. Palandri F, Latagliata R, Polverelli N, Tieghi A, Crugnola M, Martino B, Perricone M, Breccia M, Ottaviani E, Testoni N, Merli F, Aversa F, Alimena G, Cavo M, Martinelli G, Catani L, Baccarani M, Vianelli N. Mutations and long-term outcome of 217 young patients with essential thrombocythemia or early primary myelofibrosis. Leukemia. 2015 Jun;29(6):1344-9. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.87.
- 56. Scott LM. The JAK2 exon 12 mutations: a comprehensive review. Am J Hematol. 2011 Aug;86(8):668-76. doi: 10.1002/ajh.22063.
- 57. Percy MJ, Jones FGC, Green AR, Reilly JT, McMullin MF. The incidence of the JAK2 V617F mutation in patients with idiopathic erythrocytosis. Haematologica. 2006 Mar;91(3):413–4.
- 58. Percy MJ, Scott LM, Erber WN, Harrison CN, Reilly JT, Jones FG, Green AR, McMullin MF. The frequency of JAK2 exon 12 mutations in idiopathic erythrocytosis patients with low serum erythropoietin levels. Haematologica. 2007 Dec;92(12):1607-14. Doi:10.3324/haematol.11643.

Supplementary Data

The relevance of a low *JAK2*^{V617F} allele burden in clinical practice: a monocentric study

RESULTS

Detection and quantitation of JAK2^{V617F} AB by both qPCR and ddPCR

Overall, 48 samples (18 at diagnosis and 15 both at diagnosis and during the followup) were tested for *JAK2*V617F with both qPCR and ddPCR. The median mutation burden obtained was 0.59% (range: 0–9.2%) and 0.52% (range: 0–6.77%), respectively.

As the AB did not follow a normal distribution, Spearman's rho test was used for correlation analysis. As shown in Figure S1, there was a high degree of correlation between data obtained with the two methods (R = 0.924; p < 0.0001).



Supplementary Figure S1- Correlation between qPCR and ddPCR. Each point represents a sample where JAK2^{V617F} AB has been evaluated, according to qPCR (Y-axis) and ddPCR (X-axis). The calculated Spearman's rho value is 0,924 (p <0,0001).

Limit of detection (LOD) determination

As shown in Supplementary Figure 2, both the qPCR and the ddPCR achieved a sensitivity of 0.01%.



Supplementary Figure S2- Limit Of Detection (LOD) determination. Ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit (qPCR) (A) and ddPCR (B-C) sensitivity was assessed by quantifying a serial dilution of a mutant genomic DNA into a wild-type DNA. For simplicity, only selected dilutions of the entire standard curve (prepared as described in the Methods) are shown. (A) Amplification plot of mutant genomic DNA serial dilutions (Mut, 1:2, 1:10, 1:100, 1:1000, and WT, respectively). (B) The blue dots indicate the number of mutated copies/ μ l; the green dots indicate the number of wild-type copies/ μ l. (C) Fractional abundance plot shows the frequency of the mutant DNA into total genomic DNA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Digital PCR

In order to demonstrate repeatability of qPCR results, all samples were tested also with digital PCR (ddPCR) assay. ddPCR was performed using the specific PrimePCR ddPCR Mutation Detection Kit Assay for JAK2 wild-type and the V617F mutation on the QX200 platform (BioRad, Milan, Italy). The data analysis was performed using the QuantaSoft analysis software and results were expressed as the fractional abundance (FA) of mutant (a) to wild type (b) template (a/a+b).

A comparison between qPCR and ddPCR was performed through a nonparametric correlation analysis (Spearman's rho).

Analytic sensitivity test

The Limit Of Detection (LOD) is defined as the lowest mutant concentration that can be consistently detected above the limit of blank.

In order to compare the ability of both qPCR and ddPCR of detecting diluited mutant alleles, a sensitivity curve was performed. We prepared serial dilutions (1:2, 1:10, 1:100, 1:1000, 1:10000) of an already quantitated *JAK2*^{V617F} mutant genomic DNA into a genomic wild-type DNA. We include also "WT only" control wells and no template control (NTC) wells. All the dilutions were tested in duplicate.

RESULT III

Assessment of the interlaboratory variability and robustness of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation assays: A study involving a consortium of 19 italian laboratories

Margherita Perricone¹, Francesca Palandri¹, Emanuela Ottaviani¹, Mario Angelini², Laura Bagli³, Enrica Bellesia⁴, Meris Donati⁵, Donato Gemmati⁶, Patrizia Zucchini⁷, Stefania Mancini⁸, Valentina Marchica⁹, Serena Trubini¹⁰, Giovanna De Matteis¹¹, Silvia Di Zacomo¹², Mosè Favarato¹³, Annamaria Fioroni¹⁴, Caterina Bolzonella¹⁵, Giorgia Maccari¹⁶, Filippo Navaglia¹⁷, Daniela Gatti¹⁸, Luisa Toffolatti¹⁹, Linda Orlandi²⁰, Vèronique Laloux²¹, Marco Manfrini¹, Piero Galieni², Barbara Giannini³, Alessia Tieghi⁴, Sara Barulli⁵, Maria Luisa Serino⁶, Monica Maccaferri⁷, Anna Rita Scortechini⁸, Nicola Giuliani⁹, Daniele Vallisa¹⁰, Massimiliano Bonifacio¹¹, Patrizia Accorsi¹², Cristina Salbe¹³, Vinicio Fazio¹⁴, Milena Gusella¹⁵, Eleonora Toffoletti¹⁶, Marzia Salvucci³, Mirija Svaldi¹⁸, Filippo Gherlinzoni¹⁹, Francesca Cassavia²⁰, Francesco Orsini²⁰, Giovanni Martinelli¹

¹Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine, Institute of Hematology 'L. and A. Seràgnoli', University of Bologna, S. Orsola-Malpighi Hospital, Bologna, Italy

²Molecular Hematology Laboratory U.O.C of Hematology Hospital Mazzoni, Ascoli Piceno, Italy

³Medical Genetics Unit- Hub Laboratory AUSL Romagna, Pievesestina di Cesena, Italy

⁴Imaging and Laboratory Diagnostic Department, Clinical Chemistry and Endocrinology Laboratory, Hematology Unit, Oncology and Technology Department, Hospital S. Maria Nuova, IRCCS, Reggio Emilia, Italy

⁵Clinical Pathology Laboratory, A.O. Ospedali Riuniti Marche Nord, Pesaro, Italy

⁶Ctr. Hemostasis and Thrombosis, Section of Medical Biochemistry, Molecular Biology and Genetics, Dpt. of Biomedical and Specialty Surgical Sciences, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy

⁷Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, Division of Hematology, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

⁸Clinical Hematology Laboratory, Department of Molecular and Clinical Sciences, Polytechnic University of Marche, Ancona, Italy

⁹Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Parma

¹⁰Clinical Pathology, Molecular Biology laboratory, and Hematology/Bone Marrow Transplantation Unit, AUSL Piacenza, Italy

¹¹Section of Clinical Biochemistry and Section of Hematology, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Integrata di Verona, Italy

¹²Department of Hematology, Blood Bank and Biotechnology, Ospedale Civile Pescara, Italy

¹³UOS Molecular Diagnostics, Department of Clinical Pathology, ULSS12 Venetian, Venice, Italy

¹⁴UOC laboratory medicine, P.O. San Salvatore, Sulmona, L'Aquila, Italy

¹⁵Department of oncology, Laboratory of Pharmacology and Molecular Biology, ULSS 18- Rovigo, Italy

¹⁶Clinical Hematology, Department of Experimental and Clinical Medical Sciences, University of Udine, Udine, Italy

¹⁷Department of Laboratory Medicine, University-Hospital of Padova, Padova, Italy

¹⁸Department of Haematology and BMT, Healthcare Company of South Tyrol, District of Bolzano, Bolzano, Italy

¹⁹Department of Pathology and Haematology, Treviso General Hospital, Treviso, Italy

²⁰Werfen, Milano

²¹QIAGEN GmbH, Hilden, Germany, member of the European LeukemiaNet (ELN) Foundation Circle

Correspondence to: margherita.perricon2@unibo.it

Keywords: JAK2 V617F mutation, myeloproliferative neoplasms, qPCR standardization, molecular diagnosis

ABSTRACT

To date, a plenty of techniques for the detection of *JAK2*^{V617F} is used over different laboratories, with substantial differences in specificity and sensitivity. Therefore, to provide reliable and comparable results, the standardization of molecular techniques is mandatory.

A network of 19 centers was established to 1) evaluate the inter- and intra- laboratory variability in $JAK2^{V617F}$ quantification, 2) identify the most robust assay for the standardization of the molecular test and 3) allow consistent interpretation of individual patient analysis results. The study was conceived in 3 different rounds, in which all centers had to blindly test DNA samples with different $JAK2^{V617F}$ allele burden (AB) using both quantitative and qualitative assays.

The positivity of samples with an AB < 1% was not detected by qualitative assays. Conversely, laboratories performing the quantitative approach were able to determine the expected $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB. Quantitative results were reliable across all mutation loads with moderate variability at low AB (0.1 and 1%; CV = 0.46 and 0.77, respectively). Remarkably, all laboratories clearly distinguished between the 0.1 and 1% mutated samples.

In conclusion, a qualitative approach is not sensitive enough to detect the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation, especially at low AB. On the contrary, the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant CE-IVD kit resulted in a high, efficient and sensitive quantification detection of all mutation loads. This study sets the basis for the standardization of molecular techniques for *JAK2*^{V617F} determination, which will require the employment of approved operating procedures and the use of certificated standards, such as the recent WHO 1st International Reference Panel for Genomic *JAK2*^{V617F}.

INTRODUCTION

The *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation represents a hallmark of Philadelphia (Ph)- negative myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs), fulfilling a 2008 World Health Organization (WHO) major criterion for the diagnosis of MPNs [1–2]. The *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation is an acquired, somatic mutation carried by almost all patients (approximately 95%) with polycythemia vera (PV) and in more than half (approximately 50–60%) of those with essential thrombocythemia (ET) or primary myelofibrosis (PMF) [3, 4].

The assessment of the $JAK2^{V617F}$ allele burden (AB) is a common practice either at diagnosis, for prognostic information, or during treatment as a means to assess minimal residual disease [5]. Indeed, $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB seems to be correlated with an increased risk of thrombosis and evolution in a secondary myelofibrosis in PV (PPV-MF) and, possibly, in ET (PET-MF) [6,7]. Additionally, low AB is associated with a reduced survival in PMF [8–11]. With regard to drug therapy, several studies showed that interferon-alpha, and the most recent telomerase inhibitors (Imetelstat), significantly reduces $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation burden, whereas, JAK inhibitors and hydroxyhurea (HU) did not have any significant effects [12–21]. Moreover, $JAK2^{V617F}$ quantification has been incorporated as a potentially useful tool to predict relapse in those patients who underwent allogeneic stem-cell transplantation (alloHSCT). In this setting of patients, early monitoring of the AB (1, 3 and 6 months post alloHSCT) is crucial to predict overall survival and risk of relapse and might guide therapeutic decisions [22–24].

To date, a plenty of techniques for $JAK2^{V617F}$ determination is used over different laboratories, with substantial differences in specificity and sensitivity [5, 25–31]. The extensive and worldwide use of molecular techniques with high sensitivity has significantly increased our ability to detect small mutated clones, with low AB (i.e. <1% of mutation loads) [5, 26, 32].

Additionally, many recent studies have shown that a small clonal hematopoiesis may be present also in otherwise healthy subjects at low level (0.03–1%) [27, 32–38]. In the context of highly sensitive allele-specific assays and low mutant AB in the peripheral blood, the possibility of both false-positive and false-negative test results is not negligible [5, 32].

Therefore, to provide a reliable and comparable molecular results, the standardization of needed. molecular techniques is urgently In а recent study by European LeukemiaNet/MPN&MPNr-EuroNet group, nine different JAK2^{V617F} quantitative assays were evaluated by the 12 participant laboratories, with the aim to identify the most robust one for routine diagnostic purpose and also for post alloHSCT monitoring [39]. Therefore, a network of 19 Italian laboratories was established with the aim 1) to evaluate the inter- and intra-laboratory variability in JAK2^{V617F} quantification in these 19 centers, 2) to identify the most robust assay for the standardization of the molecular test and 3) to allow consistent interpretation of individual patient analysis results.

RESULTS

Between 2014 and 2015, a network of 19 Italian laboratories, routinely involved in the molecular diagnosis of MPNs, was established. The study was coordinated by the Institute of Hematology "L. e A. Seràgnoli", Bologna, and conceived in 3 different rounds in which seven, ten and nineteen laboratories were included over time, respectively (Figure 1). Overall, one quantitative (ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit, QIAGEN) and four qualitative assays were evaluated. Of these latter, two were commercial (ipsogen *JAK2* MutaSearch kit, QIAGEN, and GeneQuality JAK-2, AB Analitica) and two were built "in-house" methods: allele specific polymerase chain reaction (AS-PCR) and Amplification-refractory mutation system (ARMS) analysis [25, 30].

I Round: proficiency test

In order to obtain information about the variability in *JAK2*^{V617F} quantification between different centers, seven laboratories were employed to evaluate several DNA samples with their own established *JAK2*^{V617F} qualitative and/or quantitative method. Precisely, four DNA samples derived from granulocytes of patients with a diagnosis of MPNs were analyzed. All laboratories using the quantitative assay (ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit) were able to determine the expected

JAK2^{V617F} AB, as summarized in Table 1. Only in one case (i.e. DNA sample 1), the Center 3 obtained a false positive result. Indeed, the sample was found to be positive with an AB of 0.13%. On the contrary, two Centers (i.e. 6 and 7), using a qualitative approach, were not able to detect the positivity of the DNA sample 2 (with an expected AB of 0.15%).



Figure 1: Design of the study. A network of 19 Italian Centers was established and the study was conceived in 3 different rounds, in which seven, ten and nineteen laboratories participated, respectively. Each laboratory had to blindly test DNA samples with different *JAK2*V617F allele burden (AB). Overall, one quantitative and four qualitative assays were evaluated.

Sample	Expected JAK2V617F AB (%)	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	Min	Median	Max	CV (Coefficent of Variation)	C6	C7
DNA 1	0.005	0.0056	0.00013	0.13	0	0.0007	0	0.00315	0.13	2.1	Neg	Neg
DNA 2	0.15	0.18	0.13	0.19	0.15	0.15	0.13	0.15	0.19	0.15	Neg	Neg
DNA 3	5	7.84	4.19	6.2	8.22	6.25	4.19	6.225	8.22	0.24	Pos	Pos
DNA 4	20	23.17	25.95	20.24	19.44	19.82	19.44	20.03	25.95	0.08	Pos	Pos

Table 1: I Round JAK2V617F mutation burden and summary statistics (minimum, maximum, calculation of median, coef cient of variation) of results obtained by the seven participating laboratories, using their everyday analysis method. The expected JAK2^{V617F} allele burden (AB, %) was 0.005 (DNA 1), 0.15 (DNA 2), 5 (DNA 3) and 20 (DNA 4). Centers 1–5 performed quantitative assay (ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit) whereas Centers 6 and 7 used a qualitative approach: allele specific polymerase chain reaction (AS-PCR) and ipsogen JAK2 MutaSearch kit, respectively.

II Round: comparison between molecular assays

With the aim to further investigate on the inter-laboratory variability in quantifying *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation, especially at low mutation burden, a second standardization round was developed and three additional laboratories were included. Eight DNA samples, derived from dilution of cell lines negative and positive for the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation, were tested by each laboratory with both ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit and their own routine qualitative or quantitative method.

We first examined the methods sensitivity, and the detection ability of the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit at low-positive samples (i.e. 0.1 and 1%) was compared to those of qualitative *JAK2* commercial and validated "in- house" methods. Overall, the ARMS-PCR "in-house" method and the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaSearch kit were able to detect the positivity of the sample with AB of 1%, whereas none of the laboratories using any qualitative methods were able to detect the lowpositive sample (i.e. AB < 0.1%). Remarkably, laboratories using the quantitative approach clearly defined the positivity of both 1% and 0.1% mutated samples. Specifically, 10 out of 16 *JAK2*^{V617F} determinations were clearly defined positive, with an AB ≥ 0.091% which is the Limit Of Detection (LOD) of the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit. In the remaining 6 cases, the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation percentage was found between Limit of Blank (LOB = 0.014%) and LOD.

Additionally, the inter-laboratory variability evaluation was restricted to the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit, as six out of 10 participating laboratories already used this assay in their routine practice. The data from two laboratories (i.e. Centers 3 and 8) were excluded from statistical analysis, as Negative Controls of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation (NC-VF) were found to be positive (> 0.1%) for each run, and considered as invalid runs. This was mainly due to either operator error or to instrumentation suitability, instead of an intrinsic bias of the kit. Overall, quantitative results between the laboratories were reliable as summarized in Table 2 and showed in Figure 2. A small variability was observed especially at low AB (0.1 and 1%, CV = 0.42 and 0.24, respectively).

Sample	Expected JAK2 ^{V617F} AB (%)	Min.	Median	Max	CV (Coefficent of Variation)
DNA G	0	0.002	0.008234	0.02	0.73
DNA E	0.1	0.03	0.09874	0.17	0.42
DNA C	1	0.39	0.8471	1.12	0.24
DNA B	5	2.38	3.643	4.66	0.18
DNA F	10	6.04	8.794	17.65	0.38
DNA H	20	13.12	15.2	19.35	0.11
DNA D	50	30.54	42.62	46.76	0.12
DNA A	100	99.76	99.92	99.97	0.0005

Table 2: II Round JAK2V617F mutation burden and summary statistics (minimum, maximum, calculation of median, coefficient of variation) of results obtained by the ten participating laboratories with ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit. The expected JAK2^{V617F} mutation burden of the eight DNA samples was 0, 0.1, 1, 10, 20, 50 and 100%.



Figure 2: II Round. ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit Copy number (CN) boxplot of *JAK2* wild-type (WT), *JAK2* mutated (V617F) and *JAK2* total (A) and *JAK2*V617F mutation percentage boxplot (B) for each of the 8 DNA samples. Red dots are expected values.

III Round: inter-laboratory standardization by ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit

The study was extended to 9 additional centers to confirm the robustness of the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit in a larger cohort. Each participating laboratory had to test four DNA samples, derived from dilution of cell lines as described above, only with ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit.

The quantification data from Center 11 were excluded from statistical analysis, as NC-VF was found to be positive (> 0.1%) for each run and Positive Control of $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation (PC-VF) did not reach the recommended value (> 99.9%). Moreover, Center 9 failed to perform correctly both runs due to instrument failure. Of note, both Center 9 and Center 11 did not assess $JAK2^{V617F}$ AB in their own routine practice. Among the remaining laboratories, Centers 2, 6 and 17 did not reach the minimum number of JAK2 total copy number required (10.000 copies) in five different determinations (two at 0.1% AB sample, two at 1% and one at 10%, respectively), and, therefore, these points were not included in the analysis. Quantitative results were reliable across all mutation loads, as reported in Table 3 and showed in Figure 3. All the 17 laboratories were able to quantify the 0.1% AB sample with the same variability observed in the previous II round (CV = 0.46 and 0.42, respectively). Specifically, 23 out of 32 $JAK2^{V617F}$ determinations were clearly defined positive, with an AB > 0.091% (LOD). In the remaining 9 cases, the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation percentage was found between LOB and LOD. Surprisingly, a higher variability between laboratories were at 1% of AB (CV = 0.77, vs 0.24 in the II round). More importantly, all laboratories clearly distinguished between the 0.1 and 1% mutated samples.

We also evaluated the robustness of the quantitative approach in terms of amplification efficiency. It is well known that amplification efficiency in PCR measures the amount of template converted into amplified product during each cycle of the exponential phase of the reaction. At 100% efficiency, the quantity of product exactly doubles each cycle, thus an efficiency close to 100% is the best indicator of a robust, reproducible assay. An amplification efficiency of 90–105% is recommended for each assay. In our study, the mean value of amplification efficiency obtained, with respect to all runs performed, was of 92% with a CV value of 0.065, confirming the sensitivity and the robustness of the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit.

Sample	Expected JAK2V617F AB (%)	Min.	Median	Max	CV (Coefficent of Variation)
S02	0.1	0.07	0.11	0.27	0.46
S04	1	0.64	1.05	4.90	0.77
S01	10	6.67	10.04	24.37	0.37
S03	100	99.79	99.92	99.97	0.0005

Table 3: III Round JAK2V617F mutation burden and summary statistics (minimum, maximum, calculation of median, coefficient of variation) of results obtained by the nineteen participating laboratories with ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit. The expected JAK2^{V617F} mutation burden of the four DNA samples was 0.1, 1, 10 and 100%.



Figure 3: III Round. ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit Copy number (CN) boxplot of *JAK2* wild-type (WT), *JAK2* mutated (V617F) and *JAK2*V617F mutation percentage boxplot for each of the 4 DNA samples. Red dots are expected values.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

In this study we demonstrated that a qualitative approach is not sensitive enough to detect $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation at low mutation burden (i.e. < 1%). Conversely, the quantitative approach proved to be highly efficient and sensitive, although a modest variability was observed between all participating centers, both in the II and in the III round (CV = 0.42 and 0.46, respectively). Interestingly, only the qualitative ARMS-PCR methods (both "in-house" and ipsogen JAK2 MutaSearch kit) and the quantitative approach were able to detect the positivity of samples with and AB of 1%. An acceptable variability was observed at this AB in the II round (CV = 0.24) whereas a higher inter-laboratory variability was registered in the III one (CV = 0.77). With regard to samples with AB > 1%, a lower inter-laboratory variability was observed, as demonstrated by CV which ranges from a minimum of 0.0005 to a maximum of 0.38.

Overall, the quantitative ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit assay performed consistently across different platforms, affirming itself as a robust method to obtain comparable results. This is confirmed by optimal amplification efficiency obtained from each laboratory involved in the study. Indeed, the mean efficiency obtained in this study was of 92% with a CV of 0.065. The observed variability can be explained with both differences in laboratory experience in *JAK2*^{v617F} quantitative determination and intrinsic instrumental bias, as happened in our study, with some laboratories experiencing technical issues. This, together with the variability observed at low AB samples, highlights the need for the standardization of practices, including both pre-analytical and analytical phases. To this aim, the WHO 1st International Reference Panel for Genomic *JAK2* V617F (WHO document WHO/ BS/2016.2293) was established in 2016 by the Expert Committee on Biological Standardization of the World Health Organization [40]. The availability of *JAK2*^{v617F} primary standards should improve the quality of MPN genomic diagnostics by enabling the calibration of assays and kits, and the derivation of secondary standards for routine diagnostic use in determining testing accuracy and sensitivity, thus providing inter-laboratory comparison towards the harmonization of *JAK2*^{V617F} testing.

Moreover, we are considering evaluating digital PCR (dPCR). This emerging technology may improve the ability to detect rare mutations and/or low-positive samples due to higher sensitivity and precision, especially during follow-up to assess minimal residual disease or to monitor patients post alloHSCT [41–42]. But further studies are needed on this technology to

reach the level of standardization of real-time qPCR.

In conclusion, this study sets the basis for the standardization of molecular techniques for $JAK2^{V617F}$ determination which will require the employment of approved operating procedures and the use of certificated standards to calibrate $JAK2^{V617F}$ quantitative assays.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conceived in 3 different rounds, in which 19 Italian laboratories were employed. Centers 9 and 16 did not perform *JAK2*^{V617F} molecular testing in their routine. Of the remaining centers, 8 used only a quantitative approach (2 "in-house" and 1 commercial assays), 7 performed only a qualitative evaluation (1 "in-house" and 3 commercial assay) of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation whereas 2 laboratories used both qualitative and quantitative approaches (2 "in-house" and 1 commercial assays). Regarding real-time PCR instruments used during the study: most (13 out of 19) of the laboratories used Applied Biosystem platforms (ABI7300/7500/7900; Applied Biosystem, Foster City, CA, USA); two laboratories used a Lightcycler LC480 platform (Roche Applied Science, Penzberg, Germany), and the remaining four laboratories used a Rotor-Gene Q 2plex/MDx 5plex HRM instrument (QIAGEN GmbH, Hilden, Germany) (Table 4).

I Round

In the I round, we aimed to investigate the inter- laboratory variability on different mutation loads. In this first step, seven laboratories were involved (Center 1–7). Four of them routinely performed quantitative analysis of *JAK2*^{V617F} with ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant Kit (QIAGEN), two used a qualitative approach for *JAK2*^{V617F} evaluation (1 "in-house" method, 1 ipsogen *JAK2* MutaScreen Kit-QIAGEN) whereas one laboratory (Center 5) assessed both qualitative and quantitative assays. Each center had to test four DNA samples (DNA 1–4) with the method routinely employed in their own laboratory. DNA samples were isolated from granulocytes of patients with diagnosis of MPNs. The expected mutation burden of the 4 DNA samples was 0.005 (DNA 1), 0.15 (DNA 2), 5 (DNA 3) and 20% (DNA 4), as previously quantified by Bologna's laboratory with ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant Kit.

All patients provided an informed written consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki for the use of remnant DNA for investigational purposes. The study was approved by the local Ethics Committee.

ID Center	Method		Instrumentation			
1	Quantitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	Applied Biosystem 7900HT Fast* Real-Time PCR System			
2	Quantitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	Applied Biosystems 7300 Real-Time PCR System			
3	Quantitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	Rotor-Gene Q 2plex HRM System Rotor-Gene Q MDx 5plex HRM System (3rd Round)			
4	Quantitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	Applied Biosystems 7300 Real-Time PCR System			
5	Qualitative home-made Quantitative	ARMS PCR (Chen et al., 2007) [30] ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	7500 Real Time PCR System Life Technologies			
6	Qualitative home-made	Allele-specific R (Baxter et al, Lancet 2005) [25]	LightCycler 480 (2nd and 3rd Round)			
7	Qualitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaSearch	Applied Biosystems 7300 Real-Time PCR System			
8	Qualitative	AB Analitica GeneQuality JAK-2 kit	Applied Biosystems 7300 Real-Time PCR System			
9	N.A.	N.A.	LightCycler 480 (2nd and 3rd Round)			
10	Quantitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast* Real-time PCR System			
11	Qualitative home-made	Allele-specific ICR (Baxter et al, Lancet 2005) [25]	Rotor-Gene Q MDx 5plex HRM (3rd Round)			
12	Quantitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	Rotor-Gene Q MDx 5plex HRM			
13	Quantitative home-made	Allele-specific primers (0,1-25%) Allele- specifichydr d ys is probes (10-90%)	ABI PRISM 7900 HT Real-Time PCR System			
14	Qualitative home-made Quantitative	Allele-specific R (Baxter et al, Lancet 2005) [25] ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit	Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-time PCR System			
15	Qualitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaScreen	Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast* Dx PCR System			
16	N.A.	N.A.	Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast* Real-time PCR System			
17	Quantitative home-made	Allele-specific R (Søren Germer et al, Genome Res. 2000)	ABI PRISM 7900 HT SDS			
18	Qualitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaScreen	Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-time PCR System			
19	Qualitative	ipsogen JAK2 MutaScreen	StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System Rotor-Gene Q MDx 5plex HRM (3rd Round)			

Table 4: Summary of participating centers, methods used in their routine practice for *JAK2*V617F detection and instrumentation used in their routine and/or in the study (specified when different).

*Fast mode was not used, as the ipsogen JAK2 MutaQuant kit is not compatible with "Fast" mode.

II Round

To further investigate the inter-laboratory variability on low-positive samples, a II round was developed. The two main objectives of this round were to assess inter- laboratory variability across the 10 participating clinical centers and to compare the low-positive sample detection ability of the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit with the *JAK2* validated "in-house" methods. Compared to the first round, three additional centers (Centers 8–10) were included in this step: only Center 8 and 10 routinely performed *JAK2*^{V617F} evaluation (1 with a qualitative and 1 with a quantitative method, respectively). Eight DNA test samples (DNA Samples A-H) were manufactured by QIAGEN and were centrally distributed by Werfen. The DNA samples were derived from dilution of cell lines: K562 (*JAK2*^{V617F} negative) and MUTZ-8 (*JAK2*^{V617F} positive). The ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kits and associated master-mix were provided by QIAGEN and Werfen. Each center had to blindly test the DNA samples in four different runs: 2 runs were performed with the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit and 2 runs with their validated qualitative or quantitative method. The expected mutation burden of the DNA samples was 0, 0.1, 1, 10, 20, 50 and 100%.

III Round

The III round was intended to confirm the robustness of the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit. Qualitative methods were therefore excluded and the study was extended to 9 additional laboratories (Centers 11–19). Centers 12, 13 and 17 routinely assessed quantitative evaluation of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation (2 "in-house" and 1 commercial methods), 4 laboratories (Centers 11, 15, 18 and 19) used qualitative assays (1 "in-house" and 1 commercial methods), Center 14 performed both qualitative ("in-house") and quantitative (ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit) analysis whereas Center 16 did not perform *JAK2*^{V617F} molecular testing in its routine. Four DNA test samples (DNA Samples S01-S04), provided from the same batches as II round's DNA Samples, were centrally distributed by Werfen. The ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kits and associated master-mix were provided by QIAGEN and Werfen. Each laboratory had to blindly test the DNA samples in 2 runs with the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit. The expected mutation burden of the four DNA samples was 0.1, 1, 10 and 100%. Moreover, amplification efficiency (E) was calculated from the slope of the standard curve using the following formula: $E = 10^{-1/slope}$. Amplification efficiency was expressed as a percentage, that is the percent of template that was amplified in each cycle. To convert E into a percentage we used the following formula: % Efficiency = $(E - 1) \times 100\%$.

Data collection and run validity check

Raw data were collected and run validity was checked according to manufacturer's instructions in the kit's handbook.

Statistical method

Statistical analysis was carried out by QIAGEN and by Bologna University. Wild type and mutation copy numbers together with mutation percentage were summarized by mean, median, first and third quartiles, standard deviation and coefficient of variation and plotted by sample for the ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit.

Inter-laboratory variability: II round

Fisher test was performed by sample to compare variance in order to conclude on the acceptability of the inter-laboratory variability.

Inter-laboratory variability: III round

Shapiro-Wilk normality test was performed to check for data normality and quantilequantile normal plots were employed for data visual inspection. Kruskall-Wallis test was applied and multiple comparison post-hoc test (Wilcoxon test) was carried out to identify the significant differences. False discovery rate correction was applied to avoid increase in type I error (false positive) because of multiple testing following the Benjamini and Hochberg procedure.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND FUNDING

The research leading to these results was supported by QIAGEN and by Werfen.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

L. Orlandi, F. Cassavia and F. Orsini are employed by Werfen; V. Laloux is employed by QIAGEN. None of the co-authors, participating laboratories or institutions received any payments for being involved in this study.

Authors' contribution

M.P., F.P.,G.M. designed the study and wrote the paper. M.P, E.O.,M.A., L.B., E.B., M.D., D.G., P.Z., S.M., V.M., S.T., G.D.M., S.D.Z., M.F., M.A.F., C.B., G.M., F.N., D.G., L.T., P.G., B.G., A.T., S.B., M.L.S., M.M., A.R.S., N.G., D.V., M.B., P.A., C.S., V.F., M.G., E.T., M.S., F.G. performed experiments. L.O., V.L., M.M., F.C., F.O. contributed to the data collection and interpretation. All Authors revised the manuscript critically, and gave final approval to submit for publication.

REFERENCES

- Tefferi A, Vardiman JW. Classification and diagnosis of myeloproliferative neoplasms: the 2008 World Health Organization criteria and point-of-care diagnostic algorithms. Leukemia. 2008;22:14-22.
- Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Thiele J, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM, Bloomfield CD, Cazzola M, Vardiman JW. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016 May 19;127(20):2391-405.
- 3. Nangalia J, Massie CE, Baxter EJ, Nice FL, Gundem G, Wedge DC, Avezov E, Li J, Kollmann K, Kent DG, Aziz A, Godfrey AL, Hinton J, Martincorena I, Van Loo P, Jones AV, Guglielmelli P, Tarpey P, Harding HP, Fitzpatrick JD, Goudie CT, Ortmann CA, Loughran SJ, Raine K, Jones DR, Butler AP, Teague JW, O'Meara S, McLaren S, Bianchi M, Silber Y, Dimitropoulou D, Bloxham D, Mudie L, Maddison M, Robinson B, Keohane C, Maclean C, Hill K, Orchard K, Tauro S, Du MQ, Greaves M, Bowen D, Huntly BJ, Harrison CN, Cross NC, Ron D, Vannucchi AM, Papaemmanuil E, Campbell PJ, Green AR. Somatic CALR mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms with nonmutated JAK2. N Engl J Med. 2013 Dec 19;369(25):2391-405.
- Klampfl T(1), Gisslinger H, Harutyunyan AS, Nivarthi H, Rumi E, Milosevic JD, Them NC, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Pietra D, Chen D, Vladimer GI, Bagienski K, Milanesi C, Casetti IC, Sant'Antonio E, Ferretti V, Elena C, Schischlik F, Cleary C, Six M, Schalling M, Schönegger A, Bock C, Malcovati L, Pascutto C, Superti-Furga G, Cazzola M, Kralovics R. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 2013 Dec 19;369(25):2379-90.

- 5. Bench AJ, White HE, Foroni L, Godfrey AL, Gerrard G, Akiki S, Awan A, Carter I, Goday-Fernandez A, Langabeer SE, Clench T, Clark J, Evans PA, Grimwade D, Schuh A, McMullin MF, Green AR, Harrison CN, Cross NC; British Committee for Standards in Haematology. Molecular diagnosis of the myeloproliferative neoplasms: UK guidelines for the detection of JAK2 V617F and other relevant mutations. Br J Haematol. 2013 Jan;160(1):25-34.
- Passamonti F, Rumi E, Pietra D, Elena C, Boveri E, Arcaini L, Roncoroni E, Astori C, Merli M, Boggi S, Pascutto C, Lazzarino M, Cazzola M. A prospective study of 338 patients with polycythemia vera: the impact of JAK2 (V617F) allele burden and leukocytosis on fibrotic or leukemic disease transformation and vascular complications. Leukemia. 2010 Sep;24(9):1574-9.
- Silver RT, Vandris K, Wang YL, Adriano F, Jones AV, Christos PJ, Cross NC. JAK2(V617F) allele burden in polycythemia vera correlates with grade of myelofibrosis, but is not substantially affected by therapy. Leuk Res. 2011 Feb;35(2):177-82.
- Barosi G, Bergamaschi G, Marchetti M, Vannucchi AM, Guglielmelli P, Antonioli E, Massa M, Rosti V, Campanelli R, Villani L, Viarengo G, Gattoni E, Gerli G, Specchia G, Tinelli C, Rambaldi A, Barbui T; Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche Maligne dell'Adulto (GIMEMA) Italian Registry of Myelofibrosis. JAK2 V617F mutational status predicts progression to large splenomegaly and leukemic transformation in primary myelofibrosis. Blood. 2007 Dec 1;110(12):4030-6.
- Tefferi A, Lasho TL, Huang J, Finke C, Mesa RA, Li CY, Wu W, Hanson CA, Pardanani A. Low JAK2V617F allele burden in primary myelofibrosis, compared to either a higher allele burden or unmutated status, is associated with inferior overall and leukemia-free survival. Leukemia. 2008 Apr;22(4):756-61.
- 10. Guglielmelli P, Barosi G, Specchia G, Rambaldi A, Lo Coco F, Antonioli E, Pieri L, Pancrazzi A, Ponziani V, Delaini F, Longo G, Ammatuna E, Liso V, Bosi A, Barbui T, Vannucchi AM. Identification of patients with poorer survival in primary myelofibrosis based on the burden of JAK2V617F mutated allele. Blood. 2009 Aug 20;114(8):1477-83.
- Barosi G, Poletto V, Massa M, Campanelli R, Villani L, Bonetti E, Viarengo G, Catarsi P, Klersy C, Rosti V. JAK2 V617F genotype is a strong determinant of blast transformation in primary myelofibrosis. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e59791.

- 12. Girodon F, Schaeffer C, Cleyrat C, Mounier M, Lafont I, Santos FD, Duval A, Maynadié M, Hermouet S. Frequent reduction or absence of detection of the JAK2-mutated clone in JAK2V617F-positive patients within the first years of hydroxyurea therapy. Haematologica. 2008 Nov;93(11):1723-7.
- Ricksten A, Palmqvist L, Johansson P, Andreasson B. Rapid decline of JAK2V617F levels during hydroxyurea treatment in patients with polycythemia vera and essential thrombocythemia. Haematologica. 2008 Aug;93(8):1260-1.
- Antonioli E, Carobbio A, Pieri L, Pancrazzi A, Guglielmelli P, Delaini F, Ponziani V, Bartalucci N, Tozzi L, Bosi A, Rambaldi A, Barbui T, Vannucchi AM. Hydroxyurea does not appreciably reduce JAK2 V617F allele burden in patients with polycythemia vera or essential thrombocythemia. Haematologica. 2010 Aug;95(8):1435-8.
- Besses C, Alvarez-Larrán A, Martínez-Avilés L, Mojal S, Longarón R, Salar A, Florensa L, Serrano S, Bellosillo B. Modulation of JAK2 V617F allele burden dynamics by hydroxycarbamide in polycythaemia vera and essential thrombocythaemia patients. Br J Haematol. 2011 Feb;152(4):413-9.
- Kuriakose ET, Gjoni S, Wang YL, Baumann R, Jones AV, Cross NC, Silver RT. JAK2V617F allele burden is reduced by busulfan therapy: a new observation using an old drug. Haematologica. 2013 Nov;98(11):e135-7.
- 17. Quintás-Cardama A, Abdel-Wahab O, Manshouri T, Kilpivaara O, Cortes J, Roupie AL, Zhang SJ, Harris D, Estrov Z, Kantarjian H, Levine RL, Verstovsek S. Molecular analysis of patients with polycythemia vera or essential thrombocythemia receiving pegylated interferon α-2a. Blood. 2013 Aug 8;122(6):893-901.
- 18. Stauffer Larsen T, Iversen KF, Hansen E, Mathiasen AB, Marcher C, Frederiksen M, Larsen H, Helleberg I, Riley CH, Bjerrum OW, Rønnov-Jessen D, Møller MB, de Stricker K, Vestergaard H, Hasselbalch HC. Long term molecular responses in a cohort of Danish patients with essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera and myelofibrosis treated with recombinant interferon alpha. Leuk Res. 2013 Sep;37(9):1041-5.
- 19. Abdel-Wahab O, Pardanani A, Bernard OA, Finazzi G, Crispino JD, Gisslinger H, Kralovics R, Odenike O, Bhalla K, Gupta V, Barosi G, Gotlib J, Guglielmelli P, Kiladjian JJ, Noel P, Cazzola M, Vannucchi AM, Hoffman R, Barbui T, Thiele J, Van Etten RA, Mughal T, Tefferi A. Unraveling

the genetic underpinnings of myeloproliferative neoplasms and understanding their effect on disease course and response to therapy: proceedings from the 6th International Post-ASH Symposium. Am J Hematol. 2012 May;87(5):562-8.

- 20. Bjørn ME, de Stricker K, Kjær L, Ellemann K, Hasselbalch HC. Combination therapy with interferon and JAK1-2 inhibitor is feasible: Proof of concept with rapid reduction in JAK2V617F-allele burden in polycythemia vera. Leuk Res Rep. 2014 Aug 1;3(2):73-5.
- Baerlocher GM, Oppliger Leibundgut E, Ottmann OG, Spitzer G, Odenike O, McDevitt MA, Röth A, Daskalakis M, Burington B, Stuart M, Snyder DS. Telomerase Inhibitor Imetelstat in Patients with Essential Thrombocythemia. N Engl J Med. 2015 Sep 3;373(10):920-8.
- 22. Alchalby H, Badbaran A, Zabelina T, Kobbe G, Hahn J, Wolff D, Bornhäuser M, Thiede C, Baurmann H, Bethge W, Hildebrandt Y, Bacher U, Fehse B, Zander AR, Kröger N. Impact of JAK2V617F mutation status, allele burden, and clearance after allogeneic stem cell transplantation for myelofibrosis. Blood. 2010 Nov 4;116(18):3572-81.
- Lange T, Edelmann A, Siebolts U, Krahl R, Nehring C, Jäkel N, Cross M, Maier J, Niederwieser D, Wickenhauser C. JAK2 p.V617F allele burden in myeloproliferative neoplasms one month after allogeneic stem cell transplantation significantly predicts outcome and risk of relapse. Haematologica. 2013 May;98(5):722-8.
- 24. Kröger N, Badbaran A, Holler E, Hahn J, Kobbe G, Bornhäuser M, Reiter A, Zabelina T, Zander AR, Fehse B. Monitoring of the JAK2-V617F mutation by highly sensitive quantitative real-time PCR after allogeneic stem cell transplantation in patients with myelofibrosis. Blood. 2007 Feb 1;109(3):1316-21.
- 25. Baxter EJ, Scott LM, Campbell PJ, East C, Fourouclas N, Swanton S, Vassiliou GS, Bench AJ, Boyd EM, Curtin N, Scott MA, Erber WN, Green AR; Cancer Genome Project. Acquired mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. Lancet. 2005 Mar 19-25;365(9464):1054-61.
- 26. McClure R, Mai M, Lasho T. Validation of two clinically useful assays for evaluation of JAK2 V617F mutation in chronic myeloproliferative disorders. Leukemia. 2006 Jan;20(1):168–71.
- 27. Rapado I, Albizua E, Ayala R, Hernández JA, Garcia-Alonso L, Grande S, Gallardo M, Gilsanz F, Martinez-Lopez J. Validity test study of JAK2 V617F and allele burden quantification in the diagnosis of myeloproliferative diseases. Ann Hematol. 2008 Sep;87(9):741-9.

- 28. Lippert E, Girodon F, Hammond E, Jelinek J, Reading NS, Fehse B, Hanlon K, Hermans M, Richard C, Swierczek S, Ugo V, Carillo S, Harrivel V, Marzac C, Pietra D, Sobas M, Mounier M, Migeon M, Ellard S, Kröger N, Herrmann R, Prchal JT, Skoda RC, Hermouet S. Concordance of assays designed for the quantification of JAK2V617F: a multicenter study. Haematologica. 2009 Jan;94(1):38-45.
- 29. Cankovic M, Whiteley L, Hawley RC, Zarbo RJ, Chitale D. Clinical performance of JAK2 V617F mutation detection assays in a molecular diagnostics laboratory: evaluation of screening and quantitation methods. Am J Clin Pathol. 2009 Nov;132(5):713-21.
- Chen Q, Lu P, Jones AV, Cross NC, Silver RT, Wang YL. Amplification refractory mutation system, a highly sensitive and simple polymerase chain reaction assay, for the detection of JAK2 V617F mutation in chronic myeloproliferative disorders. J Mol Diagn. 2007 Apr;9(2):272-6.
- 31. Denys B, El Housni H, Nollet F, Verhasselt B, Philippé J. A real-time polymerase chain reaction assay for rapid, sensitive, and specific quantification of the JAK2V617F mutation using a locked nucleic acid-modified oligonucleotide. J Mol Diagn. 2010 Jul;12(4):512-9.
- 32. Mason J, Akiki S, Griffiths MJ. Pitfalls in molecular diagnosis in haemato-oncology. J Clin Pathol. 2011 Apr;64(4):275–8.
- 33. Martinaud C, Brisou P, Mozziconacci M-J. Is the JAK2(V617F) mutation detectable in healthy volunteers? Am J Hematol. 2010 Apr;85(4):287–8.
- 34. Sidon P, Housni H El, Dessars B, Heimann P. The JAK2V617F mutation is detectable at very low level in peripheral blood of healthy donors. Leukemia. 2006 Sep;20(9):1622.
- 35. Xu X, Zhang Q, Luo J, Xing S, Li Q, Krantz SB, Fu X, Zhao ZJ. JAK2(V617F): Prevalence in a large Chinese hospital population. Blood. 2007 Jan 1;109(1):339-42.
- 36. Nielsen C, Birgens HS, Nordestgaard BG, Bojesen SE. Diagnostic value of JAK2 V617F somatic mutation for myeloproliferative cancer in 49 488 individuals from the general population. Br J Haematol. 2013 Jan;160(1):70–9.
- 37. Passamonti F, Rumi E, Pietra D, Lazzarino M, Cazzola M. JAK2 (V617F) mutation in healthy individuals. Br J Haematol. 2007 Feb;136(4):678–9.
- 38. Lippert E, Mansier O, Migeon M, Denys B, Nilsson A, Rosmond C, Lodé L, Ugo V, Lascaux A, Bellosillo B, Martinez-Lopez J, Naguib D, Gachard N, Maroc N, Hermouet S. Clinical and

biological characterization of patients with low (0.1-2%) JAK2V617F allele burden at diagnosis. Haematologica. 2014 Jul;99(7):e98-101. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.107656.

- 39. Jovanovic JV, Ivey A, Vannucchi AM, Lippert E, Oppliger Leibundgut E, Cassinat B, Pallisgaard N, Maroc N, Hermouet S, Nickless G, Guglielmelli P, van der Reijden BA, Jansen JH, Alpermann T, Schnittger S, Bench A, Tobal K, Wilkins B, Cuthill K, McLornan D, Yeoman K, Akiki S, Bryon J, Jeffries S, Jones A, Percy MJ, Schwemmers S, Gruender A, Kelley TW, Reading S, Pancrazzi A, McMullin MF, Pahl HL, Cross NC, Harrison CN, Prchal JT, Chomienne C, Kiladjian JJ, Barbui T, Grimwade D. Establishing optimal quantitative-polymerase chain reaction assays for routine diagnosis and tracking of minimal residual disease in JAK2-V617F-associated myeloproliferative neoplasms: a joint European LeukemiaNet/MPN&MPNr-EuroNet (COST action BM0902) study. Leukemia. 2013 Oct;27(10):2032-9.
- 40. WHO/BS/2016.2293 Collaborative study to evaluate the proposed WHO 1st International Reference Panel for Genomic JAK2 V617F : http://www.who.int/biologicals/ECBS_2016_BS2293_JAK2_WHO_reference_panel.pdf?ua=
 1
- Minervini A, Francesco Minervini C, Anelli L, Zagaria A, Casieri P, Coccaro N, Cumbo C, Tota G, Impera L, Orsini P, Brunetti C, Giordano A, Specchia G, Albano F. Droplet digital PCR analysis of NOTCH1 gene mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Oncotarget. 2016 Dec 27;7(52):86469-86479. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.13246. PubMed PMID: 27835908.
- 42. Fontanelli G, Baratè C, Ciabatti E, Guerrini F, Grassi S, Del Re M, Morganti R, Petrini I, Arici R, Barsotti S, Metelli MR, Danesi R, Galimberti S. Real-Time PCR and Droplet Digital PCR: two techniques for detection of the JAK2(V617F) mutation in Philadelphia-negative chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms. Int J Lab Hematol. 2015 Dec;37(6):766-73. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.12404. PubMed PMID: 26189968.

RESULT IV

Published in Oncotarget

Crucial factors of the inflammatory microenvironment (IL-1 β /TNF- α /TIMP-1) promote the maintenance of the malignant hemopoietic clone of myelofibrosis: an in vitro study

Daria Sollazzo^{1,*}, Dorian Forte^{1,*}, Nicola Polverelli¹, Marco Romano¹, **Margherita Perricone¹**, Lara Rossi¹, Emanuela Ottaviani¹, Simona Luatti¹, Giovanni Martinelli¹, Nicola Vianelli¹, Michele Cavo¹, Francesca Palandri^{1,*}, Lucia Catani^{1,*}

¹Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine, Institute of Hematology "L. e A. Seràgnoli", University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

*These authors contributed equally to this work

Correspondence to: lucia.catani@unibo.it

Keywords: circulating CD34+ cells, myelofibrosis, inflammatory microenvironment, migration, survival

ABSTRACT

Along with molecular abnormalities (mutations in *JAK2*, Calreticulin (*CALR*) and *MPL* genes), chronic inflammation is the major hallmark of Myelofibrosis (MF). Here, we investigated the in vitro effects of crucial factors of the inflammatory microenvironment (Interleukin (IL)-1 β , Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)- α , Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinases (TIMP)-1 and ATP) on the functional behaviour of MF-derived circulating CD34+ cells.

We found that, regardless mutation status, IL-1 β or TNF- α increases the survival of MFderived CD34+ cells. In addition, along with stimulation of cell cycle progression to the S-phase, IL-1 β or TNF- α ± TIMP-1 significantly stimulate(s) the in vitro clonogenic ability of CD34+ cells from *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients. Whereas in the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated group, the addition of IL-1 β or TNF- α + TIMP-1 decreased the erythroid compartment of the *CALR* mutated patients. Megakaryocyte progenitors were stimulated by IL-1 β (*JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients only) and inhibited by TNF- α . IL-1 β + TNF- α + C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12) ± TIMP-1 highly stimulates the in vitro
migration of MF-derived CD34+ cells. Interestingly, after migration toward IL-1 β + TNF- α + CXCL12 ± TIMP-1, CD34+ cells from *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients show increased clonogenic ability.

Here we demonstrate that the interplay of these inflammatory factors promotes and selects the circulating MF-derived CD34+ cells with higher proliferative activity, clonogenic potential and migration ability. Targeting these micro-environmental interactions may be a clinically relevant approach.

INTRODUCTION

Myelofibrosis (MF) is a life-threatening chronic myeloproliferative neoplasia (MPN) of the hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell (HSPC) clinically characterized by progressive anemia, splenomegaly and constitutional symptoms and by an increased risk to develop acute leukemia (AL). It can arise de novo (primary MF; PMF) or can evolve from Polycythemia Vera (PV; PPV MF) or Essential Thrombocythemia (ET; PET MF) [1–3].

Approximately 50 to 60% of MF patients carry a mutation in the Janus kinase 2 (*JAK2*) gene, while 20–25% of patients show recurrent mutations in the Calreticulin (*CALR*) and an additional 5 to 10% have activating mutations in the myeloproliferative leukemia virus oncogene (*MPL*) gene. Around 10% of patients have non-mutated *JAK2*, *MPL* and *CALR* genes ("triple negative"). Regardless of molecular status, all patients have a deregulation in the JAK/STAT signalling [4–9].

Besides molecular abnormalities, the inflammatory microenvironment has emerged in the last few years as a key-player in MF pathogenesis [10]. Abnormal expression and activity of several cytokines involved in inflammation and immunoregulation are associated with MF [11] and correlate with more severe marrow fibrosis [12, 13], worsening systemic symptoms [14] and decreased survival [15]. Also, the constitutive mobilization of CD34+ cells into the peripheral blood has been associated with profound alterations in the CXC chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4)/C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12) axis [16–18]. Up-regulated production of proinflammatory cytokines by HSPCs and surrounding stromal cells generates a microenvironment that selects for the malignant clone [11, 19–23].

Interestingly, HSPCs actively sense pro-inflammatory factors [24]. However, the key players linking inflammation and cancer in MF are still to be defined. Particularly, the plasma

levels of Interleukin (IL)-1 β , Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)- α and Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinases (TIMP)-1 are increased in MF patients [5, 15, 25], but their contribution to disease pathogenesis in MF has been poorly [26] or never investigated. This is also true for the extracellular ATP nucleotide [27]. Under inflammatory conditions, IL-1β stimulates leukocytosis and thrombocytosis by inducing various cytokines (i.e. Granulocyte-Colony Stimulating Factor, IL-6) that are overexpressed in MF; also, IL-1 β regulates the survival/proliferation of AL cells [27– 30]. IL-1 β has been recognized as the main trigger for neural damage and Schwann cell death caused by bone marrow mutant HSPC. Notably, mutant-HSPC- driven niche damage seems to critically contribute to MPN pathogenesis [31]. TNF- α promotes survival of human quiescent bone marrow-derived CD34+ Burst Forming Unit-Erythrocyte (BFU-E) and facilitates the clonal expansion of JAK2^{V617F} -positive cells in MPNs [26,32]. TIMP-1, through receptor (CD63) binding, promotes cell survival, differentiation and migration; also, TIMP-1 displays cytokine-like features in the HSPC compartment [33–35]. It was initially found to enhance the proliferation of erythroid cells [36]; also, we recently demonstrated that TIMP-1 increases the clonogenic efficiency of normal CB-derived progenitor cells [37]. Finally, extracellular nucleotides, mainly ATP, are important mediators in inflammation and modulation of cell proliferation, migration and death, including AL CD34+ stem/progenitor cells [24, 37–41].

Here, we addressed the functional effects of these pro-inflammatory factors on the *in vitro* behaviour of HSPCs derived from MF patients, with the aim to investigate their putative role in disease pathogenesis.

RESULTS

Regardless of mutational status, the plasma levels of IL-1 β , TNF- α and TIMP-1 are increased in MF patients

To evaluate the pro-inflammatory pro le, selected plasma cytokines were measured. Compared with controls, IL-1 β , TNF- α and TIMP-1 plasma levels were significantly increased in MF patients (regardless of IPSS risk stratification values) (Figure 1A, 1B, 1C). We found a trend, albeit not statistically significant (p = 0.06), toward increased IL-1 β plasma levels in *CALR* mutated patients. Targeting TNF- α and TIMP-1, no significant differences were observed between *JAK2*^{V617F} and *CALR* mutated groups.



Figure 1: Regardless mutation status, the plasma levels of IL-1 β , TNF- α and TIMP-1 are increased in MF patients. IL-1 β (A), TNF- α (B) and TIMP-1 (C) plasma levels were measured by ELISA in MF patients. (n = 26; JAK2^{V617F} positive n = 16; CALR positive n = 10) and healthy controls (n = 15). Compared with controls, cytokines plasma levels were significantly increased in MF patients. Of note, there was no signi cant difference between JAK2^{V617F} or CALR mutated patients. All data are presented as mean ± SEM (** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$; **** $p \le 0.0001$).

Selected subsets of circulating HSPCs are expanded in MF patients

To determine the extent of the circulating HSPCs compartment according to mutations, we phenotypically analyzed the whole blood of MF patients.

Irrespective of mutation status, the mean number of circulating CD34+ cells was significantly higher in MF patients than in controls ($p \le 0.0001$). No significant differences were observed between the two mutated groups (Figure 2A). Of note, the number of CD34+ cells correlated with IPSS risk in *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients (r = 0.88; p = 0.02; data not shown).

Along with CD34+CD38- and CD34+CD133+ cells (Figure 2B, 2C), circulating CD34+ cells coexpressing adhesion molecules (CD49d, CD47 and CD44; Figure 2D–2F) were also significantly increased in MF patients. Once again, no significant difference was observed between the two mutated groups.

The median number of circulating MF-derived CD34+ cells co-expressing the TIMP-1 (CD63) or the CXCL12 receptor (CD184; CXCR4) was significantly higher ($p \le 0.001$ and $p \le 0.01$, respectively) than the CB counterparts (Figure 2G, 2H). *CALR* mutated patients showed increased number of circulating CD34+CD63+ and CD34+CD184+ cells compared to $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutated patients ($p \le 0.01$ for CD34+CD63+) or the CB-counterparts ($p \le 0.01$ and $p \le 0.05$, respectively). CD34+CD63+ cells of JAK2V617F mutated patients were also increased compared with the CB-derived cells ($p \le 0.05$).

As shown in Figure 2I, circulating megakaryocyte (MK) progenitors (CD34+CD41+) were also significantly increased ($p \le 0.01$). CALR mutated patients showed increased number of CD34+CD41+ cells compared to JAK2^{V617F} mutated patients ($p \le 0.01$) or the CB-counterparts ($p \le 0.001$).

Of note, except of the decreased expression of CD184 in MF cells, the analysis of mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of CD133, CD63, CD41, CD49d, CD44 and CD47 antigens on the CD34+ cells did not reveal any difference between patients and controls or between the two mutated groups (data not shown).

These data demonstrate that in MF, irrespective of mutation status, there is an *in vivo* expansion of the HSPCs compartment. However, the *CALR* mutated patients show an increased number of circulating CD34+CD63+ and CD34+CD41+ cells compared to the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated counterparts.



Figure 2: Selected subsets of circulating HSPCs are expanded in MF patients. The circulating absolute number of MF (total (n = 30) and subdivided into $JAK2^{V617F}$ (n = 20) or CALR (n = 10) mutated groups) and CB (n = 10) CD34+ cells coexpressing the CD133, CD49d, CD47, CD44, CD63, CD184 and CD41 antigens together with the CD34+ CD38– subset are shown (A–I). All subsets were increased in MF patients as compared with the CB counterparts. No significant differences were observed between the two mutated groups, except the CD34+ CD63+ and the CD34+ CD41+ cells of CALR mutated patients which were significantly increased as compared with the $JAK2^{V617F}$ counterparts. All data are presented as mean ± SEM (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$; *** $p \le 0.001$).

Survival of CD34⁺ cells from MF patients is increased by IL-1 β and TNF- α

To investigate whether inflammatory signals may regulate the survival of HSPCs, CD34+ cells from MF patients or CB were *in vitro* cultured with the selected pro-inflammatory factors, alone or in combination, at concentrations previously shown to be effective in dose-response experiments (Supplementary Figure 1).

We firstly assessed the effects of factors alone on the *in vitro* survival of CD34+ cells. As shown in Figure 3A, the survival of CD34+ cells from MF patients was significantly promoted by IL-1 β or TNF- α as compared with the CB CD34+ cells ($p \le 0.01$ and $p \le 0.05$, respectively) or with the untreated MF cells ($p \le 0.001$ and $p \le 0.01$, respectively). No significant differences in survival were observed between the two mutated groups in all tested conditions (data not shown).

As shown in Supplementary Figure 2, the combinations of factors two-by-two significantly promoted the MF-derived CD34+ cells survival as compared with untreated cells. However, no significant differences in cell viability were observed as compared with factors alone. Interestingly, the two by two combined factors did not significantly enhance the survival of CB-derived CD34+ cells, except for IL-1 β + TNF- α ($p \le 0.01$). Comparing MF vs CB-derived cells, the survival of MF CD34+ cells was significantly enhanced by IL-1 β + TIMP-1 ($p \le 0.01$) and IL-1 β + ATP ($p \le 0.01$).

When multiple factors were combined no significant differences were observed between MF and CB-derived CD34+ cells. Only TNF- α + TIMP-1 + ATP significantly promoted the survival of *JAK2*^{V617F} CD34+ cells as compared with the *CALR* ($p \le 0.01$) or CB counterparts ($p \le 0.001$) (data not shown).

When we analyzed the CD34+ CD38- cells (Figure 3B), we found that multiple factors combinations (particularly those including IL-1 β) significantly stimulated the cell survival of MF and CB-derived cells as compared with untreated cells. However, no significant differences were observed between patients/ controls (Figure 3B) or the two mutated groups (data not shown)

Taken together these data demonstrate that, regardless of mutation status, the survival of MF-derived CD34+ cells is highly stimulated by the in vitro treatment with IL-1 β or TNF- α . Combinations of pro-inflammatory factors do not have synergistic effects.

Clonogenic output of circulating MF-derived CD34+ cells is positively enhanced by IL-1 β + TNF- α ± TIMP-1 combinations

To analyze the functional role of the selected pro-inflammatory cytokines on HSPCs, we investigated their effects on the clonogenic output of circulating MF and CB-derived CD34+ cells.

Factors alone did not induce a significant CFU-C growth from MF CD34+ cells (data not shown). However, when MF-derived CD34+ cells were tested in the presence of combinations of factors two-by-two, the IL-1 β + TIMP-1 combination was the only one effective in stimulating the CFU-C growth as compared with untreated cells ($p \le 0.05$) or CB-derived CD34+ cells ($p \le 0.05$) (Figure 4A). IL-1 β + TNF- α and IL-1 β + TIMP-1 significantly promoted the BFU-E growth of the MF-derived CD34+ cells as compared with the untreated samples and the CB counterparts. The CFU-GM growth was positively enhanced by IL-1 β + TIMP-1 (Supplementary Figure 3A, 3B). Of note, when combinations of multiple factors were tested, only IL-1 β + TNF- α + TIMP-1 significantly promoted the CFU-C growth ($p \le 0.05$) of CD34+ cells from CB (data not shown).

As shown in Figure 4B, when the growth of MK progenitors was investigated in the presence of inflammatory factors alone, we found that, at variance with CB, the MF-derived CFU-MK growth was significantly inhibited by TNF- α . By contrast, IL-1 β has stimulatory activity on MK colony formation. Factors in combination did not significantly modify the growth of patients/CB pure CFU-MK as compared with factors alone.

We also examined the cell-cycle pro le of MF- derived and CB-derived CD34+ cells after *in vitro* exposure to the cytokines. We found that most of the untreated CD34+ cells from MF patients were in a dormant state. Factors alone did not significantly increased the percentage of CD34+ cells in S phase as compared with untreated cells, both in MF patients and CB (data not shown). Conversely, in MF patients, irrespective of mutation status, cell-cycle progression was observed in presence of various cytokines combinations, with the notable exception of ATP + TNF- α + TIMP-1 (Figure 4C, 4D).



Figure 3: Survival of CD34+ cells from MF patients is increased by IL-1 β and TNF- α . (A) CD34+ cells from MF patients (n = 20) or CB (n = 8) were *in vitro* treated for 4 days with factors alone and the percentage of cell viability was assessed after Annexin V/PI staining, as described in Methods. At variance with CB-derived cells, TNF- α and IL-1 β alone significantly stimulated the survival of MF-derived CD34+ cells as compared with untreated cells and the CB-derived counterparts. Conversely, ATP and TIMP-1 were ineffective in normal and diseased cells.(B) In selected experiments, before Annexin V/PI staining, MF- (n = 10) and CB- (n = 6) derived CD34+ cells were also labeled with a MoAb against the human CD38 antigen and the CD34+ CD38- cells were gated and cell viability was analyzed. Once again, multiple combinations of cytokines with IL-1 β or TNF- α significantly stimulated the survival of MF- and CB-derived CD34+ CD38- cells. Notably, this was not true for ATP+ TNF- α + TIMP-1. No differences were observed between MF patients and CB. All data are presented as mean ± SEM. (** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$; **** $p \le 0.0001$ vs untreated cells (CTR)) (# $p \le 0.05$; ## $p \le 0.01$ vs CB).



Figure 4: Proliferation of circulating MF-derived CD34+ cells is positively enhanced by IL-1 β + **TNF-** α **± TIMP-1 combinations.** Circulating CD34+ cells were isolated from MF patients (n = 20) and CB units (n = 8) and cultured in the presence of the selected two-by-two pro-inflammatory factors. After 14 days, the total CFU-C output was assessed as described in Methods (A). Circulating CD34+ cells were isolated from MF patients (n = 10) and CB units (n = 8) and cultured in the presence or absence of inflammatory factors alone or combined. After 12 days, the CFU-MK growth was assessed as described in Methods (B). The results are expressed as growth fold change versus untreated CTR samples. (A) The clonogenic output of the MF-derived CD34+ cells was significantly stimulated by the IL-1 β + TIMP-1 combination as compared with untreated cells or the CB-derived counterparts. No other combinations of factors two-by- two were effective. The mean number of colonies in MF-derived and CB-derived untreated samples was 59 ± 8 and 63 ± 6 , respectively. (B) The MF-derived CFU-MK growth was significantly inhibited by TNF- α . By contrast, IL-1 β has stimulatory activity on MK colony formation. Factors in combination did not significantly modify the growth of patients/CB CFU-MK as compared with factors alone. Factors alone or in combination did not significantly modify the CFU-MK growth of the CB counterparts. The mean number of CFU-MK in MF- and CB-derived untreated samples was 26 ± 11 and 46 ± 10 , respectively. In (C and D) are shown the results of cell-cycle analysis of MF-derived (n = 10) and CB-derived (n = 8) CD34+ cells after in vitro incubation for 24 hours in the presence or absence of various combinations of pro-inflammatory factors. Results are expressed as the percentage of cells in different phases of the cell cycle. IL-1 β plus TNF- α highly promote cell cycling of CD34+ cells from MF patients. IL-1 β + TNF- α + TIMP-1 and IL-1 β + TNF- α + TIMP-1 + ATP were also effective (C). Conversely, no significant differences were observed when CB-derived cells were analyzed (D). All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. (*p ≤ 0.05 ; **p ≤ 0.01 ; ***p ≤ 0.001 vs untreated cells) (#p ≤0.05; ##p ≤0.01 vs CB).

Opposite effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines on clonogenic potential of CD34+ cells from *JAK2*^{V617F} or *CALR* mutated patients

When clonogenic potential was analyzed according to mutation status and in the presence of pro-inflammatory factors alone, no differences were observed between the two mutated groups. Colony composition analysis demonstrated that only IL-1 β enhanced the erythroid compartment of the *JAK2*V617F mutated group (Supplementary Figure 4A and 4B).

By contrast, (Figure 5A), the combination of IL-1 β + TIMP-1 and IL-1 β + TNF- α significantly promoted the CFU-C growth of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients compared with the *CALR* mutated counterparts. Similar results were obtained when CFU-GM and BFU-E growth were distinctly analyzed (data not shown).

When colony composition was analyzed according to mutation status (Figure 5B), both mutated groups showed reduced BFU-E growth of the untreated samples as compared with the CB counterparts. Interestingly, in the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated group, the addition of different combinations of pro-inflammatory factors enhanced the erythroid compartment as compared with untreated samples. Conversely, some cytokines combinations significantly decreased BFU-E growth in *CALR*-mutated patients.

Multiple combinations did not significantly modify the clonogenic activity and colony composition of the two mutated groups (data not shown).

When we analyzed the percentage of $JAK2^{V617F}$ and CALR mutant colonies in the absence or presence of IL- 1 β + TNF α , we found that the percentage of $JAK2^{V617F}$, but not *CALR*, mutated colonies was increased (data not shown).

MK progenitors of $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutated patients were highly stimulated by IL-1 β alone. By contrast, TNF- α significantly inhibited the CFU-MK growth of both $JAK2^{V617F}$ and *CALR* mutated patients as compared with CB counterparts (Supplementary Figure 5).

Taken together these results demonstrate that the hemopoietic function of MF-derived CD34+ cells is highly promoted by the IL-1 β or TNF- $\alpha \pm$ TIMP-1 combinations, even though TNF- α alone show inhibitory effects on MK progenitors. Interestingly, whereas in the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated group, the addition of various combinations of growth factors decreased the erythroid compartment of the *CALR* mutated patients.



Figure 5: Opposite effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines on cells from JAK2V617F or CALR mutated patients. (A) When clonogenic activity was analyzed according to mutation status, the CFU-C growth of JAK2^{V617F} mutated patients was significantly up- regulated by IL-1 β + TIMP-1 and IL-1 β + TNF- α as compared with untreated control samples, the CALR mutated counterparts and the CB-derived cells (only IL-1 β + TIMP-1). The results are expressed as growth fold change versus untreated CTR samples. All data are presented as mean ± SEM. (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$ vs untreated cells) (# $p \le 0.05$; ## $p \le 0.01$; #### $p \le 0.0001$ vs CB-derived cells) (B) When colony composition was analyzed according to mutation status, we found that the erythroid compartment of the untreated samples was reduced in both mutated groups as compared with the CB counterparts. However, no significant differences were observed between the two mutated groups. Interestingly, in the JAK2^{V617F} mutated group, the addition of IL-1 β + TIMP-1 and IL-1 β + TNF- α enhanced the erythroid compartment as compared with untreated samples. Conversely, some cytokines combinations significantly impaired BFU-E growth in CALR mutated patients. The results are expressed as mean percentage of CFU-GM/BFU-E as compared with the total CFU-C count.

IL-1 β and TNF- α significantly promote migration of MF-derived CD34+ cells showing enhanced clonogenic ability after migration in *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients

To evaluate whether selected pro-inflammatory factors may differentially regulate the migratory ability of HSPCs from MF patients, we firstly analyzed the plasma concentration of CXCL12. CXCL12 plasma level was markedly higher in patients than in controls, either total ($p \le 0.05$) or subdivided according to mutation status ($JAK2^{V617F} p \le 0.05$; CALR $p \le 0.05$). Conversely, no significant differences were observed between the two mutated groups (Figure 6A).

To mirror the *in vivo* pattern of MF, we set up *in vitro* migration experiments in the presence of the identified inflammatory factors and CXCL12. The migration rate of MF- or CB-derived CD34+ cells toward inflammatory factors alone (without CXCL12) was not significantly different from that of untreated cells (data not shown).

As shown in Figure 6B, CXCL12 significantly increased the migratory behaviour of MFderived CD34+ cells as compared with CB counterparts ($p \le 0.05$). The addition of IL-1 β or TNF- α + CXCL12 shows a trend toward increased migration of CD34+ cells from MF patients, but doesn't reach statistical significance. At variance with CB derived cells, the addition of both cytokines significantly increased the migratory potential of CD34+ cells from MF patients ($p \le 0.01$). No differences were observed between the two mutated groups (data not shown).

The addition of TIMP-1 and ATP alone or inflammatory factors two by two in the presence of CXCL12 did not significantly increase the migration ability of MF-derived CD34+ cells as compared with CXCL12 alone (data not shown). The migratory behavior of the MF-derived CD34+ cells toward multiple combinations of factors was significantly enhanced as compared with the CB-derived counterparts in all tested combinations. Conversely, CB-derived CD34+ cells were almost insensitive (Supplementary Figure 6).

To evaluate whether migrated cells toward various pro-inflammatory gradients show different hemopoietic function, we also tested the clonogenic potential of CD34+ cells from MF patients or CB after migration toward CXCL12 alone or CXCL12 plus various combinations of factors (Figure 7A, 7B). Interestingly, at variance with the CFU-C growth of unmigrated HSPCs from MF patients, IL-1 β + TNF- α + CXCL12 and IL-1 β + TNF- α + TIMP-1 + CXCL12 selected a subset of MF-derived CD34+ cells with higher clonogenic potential as compared with CXCL12 alone ($p \le$ 0.05, respectively) (Figure 7B). Conversely, the clonogenic output of CB-derived CD34+ cells after

migration toward various combinations of pro-inflammatory factors was unaffected (Figure 7A). Notably, according to mutation status, the CFU-C post migration assay demonstrated once again that various combinations of pro-inflammatory factors significantly stimulate the clonogenic ability of migrated CD34+ cells from *JAK2*^{V617F}, but not *CALR*, mutated patients (Supplementary Figure 7).

When the number of granulocyte and erythroid colonies were analyzed individually, only BFU-E growth was significantly increased with respect to controls ($p \le 0.05$) after cells were migrated toward IL-1 β + TNF- α + CXCL12 ± TIMP-1. Of note, IL-1 β + TNF- α + TIMP-1 + CXCL12 significantly stimulated also CFU- GM growth as compared with CXCL12 alone ($p \le 0.05$) (data not shown).

Taken together these results demonstrate that, irrespective of mutation status, IL-1 β + TNF- α + CXCL12 ± TIMP-1 selectively enhances the migratory ability of MF- derived CD34+ cells. Interestingly, IL-1 β + TNF- α + CXCL12 ± TIMP-1 promotes and selects the circulating HSPCs of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients with higher clonogenic potential.



Figure 6: IL-1 β and TNF- α significantly increases migration of MF-derived CD34+ cells. (A) CXCL12 plasma levels of MF patients (total n = 24; $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutated patients n = 16; *CALR* mutated patients n = 8) and controls (n = 10). Regardless mutation status, CXCL12 concentration was significantly higher in MF patients (* $p \le 0.05$ vs controls). (B) When cells were migrated toward CXCL12 alone, an increased migration ability was observed in MF-derived (n = 15) CD34+ cells as compared with the CB-derived (n = 8) counterparts. The addition of inflammatory factors alone (IL-1 β /TNF- α) plus CXCL12 significantly increased the migratory behaviour of MF-derived CD34+ cells as compared with CXCL12 alone. IL-1 β + TNF- α synergistically enhanced the migratory behaviour of CD34+ cells as compared with spontaneous migration (****p < 0.0001), CXCL12 alone (**p < 0.001) and the CB-counterpart (####p < 0.0001). Results are expressed as mean percentages ± SEM of input. (** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$ vs spontaneous migration for MF-derived CD34+ cells) (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; ***p < 0.0001 vs spontaneous migration for MF-derived CD34+ cells) (# $p \le 0.05$; ####p < 0.0001 vs CB).





DISCUSSION

Here, we evaluated the *in vitro* effects of four main crucial factors of the inflammatory microenvironment (IL-1 β , TNF- α , TIMP-1 and ATP) on survival, clonogenic output and migration ability of MF HSPCs.

First, this study demonstrates that, regardless of mutation status, IL-1 β , TNF- α and TIMP-1 are increased in the plasma of MF patients and the presence of IL-1 β , TNF- $\alpha \pm$ TIMP-1 confers a survival advantage of MF-derived HSPCs. Second, HSPCs from *JAK2*^{V617F} show *in vitro* enhanced proliferation over untreated cells and the CB counterparts in response to IL-1 β , TNF- $\alpha \pm$ TIMP-1 exposure (alone or, mostly, in combination). Accordingly, IL-1 β + TNF- α stimulates cell cycle progression of MF-derived CD34+ cells to the S-phase. Third, IL-1 β + TNF- α combination promotes the *in vitro* migration of MF-derived HSPCs. Interestingly, after migration toward IL-1 β + TNF- α + CXCL12 ± TIMP-1, MF-derived CD34+ cells show increased clonogenic ability as compared with CXCL12 alone or the CB counterparts. This finding was mainly due to stimulation of the clonogenic growth of HSPCs from *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated patients.

TNF- α has already been shown to facilitate clonal expansion of *JAK2*^{V617F}-positive cells in MF [26]. The results of this study provide new evidences that, in addition to TNF- α , IL-1 β and TIMP-1 promote the *in vitro* maintenance of the HSPCs.

Mutation status is associated with dysregulated hemopoietic function (clonogenic output and colony composition) of MF-derived CD34+ cells in presence of IL- 1β + TNF- α ± TIMP-1. Specifically, when pro-inflammatory factors were added in culture, CD34+ cells from *JAK2^{V617F}* mutated patients showed increased clonogenic potential and increased size of the erythroid progenitors compartment as compared with the *CALR*-mutated counterparts. Along with the CFU-C growth, IL-1 β stimulates the *in vitro* growth of MK progenitors of *JAK2^{V617F}* mutated patients only. Consistent data on single cell assays suggested that HSC self-renewal capacity is negatively affected by *JAK2^{V617F}*, but progenitor cells have increased proliferation capacity [42]. In addition, these findings can be related to the fact that *JAK2^{V617F}* mutant, in contrast with the *CALR* counterpart, activates not only the MK cell line but also the erythroid and granulocytic lineages [43].

Despite increased frequency of MK progenitors (CD34+CD41+ cells) in the PB of *CALR* mutated patients, we clearly demonstrate that the hemopoietic function of CD34+ cells from *CALR* mutated patients is unmodified (megakaryocytic compartment) or significantly inhibited (erythroid compartment) by IL-1 β or various combinations of inflammatory factors including IL-1 β . It is therefore likely that these functional abnormalities may contribute to explain the lower hemoglobin concentration that is displayed by *CALR*-positive patients compared to *JAK2*^{V617F}-mutated patients [8]. Interestingly, at variance with *JAK2*^{V617F}, *CALR* mutants moderately activate the PI3K/AKT pathway, a critical determinant of erythropoiesis and megakaryocytopoiesis [43–46].

Of note, we also found increased number of circulating CD34+CD63+ cells in MF. However, despite TIMP-1 alone was ineffective, various combinations including TIMP-1 increased the proliferation/migration of MF-derived CD34+ cells. This finding was not due to upregulated expression of CD63 receptor on MF- derived CD34+ cells after exposure to IL-1 β and/or TNF- α (data not shown). It is therefore likely that downstream intracellular signaling pathways are hyperactivated and stimulate clonogenic activity.

Overall, our data indicate that the *in vitro* behavior of the MF-derived HSPCs can be upregulated by regulatory signals provided by the microenvironment and, specifically, through the cooperation between various pro- inflammatory factors. Therefore, the increased number of HSPCs in the peripheral blood of MF may be due not only to the displacement of HSPCs from bone marrow into peripheral blood, but also to the proliferative/survival signals coming from the proinflammatory factors within the peripheral blood niche. As a consequence, the pro-inflammatory microenvironment emerges as central site for cell division and proliferation.

In conclusion, the *in vitro* interplay between identified pro-inflammatory cytokines, which are abnormally increased, promotes and selects the circulating MF-derived HSPCs with higher proliferative activity, clonogenic potential and migration ability. Thus, it is likely that the *in vivo* inflammatory niche plays a key role in the maintenance of the malignant hemopoietic clone. Targeting these inflammatory micro-environmental interactions may be a clinically relevant approach for MF.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and samples

Peripheral blood (PB) was obtained from 10 normal age-matched volunteers and 36 patients with MF in chronic phase. Patients characteristics according to mutational status are shown in Table 1. At the time of the study, patients were at diagnosis (19 cases) or untreated for at least two months. Previous therapies were: hydroxyurea (12 cases) and Ruxolitinib (3 cases). The diagnosis of MF was made according to WHO 2008 criteria [47]. Patients and controls provided written informed consent for the study. This study was approved by the medical Ethical Committee of the University Hospital of Bologna and was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. During the last trimester of pregnancy, an increased number of CD34+ HSPC are mobilized from the fetal liver and can be found in the circulating blood, including umbilical cord blood (CB). Therefore, since HSPC trafficking characterizes both the PB of MF patients and CB, we choose this physiological source for comparison. CB collections (14 cases) from normal full-term deliveries were provided by the Cord Blood Bank of the University Hospital of Bologna after written informed consent.

Characteristics	JAK2 ^{V617F} -mutated patients (no. 23)	CALR mutated patients (no.13)	<i>P</i> value
Median age, years (range)	65 (40-82)	73 (70–84)	0.01
Male sex, n° (%)	12 (52%)	7 (54%)	1
Median allele burden, % (range)	89 (0,4–99)	56,5 (47–98)	0.07
Median WBC, ×10 ⁹ /L (range)	8,6 (2,5–157,6)	6,6 (2,3–16)	0.48
Median hemoglobin, g/dL (range)	11,9 (8,6–15,1)	9,3 (7,7–12,7)	0.04
Median platelet count, ×10 ⁹ /l (range)	270 (41–707)	198 (86–419)	0.44
High/intermediate 2 IPSS category, n° (%)	12 (52)	7 (54)	1
Unfavorable karyotype, n° (%)	9 (39)	3 (23)	0.46
PMF diagnosis, n° (%)	14 (61)	9 (69)r	0.7
BM fibosis grade ≥ 2 nf (%)	14 (61)	13 (100)	0.03
Patients with splenomegaly, n° (%)	19 (83)	10 (77)	0.7
Median follow-up, months (range)	45 (1,9–114,9)	48 (10–136,3)	0.24

Table 1: Patients characteristics according to mutational status

Cell isolation

PB, anticoagulated with ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA), was obtained from patients/controls. Mononuclear cells (MNCs) were separated from MF and CB samples by stratification on Lympholyte-H 1.077 g/cm3 gradient (Gibco-Invitrogen, Milan, Italy), followed by red blood cell lysis for 15 min at 4°C. MNCs were then processed on magnetic columns for CD34+ cell isolation (mean purity 94% \pm 5%) (MACS CD34 Isolation kit; Miltenyi Biotech, Bologna, Italy), as previously described [37].

Plasma levels measurement of selected circulating cytokines

We measured the cytokines plasma levels of patients/ controls by ELISA, according to the manufacturer's instructions. EDTA-anticoagulated PB was centrifuged for 15 minutes at 1000 g within 30 minutes of collection. The plasma was then collected and stored at -80°C until quantification. In particular, the TIMP-1 ELISA kit was provided from Boster Immunoleader (Boster Biological Technology Co., Pleasanton, CA, USA) and CXCL12 ELISA kit from Krishgen ByoSistems (Ashley CT, Whittier, CA, USA). The CiraplexTM immunoassay kit/ Human 9-Plex Array (Aushon BioSystems, Billerica, MA, USA) was used for the measurement of various cytokines including IL-1 β and TNF- α .

Phenotype of circulating CD34+ cells

The phenotype of circulating CD34+ cells was evaluated in PB from MF patients and in CB samples by conventional immunofluorescence, as previously described [48]. Antibodies used to characterize the CD34+ cells are listed in Supplementary Table 1. A minimum of 1 × 104 CD34+ cells were acquired by ow cytometer BD Accuri C6 (Becton Dickinson). Analysis was performed excluding cellular debris in a SSC/FSC dot plot. The percentage of positive cells was calculated subtracting the value of the appropriate isotype controls. The absolute number of positive cells/mL was calculated as follows: percentage of positive cells × White Blood Cells count/100.

Apoptosis assay

Freshly isolated CD34+ HSPCs (2–5 × 105) from MF patients or CB units were maintained in RPMI 1640 with 10% FBS, with or without IL-1 β (1,10 ng/mL), TNF- α (10,100 ng/mL), TIMP-1

(100,300 ng/mL), and ATP (100,1000 μ M), alone or in different combinations. After 4 days, cells were stained for 15 min at RT with Annexin- V-FLUOS Staining Kit (Roche, Penzberg, Germany). Samples were then immediately analyzed by BD Accuri C6 (BD Bioscience). Results are expressed as percentage of live cells compared to the whole cells.

Erythroid and granulocytic progenitors assays

MF/CB-derived CD34+ cells were cultured *in vitro* to achieve hematopoietic cell differentiation and the formation of multi-lineage colony-forming units (CFU-Cs), including colony forming unit-granulocyte macrophage (CFU-GM) and BFU-E. Specifically, CD34+ cells were seeded in methylcellulose-based medium (human StemMACS HSC-CFU lite w/Epo, Miltenyi Biotech) at 5 × 102 cells/mL in 35-mm Petri dishes in the presence or absence of the selected pro-inflammatory factors: TIMP-1 (100 ng/mL; Thermo Scientific, Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL, USA), ATP (1000 μ M; Sigma Aldrich, Milan, Italy), TNF- α (10 ng/mL; Thermo Scientific) and IL-1 β (1 ng/mL; Thermo Scientific), alone or in combination. After 2 weeks of incubation at 37°C in 5% humidified CO2 atmosphere, CFU-C growth was evaluated by standard morphologic criteria using an inverted microscope (Axiovert 40, Zeiss).

Megakaryocytic progenitors assay

Megakaryocytic colonies (Colony Forming Unit-Megakaryocyte (CFU-MK)) were obtained using MegaCultTM-C assay (Stem Cell Technologies; Vancouver, BC, Canada), according to the manufacturer's protocols. Brie y, 5 × 103 MF/CB-derived CD34+ cells were seeded in a collagenbased medium in double chamber slides in the presence or absence of the inflammatory factors, alone or in combination. Cultures were incubated for 12 days and then dehydrated, fixed and stained with a primary antibody to the MK-specific antigen GPIIb/IIIa (CD41) linked to a secondary biotinylated antibody-alkaline phosphatase avidin conjugated detection system. CFU-MK were counted using a light microscope.

Cell cycle analysis

A total of 106 CD34+ cells was maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)-1640 (Lonza) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA

USA). Cells were resuspended in complete medium at a concentration of 1×106 /mL, and primed for 24 hours with the pro- inflammatory cytokines (1 ng/mL IL-1 β , 10 ng/mL TNF- α , 100 ng/mL TIMP-1, 1000 μ M ATP), alone or in combination. Treated cells were first permeabilized with NP-40 (15 min at RT) and then labeled with propidium iodide (PI)/RNAse staining kit (BD Bioscience) for 15 min at RT, in the dark. The DNA content was assessed by BD Accuri C6 (BD Bioscience) and results were analyzed by FCS express 4 software.

Changes in the cell-cycle distribution were evaluated using PI. The percentage of cells in the G0/ G1, S, and G2/M phases was determined by measuring simultaneously the DNA and RNA total cellular content.

Migration assay

Migration of MF/CB purified CD34+ cells was assayed towards a CXCL12 gradient (150 ng/mL) in transwell chambers (diameter 6.5 mm, pore size 8 μ m; Costar; Corning), as previously described [38]. Brie y, 50 μ l of RPMI 1640 plus 10% FBS containing 0,5 × 105 cells were added to the upper chamber and 150 μ l of medium with or without CXCL12 ± IL-1 β (1 ng/mL), TNF- α (10 ng/mL), TIMP-1 (100 ng/mL), and ATP (1000 μ M) (alone or in combination) were added to the bottom chamber. After overnight incubation at 37°C in 5% humidified CO2 atmosphere, inserts (upper chambers) were removed and cells transmigrated into lower chamber were recovered and counted by Trypan Blue exclusion test in a Neubauer chamber using an inverted microscope (Nikon) with a 10× magnification. The amount of migrated cells was expressed as a percentage of the input, applying the following formula: (number of migrated cells recovered from the lower compartment/total number of cells loaded in the upper compartment) × 100. In addition, migrated cells were assayed in methylcellulose-based medium for their ability to form hematopoietic colonies (as above described).

Mutation analysis

JAK2^{V617F} allele-burden was assessed in granulocyte DNA by quantitative polymerase chain reaction–based allelic discrimination assay (ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant Kit) on 7900 HT Fast Real Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem) [49]. *CALR* exon 9 *s*equencing was performed by Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) approach with GS Junior (Roche-454 platform); analysis was carried

out with AVA Software (GRCh38 as reference) [50]. Rare *CALR* mutations identified by NGS were confirmed by Sanger sequencing.

Individual colonies were harvested at day 12– 14 from 3 *JAK2*^{V617F} and 3 *CALR* mutated patients (20 individual colonies each condition). Molecular characterization of single colonies was performed on DNA extracted using REPLI-g Single Cell Kit (QIAGEN, Marseille, France), which provides accurate genome ampli cation from single cells or limited samples with high efficiency. Brie y, 4 μL of cell material (supplied with PBS) were firstly lysed. After denaturation, isothermal amplification reaction was performed and amplified DNA was used for *JAK2*^{V617F} and *CALR* mutations assessment, as above described.

Cytogenetic analysis

Chromosome banding analysis was performed on bone marrow cells by standard banding techniques according to the International System for Human Cytogenetic Nomenclature. At least 20 metaphases were required. Unfavourable karyotype included complex karyotype or single or two abnormalities including +8, -7/7q-, i(17q), -5%5q-, 12p-, inv(3) or 11q23 rearrangement [51, 52].

Statistical analysis

Numerical variables have been summarized by their median and range, and categorical variables by count and relative frequency (%) of each category. Comparisons of quantitative variables between groups of patients were carried out by the nonparametric Wilcoxon rank-sum test. All p values were considered statistically significant when ≤ 0.05 (2-tailed). Statistical analyses were performed using Graphpad (Graphpad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA) and SPSS software (PASW Statistics for Windows, Version 18.0. Chicago, IL).

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Authors declare no conflicts of interest.

GRANT SUPPORT

This research was supported by Associazione Italiana contro le Leucemie-Bologna section (BolognAIL), by the University of Bologna (RFO 2013–2014 for L.C. and F.P.) and by the European Union Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007–2013) under Grant Agreement n° 306242-NGS-PTL and from Progetto Regione–Università 2012–2014 (L. Bolondi).

REFERENCES

- Kleppe M, Levine RL. New pieces of a puzzle: the current biological picture of MPN. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012; 1826:415–22.
- Tefferi A, Pardanani A. Myeloproliferative Neoplasms: a contemporary review. JAMA Oncol. 2015; 1:97–105.
- 3. Cervantes F, Arellano-Rodrigo E, Alvarez-Larràn A. Blood cell activation in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Haematologica. 2009; 94:1484–88.
- James C, Ugo V, Casadevall N, Constantinescu SN, Vainchenker W. A JAK2 mutation in myeloproliferative disorders : pathogenesis and therapeutic and scientific prospects. Trend Mol Med. 2005; 11:546–54.
- 5. Tefferi A, Vainchenker W. Myeloproliferative neoplasms: molecular pathophysiology, essential clinical understanding and treatment strategies. J Clin Oncol. 2011; 29:573–82.
- Klamp T, Gisslinger H, Harutyunyan AS, Nivarthi H, Rumi E, Milosevic JD, Them NC, Berg T, Gisslinger B, Pietra D, Chen D, Vladimer GI, Bagienski K et al. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 2013; 369:2379–90.
- 7. Chen E, Mullally A. How does JAK2V617F contribute to the pathogenesis of myeloproliferative neoplasms? Hematology AM Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2014; 2014:268–76.
- Rumi E, Pietra D, Pascutto C, Guglielmelli P, Martínez- Trillos A, Casetti I, Colomer D, Pieri L, Pratcorona M, Rotunno G, Sant'Antonio E, Bellini M, Cavalloni C et al. Clinical effect of driver mutations of JAK2, CALR, or MPL in primary myelofibrosis. Blood. 2014; 124:1062–69.
- Tapper W, Jones AV, Kralovics R, Harutyunyan AS, Zoi K, Leung W, Godfrey AL, Guglielmelli P, Callaway A, Ward D, Aranaz P, White HE, Waghorn K et al. Genetic variation at MECOM, TERT, JAK2 and HBS1L-MYB predisposes to myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nat Commun. 2015; 6:6691.
- Geyer HL, Dueck AC, Scherber RM, Mesa RA. Impact of In ammation on Myeloproliferative Neoplasm Symptom Development. Mediators Inflamm. 2015; 2015:284706. doi: 10.1155/2015/284706.
- Hasselbalch HC. The role of cytokines in the initiation and progression of myelofibrosis.
 Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2013; 24: 133–45.

- 12. Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC, Martyré MC. Dual implication of fibrogenic cytokines in the pathogenesis of fibrosis and myeloproliferation in myeloid metaplasia with myelofibrosis. Ann Hematol. 1999; 78:437–44.
- 13. Tefferi A. Myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. N Engl J Med. 2000; 342:1255–65.
- 14. Squires M, Harrison CN, Barosi G, Vannucchi AM, Barbui T, Gisslinger H, Passamonti F, Al-Ali HK, Kiladjian J, Marker MT, Mendelson ET, Stalbovskaya V, Cervantes F et al. The Relationship Between Cytokine Levels and Symptoms in Patients (Pts) With Myelofibrosis (MF) From COMFORT-II, a Phase 3 Study of Ruxolitinib (RUX) Vs Best Available Therapy (BAT). Blood. 2013 122:4070.
- Tefferi A, Vaidya R, Caramazza D, Finke C, Lasho T, Pardanani A. Circulating interleukin (IL)-8,
 IL-2R, IL-12, and IL-15 levels are independently prognostic in primary myelofibrosis: a comprehensive cytokine pro ling study. J Clin Oncol. 2011; 29:1356–63.
- 16. Barosi G, Viarengo G, Pecci A, Rosti V, Piaggio G, Marchetti M, Frassoni F. Diagnostic and clinical relevance of the number of circulating CD34(+) cells in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia. Blood. 2001; 98:3249–55
- 17. Xu M, Bruno E, Chao J, Huang S, Finazzi G, Fruchtman SM, Popat U, Prchal JT, Barosi G, Hoffman R; MPD Research Consortium. Constitutive mobilization of CD34+ cells into the peripheral blood in idiopathic myelofibrosis may be due to the action of a number of proteases. Blood. 2005; 105:4508–15.
- 18. Migliaccio AR, Martelli F, Verrucci M, Migliaccio G, Vannucchi AM, Ni H, Xu M, Jiang Y, Nakamoto B, Papayannopoulou T, Hoffman R. Altered SDF-1/CXCR4 axis in patients with primary myelofibrosis and in the Gata1 low mouse model of the disease. Exp Hematol. 2008; 36:158–71.
- 19. Hasselbalch HC. Perspectives on chronic inflammation in essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and myelofibrosis: is chronic inflammation a trigger and driver of clonal evolution and development of accelerated atherosclerosis and second cancer? Blood. 2012; 119: 3219–25.
- 20. Hasselbalch HC. Chronic Inflammation as a Promoter of Mutagenesis in Essential Thrombocythemia, Polycythemia Vera and Myelofibrosis. A Human Inflammation Model for Cancer Development. Leuk Res. 2013; 37:214–20.

- Lataillade JJ, Pierre-Louis O, Hasselbalch HC, Uzan G, Jasmin C, Martyré MC, Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC; French INSERM and the European EUMNET Networks on Myelofibrosis. Does primary myelofibrosis involve a defective stem cell niche? From concept to evidence. Blood. 2008; 112:3026–35. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008–06–158386.
- 22. Fleischman AG. Inflammation as a driver of clonal evolution in Myeloproliferative Neoplasm.Mediators Inflamm. 2015; 2015:606819. doi: 10.1155/2015/606819
- 23. Le Bousse-Kerdilès MC. Primary myelofibrosis and the "bad seeds in bad soil" concept. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair. 2012; 5:S20. doi: 10.1186/1755–1536–5-S1-S20.
- 24. Rossi L, Salvestrini V, Ferrari D, Di Virgilio F, Lemoli RM. The sixth sense: hematopoietic stem cells detect danger through purinergic signaling. Blood. 2012; 120:2365–75.
- 25. Wang JC, Novetsky A, Chen C, Novetsky AD. Plasma matrix metalloproteinase and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase in patients with agnogenic myeloid metaplasia or idiopathyc primary myelofibrosis.Br J Haematol. 2002; 119:709–12.
- 26. Fleischman AG, Aichberger KJ, Luty SB, Bumm TG, Petersen CL, Doratotaj S, Vasudevan KB, LaTocha DH, Yang F, Press RD, Loriaux MM, Pahl HL, Silver RT et al. Tumor necrosis factoralpha facilitates clonal expansion of JAK2V617F-positive cells in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2011; 118:6392–98.
- 27. Bours MJ, Dagnelie PC, Giuliani AL, Wesselius A, Di Virgilio F. P2 receptors and extracellular ATP: a novel homeostatic pathway in inflammation. Front Biosci (Schol Ed). 2011; 3:1443–56.
- 28. Dinarello CA. Biologic basis for interleukin-1 in disease. Blood. 1996; 87:2095–147.
- 29. Turzanski J, Grundy M, Russel NH, Pallis M. Interleukin- 1beta maintains an apoptosis-resistant phenotype in the blast cells of acute myeloid leukaemia via multiple pathways. Leukemia. 2004; 18:1662–70.
- Yang J, Ikezoe T, Nishioka C, Nobumoto A, Yokoyama A. IL- 1β inhibits self-renewal capacity of dormant CD34+/CD38- acute myelogenous leukemia cells in vitro and in vivo. Int J Cancer. 2013; 133:1967–81. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28198.
- 31. Arranz L, Sánchez-Aguilera A, Martín-Pérez D, Isern J, Langa X, Tzankov A, Lundberg P, Muntión S, Tzeng YS, Lai DM, Schwaller J, Skoda RC, Méndez-Ferrer S. Neuropathy of haematopoietic stem cell niche is essential for myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nature. 2014 7;512:78–81

- 32. Ratajczak J, Kucia M, Reca R, Zhang J, Machalinski B, Ratajczak MZ. Quiescent CD34+ early erythroid progenitors are resistant to several erythropoietic 'inhibitory' cytokines; role of FLIP. Br J Haematol. 2003; 123:160–69.
- 33. Chirco R, Liu XW, Jung KK, Kim HR Novel functions of TIMPs in cell signaling. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2016; 7:19414–29. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6838.
- 34. Ries C. Cytokine functions of TIMP-1. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2014; 71:659–72.
- 35. Lee SY, Kim JM, Cho SY, Kim HS, Shin HS, Jeon JY, Kausar R, Jeong SY, Lee YS, Lee MA. TIMP-1 modulates chemotaxis of human neural stem cells through CD63 and integrin signalling. Biochem J. 2014; 459:565–76.
- 36. Stricklin GP, Welgus HG. Physiological relevance of erythroid-potentiating activity of TIMP. Nature. 1986; 321:628
- 37. Rossi L, Forte D, Migliardi G, Salvestrini V, Buzzi M, Ricciardi MR, Licchetta R, Tafuri A, Bicciato S, Cavo M, Catani L, Lemoli RM, Curti A. The tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 increases the clonogenic ef ciency of human hematopoietic progenitor cells through CD63PI3K/ Akt signaling. Exp Hematol. 2015; 43:974-985.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2015.07.003.
- 38. Rossi L, Manfredini R, Bertolini F, Ferrari D, Fogli M, Zini R, Salati S, Salvestrini V, Gulinelli S, Adinol E, Ferrari S, Di Virgilio F, Baccarani M, et al. The extracellular nucleotide UTP is a potent inducer of hematopoietic stem cell migration. Blood. 2007; 109:533–42.
- Di Virgilio F, Chiozzi P, Ferrari D, Falzoni S, Sanz JM, Morelli A, Torboli M, Bolognesi G, Baricordi OR. Nucleotide receptors: an emerging family of regulatory molecole in blood cells. Blood. 2001; 97:587–600.
- 40. Lemoli RM, Ferrari d, Fogli M, Rossi L, Pizzirani C, Forchap S, Chiozzi P, Vaselli D, Bertolini F, Foutz T, Aluigi M, Baccarani M, Di Virgilio F. Extracellular nucleotides are potent stimulators of human hematopoietic stem cells in vitro and in vivo. Blood. 2004; 104:1662–70.
- 41. Salvestrini V, Zini R, Rossi L, Gulinelli S, Manfredini R, Bianchi E, Piacibello W, Caione L, Migliardi G, Ricciardi MR, Tafuri A, Romano M, Salati S et al. Purinergic signalling inhibits human acute myeloblastic leukemia cell proliferation, migration and engraftment in immunodeficient mice. Blood. 2012; 119:217–26. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011–07–370775.
- 42. Anand S, Stedham F, Beer P, Gudgin E, Ortmann CA, Bench A, Erber W, Green AR, Huntly BJ. Effects of the JAK2 mutation on the hemopoietic stem and progenitor compartment in human

myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2011; 118:177-81.

- 43. Vainchenker W, Constantinescu SN, Plo I. Recent advances in understanding myelofibrosis and essential thrombocythemia. F1000Res. 2016; 5. pii: F1000 Faculty Rev-700.
- 44. Chachoua I, Pecquet C, El-Khoury M, Nivarthi H, Albu RI, Marty C, Gryshkova V, Defour JP, Vertenoeil G, Ngo A, Koay A, Raslova H, Courtoy PJ et al. Thrombopoietin receptor activation by myeloproliferative neoplasm associated calreticulin mutants. Blood. 2016; 127:1325–35.
- 45. Bartalucci N, Tozzi L, Bogani C, Martinelli S, Rotunno G, Villeval JL, Vannucchi AM. Cotargetingthe PI3K/mTOR and JAK2 signalling pathways produces synergistic activity against myeloproliferative neoplasms. J Cell Mol Med. 2013; 17:1385–96.
- 46. Choong ML, Pecquet C, Pendharkar V, Diaconu CC, Yong JW, Tai SJ, Wang SF, Defour JP, Sangthongpitag K, Villeval JL, Vainchenker W, Constantinescu SN, Lee MA. Combination treatment for myeloproliferative neoplasms using JAK and pan-class I PI3K inhibitors. J cell Mol Med. 2013; 17:1397–409.
- 47. Vardiman JW, Thiele J, Arber DA, Brunning RD, Borowitz MJ, Porwit A, Harris NL, Le Beau MM, Hellström-Lindberg E, Tefferi A, Bloom eld CD. The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classi cation of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. Blood. 2009; 114:937–51. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009–03–209262.
- 48. Lemoli RM, Catani L, Talarico S, Loggi E, Gramenzi A, Baccarani U, Fogli M, Grazi GL, Aluigi M, Marzocchi G, Bernardi M, Pinna A, Bresadola F et al. Mobilization of bone marrow-derived hematopoietic and endothelial stem cells after orthotopic liver transplantation and liver resection. Stem Cells. 2006; 24:2817–25.
- 49. Jovanovic JV, Ivey A, Vannucchi AM, Lippert E, Oppliger Leibundgut E, Cassinat B, Pallisgaard N, Maroc N, Hermouet S, Nickless G, Guglielmelli P, van der Reijden BA, Jansen JH et al. Establishing optimal quantitative- polymerase chain reaction assays for routine diagnosis and tracking of minimal residual disease in JAK2-V617F- associated myeloproliferative neoplasms: a joint European LeukemiaNet/MPN&MPNr-EuroNet (COST action BM0902) study. Leukemia. 2013; 27:2032–39.
- 50. Kohlmann A, Klein HU, Weissmann S, Bresolin S, Chaplin T, Cuppens H, Haschke-Becher E, Garicochea B, Grossmann V, Hanczaruk B, Hebestreit K, Gabriel C, Iacobucci I et al. The Interlaboratory RObustness of Next- generation sequencing (IRON) study: a deep sequencing

investigation of TET2, CBL and KRAS mutations by an international consortium involving 10 laboratories. Leukemia. 2011; 25:1840–48.

- 51. Shaffer LG SM, Campbell LJ: ISCN 2009: International System of Human Cytogenetic Nomenclature. Basel, Switzerland, Karger AG, 2009.
- 52. Gangat N, Caramazza D, Vaidya R, George G, Begna K, Schwager S, Van Dyke D, Hanson C, Wu W, Pardanani A, Cervantes F, Passamonti F, Tefferi A. DIPSS plus.: a refined Dynamic International Prognostic Scoring System for Primary Myelo brosis that incorporates prognostic information from karyotype, platelet count, and transfusion status. J Clin Oncol. 2011; 29:392–97.

Crucial factors of the inflammatory microenvironment (IL-1 β / TNF- α /TIMP-1) promote the maintenance of the malignant hemopoietic clone of myelofibrosis: an *in vitro* study



Supplementary Figure S1: Survival of MF- and CB-derived CD34+ cells after *in vitro* treatment with increasing doses of inflammatory factors. CD34+ cells from MF patients (n = 4) or CB (n = 3) were *in vitro* treated for 4 days with factors alone (ATP (100, 1000 μ M), TNF- α (10,100 ng/mL), TIMP-1 (100,300 ng/mL) and IL-1 β (1,20 ng/mL)) and the percentage of cell viability was assessed after AnnexinV/PI staining, as described in methods. (* $p \le 0.05$ vs untreated cells).



Supplementary Figure S2: Survival of CD34+ cells from MF patients is increased by various combinations of pro-inflammatory factors. CD34+ cells from MF patients (n = 20) or CB (n = 8) were *in vitro* treated for 4 days with factors two by two and the percentage of cell viability was assessed after AnnexinV/PI staining, as described in Methods. Cells viability of MF-derived CD34+ cells was significantly increased by IL-1 β + TNF- α , IL-1 β + TIMP-1, TNF- α + TIMP-1 and IL-1 β + ATP as compared with untreated cells. Conversely, only the IL-1 β + TNF- α combination was effective in stimulating the *in vitro* survival of the CB-derived CD34+ cells. Comparing MF vs CB, IL-1 β + TIMP-1 and IL-1 β + ATP significantly promoted the survival of the MF-derived cells. All data are presented as mean ± SEM. (* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$; **** $p \le 0.0001$ vs untreated cells (CTR)) (## $p \le 0.01$ vs CB).



Supplementary Figure S3: Effects of inflammatory factors on BFU-E/CFU-GM growth from MFand CB-derived CD34+ cells. Circulating CD34+ cells were isolated from MF patients (n = 20) and CB units (n = 8) and cultured in semisolid medium in the presence of the selected two-by-two or multiple pro-inflammatory factors. After 14 days, the BFU-E/CFU-GM (**A** and **B**) and the total CFU-C (**C**) output was assessed. (A) When IL-1 β + TIMP-1 and IL-1 β + TNF- α were added in culture, the BFU-E growth of MF-derived, but not CB-derived, CD34+ cells was significantly increased as compared with the untreated samples and the CB counterparts. None of the others combinations were effective. (B) The growth of CFU-GM from MF-derived CD34+ cells showed the same pattern displayed by BFU-E. (C) When various combinations of inflammatory factors were tested, MFderived CD34+ cells showed a decreased number of CFU-C compared to CB in response to ATP, TNF α , and TIMP. All data are presented as mean ± SEM. (* $p \le 0.05$ vs untreated cells) (# $p \le 0.05$; ## $p \le 0.01$ vs CB).



Supplementary Figure S4: Effects of pro-inflammatory factors alone on CFU-C growth of CD34+ cells from $JAK2^{V617F}$ and CALR mutated patients. (A) When CFU-C growth of CD34+ cells from $JAK2^{V617F}$ (n = 10) and CALR (n = 6) mutated patients was assessed in the presence of factors alone, no differences were observed between CB samples and between the two mutated groups. (B) Colony composition analysis demonstrated that only IL-1 β enhanced the erythroid compartment of the $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutated group.



Supplementary Figure S5: CFU-MK growth according to mutation status. CFU-MK growth from $JAK2^{V617F}$ (n = 6) and CALR (n = 4) mutated patients was significantly inhibited by TNF- α as compared with CB counterparts. By contrast, IL-1 β and IL1 β + TNF- α stimulated the CFU-MK growth of $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutated patients (* $p \le 0.05$ vs untreated cells) (# $p \le 0.05$; ## $p \le 0.01$ $JAK2^{V617F}$ /CALR mutated patients vs CB).



Supplementary Figure S6: Various combinations of pro-inflammatory factors significantly promote migration of MF- derived CD34+ cells. When migration toward multiple combinations of factors + CXCL12 was analyzed, the migration ability of MF- derived (n = 15), but not CB-derived (n = 8), CD34+ cells was signi cantly increased. ($*p \le 0.05$; $**p \le 0.01$ vs spontaneous migration) ($\#p \le 0.05$; $\#p \le 0.01$ vs CB). Results are expressed as mean percentages ± SEM of input.



Supplementary Figure S7: CFU-C post-migration assay according to mutation status. The clonogenic potential of CD34+ cells from $JAK2^{V617F}$ (n = 8)/CALR (n = 6) mutated patients after migration toward CXCL12 alone or various combinations of pro- inflammatory factors + CXCL12 (CFU-C post-migration) is shown. After migration toward various combinations of pro-inflammatory factors, only the $JAK2^{V617F}$ -derived CD34+ cells show significantly increased clonogenic potential. Results are expressed as mean fold change of CFU-C ± SEM. (* $p \le 0.05$ vs spontaneous migration) (## $p \le 0.01$ JAK2^{V617F} vs CALR mutated patients).

Supplementary Table S1: The following MoAbs were used to phenotypically characterize the

MF- and CB-derived cells

- anti-CD34 (clone 8G12)
- anti-CD38 (clone HIT2)
- anti-CD47 (clone B6H12)
- anti-CD45 (clone HI30)
- anti-CD184 (CXCR4; clone 12G5)
- anti-CD49d (clone 9F10)
- anti-CD44 (clone G44-26)
- anti-CD41a (clone HIP8)

All from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA USA)

• anti-CD63 (TIMP-1 receptor; clone H5C6) from eBioscience (San Diego, CA USA),

• anti-CD133 (clone AC133) (Miltenyi Biotech, Bologna, Italy).

Negative controls were isotype-matched irrelevant MoAbs (BD Biosciences and Miltenyi Biotech).

RESULT V

Ongoing study, preliminary results

INTRODUCTION

Molecular routine diagnostics for Ph-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) is currently focused on mutations in *JAK2*, *CALR* and *MPL*. In addition to those three driver mutations, alterations in additional genes, i.e. *ASXL1*, *EZH2*, *IDH1*, *IDH2* and *SRSF2*, have been described, and have shown correlation with worse prognosis in PMF¹. Interestingly, the presence of mutations in two or more of these five genes predicts the worst survival². Furthermore, mutations in *TP53* and *TET2* also correlate with worse prognosis and an increased risk of leukemic transformation³.

With an increasing number of molecular markers the need for clinical assays based on massively parallel next-generation sequencing (NGS) methods rises. These methods allow for a fast, sensitive, and cost-efficient high-throughput screening of genomic aberrations and their application has already fundamentally improved our understanding of how genetic alterations affect health and disease. Indeed, beyond additional diagnostic markers, NGS provides quantitative information on sequence abnormalities, which can be used to estimate the clone size and thus allows to identify potential driver mutations in a given patient. Also, NGS enables the detection of clonal evolution over the course of the disease or during treatment. Finally, by identifying multiple mutations and even low-level mutations, NGS has revealed potential prognostic impact of various mutations⁴⁻⁹.

In a clinical molecular diagnostic laboratory, multigene screening with conventional platforms proves challenging due to the need for relatively large amounts of DNA to assess one gene at a time and the coordination of the several results into an integrated report. For this reason, NGS technologies are highly relevant for diagnostic purposes as alternatives to first-generation sequencing techniques. However, inclusion of NGS technologies into the diagnostic routine has been delayed due to the lack of adequate guidelines and rigorous validation. In particular, valid cutoff values are needed when describing infrequent mutations.
Today, the use gene panels is becoming more widespread, for a comprehensive characterization of patients at diagnosis. This could allow to better stratify patients into subgroups with different diagnostic and prognostic risk, in order to identify the best therapeutic strategy (personalized theraphy approach).

The aim of the present work was to identify a NGS assay that would provide accurate molecular characterization of myeloid malignancies, including MPN, for future personalized diagnosis and treatment approaches. Therefore, three different gene panels were tested and their technical performance was evaluated by various validation experiments.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Primary cell samples

Samples from 113 patients with myeloid malignancies (76 AML, 13 secondary AML, 19 MPN, 2 CML and 3 atypical CML), were used for sequencing. Peripheral blood (PB) or bone marrow (BM) samples were taken from the patients at diagnosis (107 samples), at the time of relapse (14 samples) or during follow-up (4 samples) for a total of 125 samples. The PB from 4 healthy donors were also sequenced to detect germline variants. Blood cells were isolated by stratification on Ficoll-Hypaque gradient and were stored at -20°C until further use. The study was approved by the local ethics committee and written consent was obtained from all patients before sample analysis.

Sequencing gene panels

Three different gene panels were evaluated in this study: TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina), Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia Genetics) and AML NGS Diagnostic Custom Panel (Thermo Fisher). The TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina) consists of 568 amplicons, covering 54 target genes which is associated with different haematological disorders (such as Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML), Myelodysplastic Syndromes (MDS), Philadelphia- negative Chronic Myeloproliferative Neoplasms (MPN), Chronic Myelomonocytic Leukemia (CMML) and Juvenile Myelomonocytic Leukemia (JMML)). Of the 54 genes, 15 are fully sequenced while the remaining 39 are covered only at the "hotspot" regions (Table 1).

ABL1	СЕВРА	HRAS	MYD88	SF3B1
ASXL1	CSF3R	IDH1	NOTCH1	SMC1A
ATRX	CUX1	IDH2	NPM1	SMC3
BCOR	DNMT3A	IKZF1	NRAS	SRSF2
BCORL1	ETV6/TEL	JAK2	PDGFRA	STAG2
BRAF	EZH2	JAK3	PHF6	TET2
CALR	FBXW7	KDM6A	PTEN	TP53
CBL	FLT3	кіт	PTPN11	U2AF1
CBLB	GATA1	KRAS	RAD21	WT1
CBLC	GATA2	MLL	RUNX1	ZRSR2
CDKN2A	GNAS	MPL	SETBP1	

Table 1. List of the 54 genes covered by TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina). In red are signed the fully sequenced genes.

The Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia Genetics) covers the coding regions of 30 genes associated to Myelodysplastic Syndromes (MDS), Philadelphia- negative Chronic Myeloproliferative Neoplasms (MPN) and Acute Myeloid Leukemia. Only 10, out of 30, genes are fully covered (Table 2).

ABL1	ASXL1	BRAF	CALR	CBL	CEBPa
CSF3R	DNMT3A	ETV6	EZH2	FLT3	HRAS
IDH1	IDH2	JAK2	KIT	KRAS	MPL
NPM1	NRAS	PTPN11	RUNX1	SETBP1	SF3B1
SRSF2	TET2	ТР53	U2AF1	WT1	ZRSR2

Table 2. List of the 30 genes covered by Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia Genetics). In red are signed the fully sequenced genes.

Finally, the AML NGS Diagnostic Custom Panel (Thermo Fisher) The panel consists of 22 genes, of which only 6 (*CEBPA*, *DNMT3A*, *EZH2*, *KDM6A*, *RUNX1* and *SETD2*) fully sequenced (Table 3). Unlike the previous two panels, this one allows to analyze simultaneously 2 pools: one of DNA and one of RNA (the latter for the research of fusion genes).

CBL	EZH2	HRAS	NRAS	RUNX1	WT1
CEBPa	FLT3	IDH1	KRAS	SETD2	PPM1D/WIP1
С-КІТ	GATA1	IDH2	MLL	TET2	
DNMT3A	GATA2	KDM6A	NPM1	TP53	

Table 3. List of the 22 genes covered by AML NGS Diagnostic Custom Panel (Thermo Fisher). In red are signed the fully sequenced genes.

TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina) and Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia Genetics) were run on the Illumina platform (MiSeq) whereas AML NGS Diagnostic Custom Panel (Thermo Fisher) was run on Ion Torrent S5 platform (ThermoFisher).

Variant calling and data analysis

Human genome build 19 (hg19) was used as reference for all the three panels. Alignment to the hg19 genome and variant calling was performed by Variant Studio 2.0, Sophia DDM and Torrent Variant Caller, respectively. Run parameters and data output from each run were obtained and compared against specifications outlined by the manufacturer. Panel performance characteristics were assessed and genomic regions requiring additional analysis or wet-bench approaches identified. A sequencing coverage of 500X and a minimum variant frequency of 5% in the background of wild type were established as cut-offs for clinical reporting. As consequence, the identified variants were filtered for the minimum recommended coverage (> 500X) and for their frequency in the European population (<1%, according to the definition of non-polymorphic variant).

Subsequently, variants were further filtered for a Variant Frequency (VF, %), i.e. the ratio between the number of mutated reads and the number of wild-type reads, of 5 (cut-off for clinical reporting, as already mentioned above), 10 and 25 (which is the sensitivity of Sanger sequencing) %. Finally, a filter for all the sinonimous, intronic, intergenic or UTR regions-mapped variants (thus potentially non-pathogenic) has been apply. Analytical validation was performed by comparison with pre-derived diagnostic data.

RESULTS

With regard to the TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina), more than 95% of target regions were covered with depth greater than 500X, as guaranteed by manufcturer. The medium number of nucleotide variants (nVNT) per patient, filtered only for 500X minimum coverage and for non-polymorfic variants, was 21.94, 6.86 and 3.89 with a VF of 5, 10 and 25%, respectively. By adding the filter for all non-pathogenic variants, nVNT decreas to 9.66, 3.74 and 2.16. These results show that for almost all covered genes, the majority of variants are present with a VF <25%. This means that in the diagnostic routine, we are not able to identify a good percentage of most alterations with traditional methods. This concept is clearly visible in Figure 1. Moreover, we invastigated on which genes were the most mutated in our population, also distinguishing by type of disease. The results of this analysis are shown in Figure 2.

Notably, some genes, such as *TET2*, *MPL* and *ASXL1*, have been found mutated with a frequency higher than described in literature. On the contrary, *JAK2* resulted mutated in a lower percentage of patients and this is maybe due to the low number of MPN samples in our cohort. More interenstingly, no mutations have been found in 8 out of 54 genes of the Illumina Panel (i.e. *CALR, CBLB, GATA1, HRAS, FBXW7, CDKN2A, GNAS* and *CBLC*). Therefore, we decided to perform a coverage analysis for each probe of the panel, to define if the absence of mutations in these genes could be ascribed to a low (< 500X) depth of sequencing or to a systematic error in variant calling process. The resulting data demonstarted that only *CALR, CBLB, GATA1* and *HRAS* have a poor coverage (Figure 3). Similarly, also *CEBPA* showed a poor coverage: indeed, a large proportion (5 of 6 amplicons) covering the clinically actionable CEBPA gene did not meet a minimum depth of coverage of 500X.

148



Figure 1. Schematic representation of number of variants per gene of the TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina). For each gene, variants have been distributed for variant frequency (VF, %) at 5, 10 and 25%.



Figure 2. Graphical representation of the genes most frequently mutated in patients diagnosed with **(2a)** Ph-negative chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) and **(2b)** with other myeloproliferative disorders.

.



Figure 3. Boxplot of coverage data for each probe, grouped by gene. Coverage analysis has highlighted a low depth of sequencing of *CALR, GATA1, CBLB, HRAS* and *CEBPA* genes. Blu line represent the cut-off value of minimum recommended coverage (500X).

Based on these results, we decided to test the Genetics Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia) in order to identify a gene panel with a better performance. A total of 16 samples (5 at diagnosis, 7 relapses and 4 follow-up) of patients with myeloid disease have been sequenced. Panel performance characteristic were similar to Illumina panel. In this case, the medium number of nucleotide variants (nVNT) per patient, filtered only for 500X minimum coverage and for non-polymorfic variants, was 11.62, 8.5, 7.2 with a VF of 5, 10 and 25%, respectively. As already described for Illumina gene panel, nVNT decreas to 3.43, 3.17 and 2.45 by adding the filter for all non-pathogenic variants. Also in this case, the variants of each gene have been subdivided according to their frequency, resulting in a different profile from the previous one: indeed, the majority of variants have been detected with a VF >25% (Figure 4). Finally, data of mean coverage per target region, extraxted from "Sophia QA" report file, has been plotted (Figure 5) keeping into account only genes with a coverage lower than guaranted from manufacturer (1000X). Overall, the Genetics Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia) showed a better coverage than TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina) except for CEPBA.



Figure 4. Schematic representation of number of variants per gene of the Genetics Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia). For each gene, variants have been distributed for variant frequency (VF, %) at 5, 10 and 25%.



Figure 5. Representation of coverage data for each probe, grouped by gene. Coverage analysis has highlighted a low depth of sequencing of *CEBPA* gene. Blu line represent the cut-off value of minimum recommended coverage (500X).

However, these are preliminary data that need to be validated in a larger cohort, as well as the ones derived from AML NGS Diagnostic Custom Panel (Thermo Fisher). This latter gene panel has been recently acquired and, therefore, very few samples have been sequenced by using it. However, from an initial analysis, some genes (CEBPA above all) resulted to be poor covered.

CONCLUSIONS

Others have previously reported on the validation of custom NGS panels for hematologic malignancies¹⁰⁻¹⁷. These studies have shown the range of application of NGS in the context of molecular diagnostics for hematologic malignancies.

Here we report on preliminary results of the evaluation of the analytical performances of three different gene panels: TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina), Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia Genetics) and AML NGS Diagnostic Custom Panel (Thermo Fisher).

Our study demonstrated that both the TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina) and Genetics Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia) performed well across different myeloid malignancies,

covering more than 95% of target regions with depth greater than 500X. Moreover, they showed a high sensitivity, allowing to identify gene variants with very low mutation burden (<1%) in all tested patients. However, it remains to clarify how discriminate between relevant and irrelevant mutations as well as the precise pathogenetic and phenotypic role of the identified alterations.

Notably, a comprehensive validation approach needs to establish both test performance characteristics and test limitations. This approach allows for the appropriate application of the test to routine diagnostic conditions. Although both the TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina) and Genetics Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia) showed an overall high analytical performance, covering analysis revealed a low (< 500X) depth of sequencing in some recurrent genes, i.e. *CALR*, *GATA1*, *CBLCB*, *HRAS* and *CEBPA*. Evaluating the ability of gene panels to detect large insertions or deletions (such as in *CALR*) or variations in regions with high GC content (such as in *CEBPA*) may enable an assessment of whether alternative approaches to improve sequence coverage are needed. More interestingly, on the other hands, the use of multiple bioinformatics approaches may allow for maximizing variant calling. Indeed, given the large amount of data generated by a NGS approach, the improvement of informatics tools is mandatory.

In conclusion, the identification of factors contributing to disease initiation and progression, as well as the respective influence on the clinical disease course is needed to optimize the diagnosis, prognostic scoring and therapeutic approaches. Therefore, with improved turnaround time, decreasing costs, and an expanding knowledge of the therapeutic and prognostic significance of the detected variants, NGS-based panel testing is likely to play a major role in the management of patients with myeloid malignancies. However, some efforts are necessary to identify the most suitable approach in order to translate it into diagnostic process. Interestingly, setting of bioinformatics tools may simply the interpretatiosn of results.

154

REFERENCES

- Vannucchi AM, Lasho TL, Guglielmelli P, Biamonte F, Pardanani A, Pereira A, Finke C, Score J, Gangat N, Mannarelli C, Ketterling RP, Rotunno G, Knudson RA, Susini MC, Laborde RR, Spolverini A, Pancrazzi A, Pieri L, Manfredini R, Tagliafico E, Zini R, Jones A, Zoi K, Reiter A, Duncombe A, Pietra D, Rumi E, Cervantes F, Barosi G, Cazzola M, Cross NC, Tefferi A. Mutations and prognosis in primary myelofibrosis. Leukemia. 2013 Sep;27(9):1861-9.
- Guglielmelli P, Lasho TL, Rotunno G, Score J, Mannarelli C, Pancrazzi A, Biamonte F, Pardanani A, Zoi K, Reiter A, Duncombe A, Fanelli T, Pietra D, Rumi E, Finke C, Gangat N, Ketterling RP, Knudson RA, Hanson CA, Bosi A, Pereira A, Manfredini R, Cervantes F, Barosi G, Cazzola M, Cross NC, Vannucchi AM, Tefferi A. The number of prognostically detrimental mutations and prognosis in primary myelofibrosis: an international study of 797 patients. Leukemia. 2014 Sep;28(9):1804-10.
- Lundberg P, Karow A, Nienhold R, Looser R, Hao-Shen H, Nissen I, Girsberger S, Lehmann T, Passweg J, Stern M, Beisel C, Kralovics R, Skoda RC. Clonal evolution and clinical correlates of somatic mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2014 Apr 3;123(14):2220-8.
- Kirschner MM, Schemionek M, Schubert C, Chatain N, Sontag S, Isfort S, Ortiz-Brüchle N, Schmitt K, Krüger L, Zerres K, Zenke M, Brümmendorf TH, Koschmieder S. Dissecting Genomic Aberrations in Myeloproliferative Neoplasms by Multiplex-PCR and Next Generation Sequencing. PLoS One. 2015 Apr 20;10(4):e0123476.
- Bartels S, Schipper E, Hasemeier B, Kreipe H, Lehmann U. Routine clinical mutation profiling using next generation sequencing and a customized gene panel improves diagnostic precision in myeloid neoplasms. Oncotarget. 2016; 7(21):30084–30093.
- Shen W, Szankasi P, Sederberg M, et al. Concurrent detection of targeted copy number variants and mutations using a myeloid malignancy next generation sequencing panel allows comprehensive genetic analysis using a single testing strategy. Br J Haematol. 2016;173(1):49–58.
- Soverini S, De Benedittis C, Machova Polakova K, Brouckova A, Horner D, Iacono M, et al. Unraveling the complexity of tyrosine kinase inhibitor-resistant populations by ultra-deep sequencing of the BCR-ABL kinase domain. Blood 2013;122:1634–48.

155

- Guglielmelli P, Biamonte F, Rotunno G, Artusi V, Artuso L, Bernardis I, et al. Impact of mutational status on outcomes in myelofibrosis patients treated with ruxolitinib in the COMFORT-II study. Blood [Internet]. 2014;123:2157–60.
- 9. Schwaab J, Schnittger S, Sotlar K, Walz C, Fabarius A, Pfirrmann M, et al. Comprehensive mutational profiling in advanced systemic mastocytosis. Blood. 2013;122:2460–6.
- 10. Luthra R, Patel KP, Reddy NG, Haghshenas V, Routbort MJ, Harmon MA, Barkoh BA, Kanagal-Shamanna R, Ravandi F, Cortes JE, Kantarjian HM, Medeiros LJ, Singh RR. Next-generation sequencing-based multigene mutational screening for acute myeloid leukemia using MiSeq: applicability for diagnostics and disease monitoring. Haematologica. 2014 Mar;99(3):465-73.
- 11. Loyo M, Li RJ, Bettegowda C, Pickering CR, Frederick MJ, Myers JN, et al. Lessons learned from next-generation sequencing in head and neck cancer. Head Neck. 2013;35 (3):454–63.
- 12. Kanagal-Shamanna R, Singh RR, Routbort MJ, Patel KP, Medeiros LJ, Luthra R. Principles of analytical validation of next-generation sequencing based mutational analysis for hematologic neoplasms in a CLIA-certified laboratory. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2016;16(4):461–472.
- 13. McKerrell T, Moreno T, Ponstingl H, et al. Development and validation of a comprehensive genomic diagnostic tool for myeloid malignancies. Blood. 2016; 128(1):e1–e9.
- 14. Liu L, Li Y, Li S, Hu N, He Y, Pong R, et al. Comparison of next-generation sequencing systems. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2012;2012: 251364.
- 15. Loman NJ, Misra RV, Dallman TJ, Constantinidou C, Gharbia SE, Wain J, et al. Performance comparison of benchtop high-throughput sequencing platforms. Nat Biotechnol. 2012;30(5):434–9.
- 16. Quail MA, Smith M, Coupland P, Otto TD, Harris SR, Connor TR, et al. A tale of three next generation sequencing platforms: comparison of Ion Torrent, Pacific Biosciences and Illumina MiSeq sequencers. BMC Genomics. 2012;13:341.
- 17. Singh RR, Patel KP, Routbort MJ, Reddy NG, Barkoh BA, Handal B, et al. Clinical validation of a next-generation sequencing screen for mutational hotspots in 46 cancer-related genes. J Mol Diagn. 2013;15(5):607–22.

CONCLUSIONS

The overall aim of this study was the molecular characterization of MPN patients, and the study of interactions between malignant hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell (HSC/PC) and the inflammatory cell micro-environment.

- ✓ Mutational status and outcome of young (≤ 40 years old) ET and early-PMF patients have never been investigated. The comparison between the two groups of patients showed that mutation frequency were 61% for JAK2^{V617F}, 25% for CALR and 1% for MPLW515K, and were comparable across WHO diagnosis; however, JAK2^{V617F} allele burden was higher in the early-PMF group. Compared with JAK2^{V617F}-positive patients, CALR-mutated patients presented lower thrombotic risk (9.1% versus 21.7%, P = 0.04), longer survival (100% vs 96%, P = 0.05) and better combined-EFS (86% vs 71%, P = 0.02). Interestingly, non-type 1/type 2 CALR mutations ('minor' mutations) and abnormal karyotype were found to correlate with increased risk of disease evolution. The assessment of the molecular status is of utmost importance in these cohorts of patients, as both thrombosis and survival were significantly influenced by mutation type and burden.
- ✓ The determination of the mutation load is becoming a standard diagnostic procedure in most molecular laboratories, though WHO criteria do not specify a cut-off value for the diagnosis of a MPN. Our results highlight that the detection of a *JAK2*^{v617F} mutation at low levels (0.1-3%) is difficult to be interpreted in everyday clinical practice, since not all positive patients received a hematological diagnosis. However, all patients with an AB ≥0.8% finally received a diagnosis of MPN; therefore, a mutation load above this cut-off may be considered very indicative for the presence of a myeloproliferative disease. Additionally, the study identified the prospective evaluation of *JAK2*^{v617F} mutation load as a convenient and non-invasive method to evaluate patients with small mutated clones in order to timely detect the expansion of clonal hematopoiesis and diagnose a full blown disease.

- ✓ In the context of highly sensitive allele-specific assays and low mutant AB in the peripheral blood, the standardization of molecular techniques is urgently needed. We demonstrated that a qualitative approach is not sensitive enough to detect *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation at low mutation burden (i.e. < 1%). Conversely, the quantitative approach proved to be highly efficient and sensitive, although a modest variability was observed between all participating centers. Interestingly, between all tested *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation detection assays, only the qualitative ARMS-PCR methods (both "in-house" and ipsogen *JAK2* MutaSearch kit) and the quantitative approach (ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit) were able to detect the positivity of samples with an AB of 1%, with an acceptable variability observed at this AB. With regard to samples with AB >1%, both qualitative and quantitative methods allow to detect mutation burden with a lower inter-laboratory variability. Overall, the quantitative ipsogen *JAK2* MutaQuant kit assay performed consistently across different platforms, affirming itself as a robust method to obtain comparable results. This study sets the basis for the standardization of molecular techniques.
- ✓ The *in vitro* interplay between various pro-inflammatory cytokines, which are abnormally increased, promotes and selects the circulating MF-derived HSPCs. Interestingly, we found that IL-1 β and TIMP1 (in addition to TNF- α) confer a survival advantage of MF-derived HSPCs, enhancing their proliferation and *in vitro* migration. Additionally, after migration toward IL-1 β + TNF- α (± TIMP-1), MF-derived CD34+ cells show increased clonogenic ability. Therefore, the increased number of HSPCs in the peripheral blood of MF may be due not only to the displacement of HSPCs from bone marrow into peripheral blood, but also to the proliferative/survival signals coming from the pro-inflammatory factors within the peripheral blood niche. As a consequence, the pro-inflammatory microenvironment emerges as central site for cell division and proliferation. Thus, it is likely that the *in vivo* inflammatory niche plays a key role in the maintenance of the malignant hemopoietic clone. Targeting these inflammatory micro-environmental interactions may be a clinically relevant approach for MF.

Althought NGS technologies proved to be highly efficient for diagnostic purposes, no adequate guidelines and rigorous validation have been done. Our preliminary date suggested that both the TruSight Myeloid Sequencing Panel (Illumina) and Genetics Myeloid Solution Panel (Sophia) performed well across different myeloid malignancies, covering more than 95% of target regions with depth greater than 500X. Moreover, they showed a high sensitivity, allowing to identify gene variants with very low mutation burden (<1%) in all tested patients. However, it remains to clarify how discriminate between relevant and irrelevant mutations as well as the precise pathogenetic and phenotypic role of the identified alterations. Interestingly, some recurrent genes (i.e. CALR, GATA1, CBLCB, HRAS and CEBPA) showed a lower depth of sequencing, requiring an alternative molecular approach. Alternatively, the optimization of bioinformatics tools could be utmost important to facilitate variant calling process and data interpretation.</p>

In conclusion, our study allows to better characterize MPN patients on a molecular level and from the point of view of the inflammation. Of note, we set the basis for the standardization of molecular techniques and for the validation of a robust NGS approach to be transferred into a diagnostic setting. An investigation on a larger cohort of patients might be useful to strengthen our data and to better stratify patients at diagnosis, in order to improve clinical outcome as well as to identify new potential molecular therapeutic targets for personalized therapies.

On the other hand, we identify IL-1 β and TIMP-1 as novel promoting factors of the *in vitro* maintenance of MF-derived HSPC. These results elucidate the mechanism of maintenance of the malignant hemopoietic clone and identified two molecular biomarkers that may be exploited as potential targets of therapy. The investigation on patients treated with ruxolitinib will allow to shed light into the effect of the therapy on the mutational status and the inflammatory microenvironment.